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“NEUROMETRIX”, “NC-STAT", “onCall”, “ADVANCE” and “ NC-stat DPNCHECK” are the subject of either a tradek registration or
application for registration in the United Stat@her brands, names and trademarks containedsititiual Report on Form 10-K are the
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PART |

The statements contained in this Annual ReportamFL0-K, including under the section titled “Maeagent’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsd ather sections of this Annual Report, includevird-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 398 amended, and Section 21E of the SecuritieldEge Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act, including, without limitationatgments regarding our or our management’s expatsathopes, beliefs, intentions or
strategies regarding the future, such as our ewsmagarding anticipated operating losses, fuiwenues and projected expenses ; our
liquidity and our expectations regarding our nefedsnd ability to raise additional capital; ouildt to manage our expenses effectively and
raise the funds needed to continue our busines$iadief that there are unmet needs in the diagrensil treatment of diabetic neuropathy and
our expectations surrounding NC-stat DPNCheck;ptams to develop and commercialize our productssticcess and timing of our studies;
our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory apgioof our existing products and any future prodweé may develop; regulatory and
legislative developments in the United States amelin countries; the performance of our third4pananufacturers; our ability to obtain and
maintain intellectual property protection for oungucts; the successful development of our saldsrvaarketing capabilities; the size and
growth of the potential markets for our productd anr ability to serve those markets; the ratedagtee of market acceptance of any future
products; our reliance on key scientific managenoemtersonnel; the reimbursement methods usedibgtpror governmental third-party
payers; and other factors discussed elsewherdsidtinual Report on Form 10-K or any document ipcoated by reference herein or
therein. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimte,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,’plan” and similar expressions may
identify forward-looking statements, but the abseatthese words does not mean that a statemeat ferward-looking. The forward-
looking statements contained in this annual repatbased on our current expectations and belefsecning future developments and their
potential effects on us. There can be no assutthiatéuture developments affecting us will be ththed we have anticipated. These forward-
looking statements involve a number of risks, utapties (some of which are beyond our controlpthier assumptions that may cause actual
results or performance to be materially differenthf those expressed or implied by these forwar#i@pstatements. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, #hémctors described in the section titled “RisktBesz” Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should any of ouuagstions prove incorrect, actual results may veoyfthose projected in these forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationpdate or revise any forward-looking statements,tivdreas a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as may be redwinder applicable securities laws. Unless théegbotherwise requires, all references to
“ us”, the “Company”, or “NeuroMetrix” in thi?Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to NeuroMetrixg |

we”,
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business-An Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thendgg and treatment of the neurological complicetiof diabetes. People with
diabetes do not effectively regulate their bloagcgke, or sugar, levels leading to chronically Hegtels of glucose in the blood, called
hyperglycemia, and occasionally bouts of low glécwsthe blood, called hypoglycemia. The primags@n that glucose levels are not
effectively regulated in people with diabetes istttihose with the disease do not produce insulyp€T diabetes) or are resistant to the noi
physiological action of insulin (Type Il diabeteB)any Type Il diabetics eventually require insub@cause production of the hormone by 1
pancreas decreases with time. Type | diabeteslyafédcts children and teenagers whereas Typ@betes has typically been a disease of
adults over the age of 50. However, over the pasade, Type Il diabetes is occurring in youngettadwhich can probably be attributed to
higher levels of obesity in this age group.

Diabetes is a worldwide epidemic. Recent studiémase the worldwide prevalence of diabetes tover 850 million people, of which
approximately 90% of such population is of the TYipeariety. Within the United States, there aren25 million people with diabetes and
another 80 million people with pre-diabetes, whiepresents a constellation of conditions such asigband high triglyceride levels that are
likely to progress to diabetes. In the United Statéhe annual cost of treating diabetes is ove0$illio n. Although there are dangerous
acute manifestations of diabetes, the primary bunlehe disease is in the long term complicatiohshronic high blood sugar, or
hyperglycemia. These complications include amohgithings cardiovascular disease, nerve diseabsesanlting pathological conditions
such as foot ulcers and amputation, eye diseadfeto blindness, and kidney failure.

The most common longterm complication of diabetes, which affects ov@¥®of the diabetic population , is nerve diseasdiabetic
neuropathy. There are different forms of diabe&ianopathy; the most common are diabetic peripheratopathy , or DPN, carpal tunnel
syndrome , or CTS, and autonomic neuropathy. DPiNsigstemic nerve disease that is worse in theafesttower legs. It may lead to loss of
sensation in the feet, severe pain in the feelegs and increased risk of falling. DPN is therty trigger for diabetic foot ulcers which
may progress to the point where amputation is requiPeople with diabetes have a 15% to 25% lifetiisk of developing a foot ulcer and
15% of foot ulcers lead to amputation. Foot ul@esamong the most expensive complications of tikabevith a typical cost of $5,000 to
$50,000 per episode. CTS is caused by focal daheeaiipe median nerve as it passes from the foreatworthe hand, through the wrist. When
the median nerve is compressed it can lead to ymgpin the hand including pain, numbness, anddbstrength. Autonomic neuropathyas
systemic disease of the autonomic nerves, whichlaggythe heart, digestion, sexual function, ameéioéssential bodily functions. Damage to
these nerves leads to a host of clinical compbcatithat include an increased risk of sudden dedgfiated risk of stroke, digestion difficult
and impotence.




Most people with diabetes receive health care titein primary care settings where physicians Ham#ed access to sophisticated
diagnostic tools to detect diabetic neuropathyyeamd monitor its progress and response to tredtrAsm result, they rely primarily on
clinical examination of patients, which althouglisian important part of the evaluation of a patieith diabetes, has limited sensitivity and
specificity and can usually only detect later stdigease where treatment options and efficacy @reoomised.

Early detection of DPN is particularly importantchese there are no treatment options once the s\baxe degenerated. At the present
time, the most widely used and recommended diagnasithod for DPN is the 5.07/10-g monofilament.t@his test assesses the patient’s
ability to detect focal pressure application in fbet. The inability to detect a monofilament inalies that the patient lacks adequate sensatior
to protect their feet from mechanical insults tbe lead to foot ulcers; a condition known as lfgsrotection sensation, or LOPS. Although
the monofilament is an important clinical tesisitnsensitive to early DPN where interventions by or even halt further nerve damage.
Nerve conduction studi¢, or NCS , are objective electrical tests of ndurection. They are widely considered the gold staddliagnostic
method for DPN and can even detect mild nerve darbafpre it is expressed as clinical symptoms. K&& typically been provided by
specialists using expensive equipment and theraftress has been limited, particularly for commamditions such as DPN.

Currently, there are limited treatment optionsdi@mbetic neuropathies. There are no approved diseaslifying treatments for DPN,
although a few pharmacological candidates areiiicell trials. Several large studies have show tbducing hyperglycemia lowers the risk
of developing DPN and decreases its severity. Tisegiso observational data that suggests thatties in triglyceride levels slows the
progression of DPN. Several drugs, such as duloxegiabepentin, and pregabalin, have been apptovesht the pain associated with DPN,
which is referred to as painful diabetic neuropatbgfortunately, these drugs, which are also aefirdssants or anti-seizure medications,
have systemic effects and are therefore often &sdowith intolerable side effects. Like DPN, angmic neuropathies are difficult to
manage, however early identification may allow ptigss to lower cardiovascular risk. Mild to moder&TS is effectively treated with
conservative measures such as splinting and ltexalid injections. More advanced CTS is usually awged surgically. In either case, it is
essential to intervene before extensive nerve dggéon has occurred.

Our Strategy

We believe that there are large and important umeetls in both the diagnosis and treatment of t@beuropathies. As a medical
device company with both unique and substantiakggpce in devices to measure and alter peripherak function, we believe we are in
unique position to address these unmet needs thritiegdevelopment of novel proprietary medical desi Therefore, we are focused on
developing and marketing medical devices for tlagosis and treatment of diabetic neuropathiesb&lieve that we are the only medical
device company with a strategic focus on the dialveturopathy vertical market and our goal is tdieedominant player in this field.

Our key business strategies by which we intenddetrour objectives in diabetic neuropathy include:

Drive Adoption of NC-stat DPNCheck, Our Initial Product for Diabetic Neuropathy, in the United States. NC-stat DPNCheck was
launched in September 2011. Our initial target regik endocrinologists and podiatrists in the Uhi&tates. We believe that this market
represents approximately 15,000 physicians whaoiasged as leaders in the detection and manageni®®N. We initiated sales into this
market through a direct, specialty sales force wehired, trained and deployed during the thirdrépr of 2011.

Over 100,000 primary care physicians provide florg-care to approximately 85% of people with diaisén the United States. We
believe this is the most attractive sector of titédl States market for NC-stat DPNCheck. Due ¢osike of the market and the large number
of potential call points, we believe that the meff¢ctive sales approach is through national angfgional third party distributors. Our
strategy is to first establish product credibilitythe endocrinology/podiatry market before negot@garrangements with distributors to
address the United States primary care market.

We believe that there may be an opportunity tol$€listat DPNCheck for use in retail medical clirscgh as those in chain drug stores
and department store pharmacies. There are appaitedyn,200 retail medical clinics in the Unitedut®t, a number growing at a double digit
rate.




We believe that corporate accounts, including madagre organizations, companies that self-inqweédtalth care risks of their
employee populations, and governmental entitieeesgmt an attractive opportunity because of tloeging on prevention and on health care
costs over long durations. We plan to hire interadés resources to market NC-stat DPNCheck djrezthese corporate accounts.

Commercialize NC-stat DPNCheck in Select I nternational Markets Using a Distribution Network. We have gained some experience in
international markets with our ADVANCE System, whis currently used in the United Kingdom, Netheda and India, among other
countries, and which we sell through a distributi@twork. While international markets are a secong@dority at present, we believe we can
leverage our distribution network to either sell4§@t DPNCheck or to help us identify more appaterdistributors.

Expand Our Diabetic Neuropathy Productsin the Near Term to Include SENSUS, a Pain Therapy Device. We are developing
SENSUS, a pain therapy device which is a transeatas) electrical nerve stimulator designed spedifiéar use in treating painful diabetic
neuropathy. We believe that our unique expertiggeiipheral nerve stimulation will expedite proddevelopment resulting in a product that
is attractive to endocrinologists, podiatrists, anithary care physicians that are challenged witimg) to manage pain in their patients with
diabetes.

Initiate Clinical Studiesto Further Validate the Clinical and Economic Benefits of Our Diabetes Products. We appointed a Chief
Medical Officer in September 2011 who is resporsfbl developing and managing our diabetes-relgiattal programs. These include
studies to further validate the clinical and ecoiwbenefits of NC-stat DPNCheck testing, and vasiolinical and research and development
activities in support of new diabetic neuropathgueed products, including SENSUS. This work shauttvide important support to our
commercialization efforts and our efforts to obttiind party reimbursement for physicians using puducts.

Obtain Coverage and Payment for NC-stat DPNCheck. While payers are not our direct customers, therecage and reimbursement
policies influence medical practice. W e believat tNC-stat DPNCheck is appropriately described utfteexisting Category | CPT Code
95905; however, we expect only limited third-pagimbursement for health care providers using theoa to detect and monitor diabetic
neuropathy. We believe that the low cost of testitith NC-stat DPNCheck combined with its clinicaility will result in the development of
an out-of-pocket payment model. We intend to itgtihe type of clinical studies that may lead tpamded third party coverage over time.

Manage Our Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business to Optimize Cash Flow. Our neurodiagnostics business currently accountsearly all
of our revenue. We restructured this portion oflousiness in January 2011 when we shifted ouregfi@focus toward more attractive
opportunities in diabetes care. Accordingly, thgaley business is managed for cash and not grovetit @our intention to continue to
carefully manage this business in order to optinteéuture cash contribution.

Our Business Model

We develop and market neurodiagnostic systems wiibally consist of a medical device plus singke biosensors or electrodes.
Other accessories are also offered to our custor@errsgoal for these systems is to build an insthliase of active customer accounts that
regularly reorder consumables to meet their clificactice needs. We successfully implementedrtfidel when we started our business®
the NC-stat System, applied it to subsequent proglererations and, more recently, to the ADVANCEt8y. The planning for our diabetes
care pipeline including NC-stat DPNCheck and prdslit development such as SENSUSbased on the device plus consumables business
model.

Marketed Products

NC-stat® DPNCheck™

NC-stat DPNCheck is a fast, accurate, and quantitativee conduction test that is used to evaluatesys neuropathies such as DP!
is designed to be used by primary care physiciemdocrinologists, podiatrists and other cliniciabghe point-of-care to objectively detect,
stage, and monitor DPN. The device measures nenguction velocity and response amplitude of thalsuwerve, a nerve in the lower leg
and ankle. These parameters are widely recognizedrsitive and specific biomarkers of DPN.

NC-stat DPNCheck is comprised of: (1) an electrdra@indheld device and (2) a single patient use biosems@ddition, we provide use
with PCbased software that links to the device via a USBnection. This PC software allows physicians toegate reports and manage tl
sural nerve conduction data.




NC-stat DPNCheck is a modified version of our poengly marketed NC-stat nerve testing device, asdiiia same clinical indications
with respect to DPN. The modified device has thmeséunctionality with respect to sural nerve tegtas the original device, however the ¢
of the electronic hand-held unit and the consumhblgsensors have been reduced by approximately 58&original NC-stat System was
launched in 1999, and new sales of the device dismontinued in the third quarter of 2010. It wiit be supported beyond the first quarte
2012. Nearly 1.7 million patient studies have bperiormed with the NC-stat technology, includingrig 700,000 sural nerve tests. It has
been the subject of many published studies, inotudeveral studies specifically addressing theracyuand clinical utility of the device in
assessment of DPN.

ADVANCE System

The ADVANCE NCS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE Systama comprehensive platform for the performanceatfitional nerve
conduction studies and invasive electromyograpbygeguures. The ADVANCE System is comprised of: @rfjaus types of electrodes and
needles, (2) the ADVANCE device and related modwdes (3) a communication hub that enables theipiayés office to network their
device to their personal computers and our sefeedata archiving, report generation, and othéwoek services. The ADVANCE System
most commonly used with proprietary nerve spedféctrode arrays. These electrode arrays combitphaundividual electrodes and
embedded microelectronic components into a singliept-use disposable unit. We currently markeesalifferent nerve specific electrode
arrays.

Historically, the ADVANCE System has been marketed broad range of physician specialties includiagrologists, orthopedic
surgeons, primary care physicians, and endocriigiygand utilized for a variety of different cliail indications including assessment of C
low back and leg pain, and DPN. It is most commaudgd in the assessment of CTS. Numerous papegshieawn published on the use of this
technology in this clinical application. With owdus on diabetic neuropathies, we intend to target sales of ADVANCE Systems for use
by endocrinologists and primary care physicians edaluate patients with diabetes and upper extyesginptoms suggestive of CTS.

Products in Development
SENSUS™

The SENSUS pain therapy device is a transcutangleagrical nerve stimulator, or TENS, designed gjpadly for use in treating painful
diabetic neuropathy, or PDN. A recent evidence daseiew by the American Academy of Neurology defieed that TENS was a useful
modality for managing this form of pain. TENS maguce pain in patients with PDN without significaitte effects and we believe that a
PDN-specific TENS device that is effective, easys$e and low cost could improve management of ipgiatients with PDN. We further
believe that currently available TENS devices dbmeet this need because they are not optimizeBEMN, but are instead targeted at low
back pain, sports medicine, and rehabilitation igpfibns. Furthermore, they are difficult to admter and tend to be complicated for
clinicians and patients.

We are using our unique expertise in peripheralestimulation to develop a PDN optimized TENS dewwith several proprietary
features that we believe will make it attractiveetwlocrinologists, podiatrists, and primary cargsatians that are challenged with trying to
manage pain in their patients with diabetes.

TENS devices are regulated as Class Il devicesemdre a 510(k) premarket notification prior tovaoercial distribution. When
medically indicated and supported by proper docuatem, TENS are generally reimbursed by Medicarg many commercial insurance
companies under the durable medical equipmentMiE benefit.

ADVANCE ™.CTS

We are currently exploring the market for a versibthe ADVANCE device dedicated to detection ofifi people with diabetes. The
second most common form of diabetic neuropathgdalfdamage to the median nerve, or CTS. We arerly investigating this market
opportunity by creating a “diabetes CTS” packagasgsting of the ADVANCE NCS/EMG device and the canetol median and ulnar nerve
specific electrode, both of which are commercialilable. If we determine that an attractive magkests for this clinical indication, then
we will invest in development of an easier to usé bwer cost version of the ADVANCE system dedichspecifically to detection of CTS
in diabetes. This effort will consist primarily ofodifying the device hardware and form factor wwéo costs and enhance
manufacturability. We also expect to simplify tludteare to eliminate support for non-CTS relatedctions. We believe that these
modifications will not require a new 510(k), undlee guidance issued by the Food and Drug Admirtistraor the FDA, on when new 5101
submissions are required for modified devices. H@rewe will make a final determination on whethefile a 510(k) when the engineering
work has been completed. We do not believe thaetiheodifications will alter the appropriatenessiting for studies performed with
ADVANCE CTS under CPT 95905 or the likelihood oftaining reimbursement from Medicare and other tpacty insurers.




The following chart summarizes our marketed proslactd products in development as of December 311,.20

No. Patients
Product Time on Market Technology Primary Clinical Indications Tested/Treated
NC-stat* Q2 1999 — Q3 2010 Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of CTS, low back nearly 1,700,000
pain, peripheral neuropathies (including DF
ADVANCE Q2 2008 - present Nerve Conductiot Diagnosis and evaluation of CTS, low back >103,000
Invasive Needle EMC( pain, peripheral neuropathies (including DF
NC-stat DPNCheck Q3 2011 - present Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of peripheral 1,000 - 3,000
neuropathies, such as DI
SENSUS Target Q4 2012 Transcutaneous  Relief for chronic, intractable pain, such as N/A
Electrical Nerve painful diabetic neuropathy
Stimulation
ADVANCE CTS Target Q4 201. Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of C N/A

* Support to be discontinued in the first quarte2012.
Customers

Our customers include physicians, clinics, and hakp As of December 31, 2011, we had an instdse of approximately 3,000 act
customers using our ADVANCE and NC-stat Systemgs€&lcustomers include primary care, internal medjorthopedic and hand
surgeons, pain medicine physicians, neurologistgsipal medicine and rehabilitation, or PM&R, pltyans, and neurosurgeons. Our NC-stat
DPNCheck device was launched into the endocrindpmgiatry market in the third quarter of 2011. Niogée customer accounted for more
than 10% of our revenues in 2011, 2010, or 2009.

Geographic Information

Substantially all of our assets, revenues, andresgeefor the years ended December 31, 2011, 26d@G09 were located at or derived
from operations in the United States. In additiwa,have had limited but growing sales through itistors in the United Kingdom, the
Netherlands, India, and various other countries.dach of the years ended December 31, 2011, 2002009, international revent
accounted for approximately 6%, 2%, and 2%, respadygt of our total revenues.

Sales, Marketing, and Distribution

NC-stat DPNCheck was launched in September 2014.irial target market is the United States endadogy/podiatry market. We
initiated sales into that market through a direpgcialty sales force that we hired, trained arpgdayed during the third quarter of 2011. This
specialty sales organization consists of a Salesciir and eight field sales representatives wheicthirty states selected on the basis of
diabetes population, number of endocrinologists@odiatrists, and income levels. Sales in the raingistates are covered by our team of
field-based clinical educators.

Our installed base of ADVANCE and NC-stat accountthe United States are supported by our cliréchicators which include a
Director of Clinical Education and nine field cliail educators. Our direct sales force which tadyetav accounts was discontinued in
January 2011 and we are not actively pursuing nBNVANCE customers. Interest expressed in new ADVANSyBtems by potential
customers is handled by our clinical educatorsamdmarketing department. Internationally, ADVANG&es and account support is han
by our network of independent distributors who directed by our European Sales Manager and ouif Cipierating Officer.

Our marketing support for N6tat DPNCheck and for ADVANCE is provided by ouc¥iPresident, Marketing, our Marketing Manai
Diabetes and two marketing staff.

We invest significant effort in technical, clinicaind business practices training for our saleardegtion, clinical educators, marketing
staff and independent sales representatives. Vdaedsiire attendance at periodic sales and prdrhining programs. Promotion and sales of
medical devices are highly regulated not only lyFIDA, but also by the Federal Trade Commission autside the United States, by other
international bodies, and are subject to federdlstate fraud and abuse enforcement activities.




Manufacturing and Supply

We rely on outside contractors for the manufacaume servicing of our products and their componerid,we do not currently maintain
alternative manufacturing sources for our NC-stBNCheck and ADVANCE devices, communication hubssénsors/electrodes, or any
other finished goods products. In outsourcing, avgdt companies that meet FDA, International Omgtiun for Standardization, or 1ISO, and
other quality standards supported by internal pesi@and procedures. Supplier performance is maetiand managed through a corrective
action program ensuring all product requiremengsnaet or exceeded. We believe these manufactuglatiaonships minimize our capital
investment, provide us with manufacturing expertis® help control costs.

Following the receipt of products or product comgats from our third-party manufacturers, we condietnecessary inspection, final
assembly, kitting, packaging, and labeling at aurporate headquarters facility. We may considerufeniuring certain products or product
components internally, if and when demand or quadijuirements make it appropriate to do so. Weeatly have no plans to manufacture
any products or product components internally.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NCstat devices and docking stations since Novemb@s.20/e entered int
a supply agreement with Sunburst during 2006 femtlanufacturing and supply of our neurodiagnostidaes. Sunburst currently
manufactures the current generation of our ADVANSIEH NC-stat DPNCheck devices at a facility in Mabsaetts.

Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., or Parlex, haseganufacturing our nerve specific electrodes seardy 1999. In the second quarter of
2011, Parlex began manufacturing the NC-stat DPNICbh®sensors. In August 2006, we entered intautually exclusive manufacturing
and supply agreement with Parlex pursuant to wRatex will manufacture and supply to us, and witpurchase from Parlex, at agreed
upon prices per unit, all of our requirements afveeconduction testing electrodes for resale indhiéed States. Under the agreement, Parlex
has agreed not to manufacture electrodes to betasedasure nerve conduction for any other complamiyng the term of the agreement and,
in some cases, for a period of one year thereditdrer party may terminate the agreement at ang tipon not less than 18 months prior
written notice. Parlex manufactures our electraes facility in Massachusetts and also has théyatw perform certain manufacturing steps
for our electrodes at a second site located irvthited Kingdom.

We and our thirgparty manufacturers are registered with the FDAsautgject to compliance with FDA quality system ragjons. We ar:
also ISO registered and undergo frequent qualyesy audits by European agencies. Our ADVANCE 3yssecleared for marketing within
the United States, Canada, and the European UBianfacility and the facility of our contract degiecnanufacturer are subject to periodic
inspections by regulatory authorities, and may vgaleompliance inspections conducted by the FDA@mesponding state agencies. As a
registered device manufacturer, we and our manufcwill undergo regularly scheduled FDA qualiggstem inspections. However,
additional FDA inspections may occur if deemed geagy by the FDA.

Research and Development

We believe that we have research and developmeabddy that is unique to the industry. Key mensbef our research and
development, or R&D, management team have workgetier for over a decade. This team includes ttensive involvement of our
founder and Chief Executive Officer who holds bbtiD. and Ph.D. degrees. The R&D group consistsbgfdople, including 5 who hold
Ph.D. or M.D. degrees. The group has extensiveraqee in neurophysiology, biomedical instrumemtatisignal processing, biomedical
sensors, and information systems. The R&D grougksvolosely with our marketing group and our custstie design products that are
focused on improving clinical outcomes. Our clihigeograms are led by our Chief Medical Officer wik@ board-certified endocrinologist
with extensive diabetes management experience.

Our research and development efforts are priméodysed in two areas:

« Enhancements to our first generation -stat DPNCheck deviceNe are focused on improving NC-stat DPNCheckiscdl
utility, enhancing device usability, and loweringmnufacturing costs. We are also in the processaltiating the design of a
second generation Mstat DPNCheck device

» Development of a first generation version of ouNSE)S pain therapy devic This device is based on many of the same
electronic and neurophysiological principles asmeurodiagnostic devices and therefore we belieaewe can efficiently
develop a commercial product that may be useftiiéntreatment of painful diabetic neuropat




In addition to these core areas of research anélal@wment focus, we are also exploring additioniaichl applications within the
diagnosis and treatment of diabetic neuropathpimrcore technology and expertise. We believewaare well positioned to develop
additional point-of-care diagnostic devices sucfoasiuutonomic neuropathy and therapies that atiérmanagement of both mild and
advanced forms of DPN.

Research and development expenses were approxr$atél million, $5.9 million, and $5.6 million fdhe years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

Clinical Programs

We maintain an active clinical program under threction of our Chief Medical Officer, who is a bdarertified endocrinologist with
extensive experience in diabetes. Our clinical pog are comprised of internal, collaborative, external clinical studies. Internal clinical
studies are designed and implemented directly Bgrihe purposes of product design and early adivalidation. Collaborative studies are
conducted together with leading researchers arthadorld to provide clinical validation and to éoue the clinical utility of our products.
External studies are entirely independent of ubpabh in many cases the researchers request uctabgrants for financial and/or material
support, such as for devices and consumables.rattstudies may examine the clinical performanakwtility of our products or our
products may be used as outcomes measures. Fopkexahe National Institute of Health, or NIH, Hasded large scale epidemiological
studies of occupational carpal tunnel syndromegusiimr NC-stat device as a key component of the daBeition.

We actively seek to publish our clinical study f&sin leading peer-reviewed journals while alseairraging our clinical collaborators
and clinical study grant recipients to do the same.

Competition

We believe that there is currently no objective atahdardized test for DPN widely available atgbint-of-care. The American Diabetes
Association, or ADA, and other organizations recagnohat least annual evaluation of all people widetes for DPN. Due to cost and
availability, this screen is typically performedtiva simple (5.07/10g) monofilament. This subjeztinethod identifies late stage neuropathy
where intervention is generally limited to footeaExperts in the field have indicated that thera large unmet need for a practical, objec
and sensitive test for diabetic neuropathy thatbmawidely deployed in the regular care of all deapith diabetes. Monofilaments (5.07/10g)
are a commodity sold by a number of medical suppiypanies.

There are a number of companies that sell neurnd&ig devices. These companies include CareF@oporation, Cadwell
Laboratories, Inc., and Natus Medical Incorpora@areFusion Corporation has substantially greatantial resources than we do.
CareFusion Corporation and Cadwell Laboratories, lhave established a reputation as having efieetinorldwide distribution channels for
medical instruments to neurologists and PM&R phgsis.

With respect to SENSUS, there are numerous manuéscof transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulat®rices. We believe that the
largest company is Empi, Inc. which is part of DdQorporated. We further believe that most of theent manufacturers are focused on low
back pain, sports medicine, and rehabilitationeathan on painful diabetic neuropathy. As a tesg are not aware of any devices that are
uniquely optimized for use in treating painful diétic neuropathy. There are a few companies thandhat their devices have specific utility
for painful diabetic neuropathy, however we do Inglieve that these claims have been widely valditteough adequate clinical studies.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkgyrights, trade secrets, and other intellectuaperty laws, nondisclosure agreements
and other measures to protect our proprietary t@oly, intellectual property rights, and know-hdiWe hold issued utility patents covering a
number of important aspects of our NC-stat, ADVAN@Rd NC-stat DPNCheck. We believe that in ordéraee a competitive advantage,
we must develop and maintain the proprietary asp&fobur technologies. We also require our emplsyeensultants and advisors, whom we
expect to work on our products, to agree to digchrsd assign to us all inventions conceived, d@eglaising our property, or which relate to
our business. Despite any measures taken to paeattellectual property, unauthorized partiesyratiempt to copy aspects of our products
or to obtain and use information that we regargdragrietary.

Patents
As of December 31, 2011, we had 34 issued U.Snfmtel issued foreign patents, and 24 pendingipatplications, including 17 U.S.

applications, 3 international PCT applications, drfdreign national applications. We have filedtitity patent application for NC-stat
DPNCheck and a provisional patent for SENSUS.




Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2848,our issued utility patents begin to expireGd2 In particular, seven of our issued
U.S. utility patents covering various aspects of @urent products will expire on the same dat2@f7. Although the patent protection for
material aspects of our products covered by thenslaf the patents will be lost at that time, wedadditional patents and patent applicat
directed to other novel inventions that will havaent terms extending beyond 2017.

The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and frediigration based on allegations of
patent infringement. Patent litigation can invobamplex factual and legal questions, and its outc@uncertain. Any claim relating to
infringement of patents that is successfully asseagainst us may require us to pay substantiahgam Even if we were to prevail, any
litigation could be costly and time-consuming anald divert the attention of our management andpgexgonnel from our business
operations. Our success will also depend in paduwmot infringing patents issued to others, idelg our competitors and potential
competitors. If our products are found to infrirtge patents of others, our development, manufacame: sale of these potential products
could be severely restricted or prohibited. In #ddj our competitors may independently developilsimtechnologies. Because of the
importance of our patent portfolio to our business,may lose market share to our competitors ifaileo protect our intellectual property
rights.

A patent infringement suit brought against us magd us or any strategic partners or licenseewpa@ delay developing,
manufacturing, or selling potential products that e@aimed to infringe a third-party’s intellectyabperty, unless that party grants us rights to
use its intellectual property. In such cases, wg bearequired to obtain licenses to patents or netary rights of others in order to continus
commercialize our products. However, we may nodlie to obtain any licenses required under anynpate proprietary rights of third
parties on acceptable terms, or at all. Even ifwgee able to obtain rights to the third-party’slfectual property, these rights may be non-
exclusive, thereby giving our competitors accedbieosame intellectual property. Ultimately, we nb@yunable to commercialize some of our
potential products or may have to cease some abasiness operations as a result of patent infnirege claims, which could severely harm
our business.

Trademarks

We hold domestic registrations for the marks NEUREIMRIX, NC-STAT and onCall. We use a trademark f@\AANCE and NC-stat
DPNCHECK. We hold certain foreign trademark registms for the marks NEUROMETRIX and NC-STAT.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Procedures performed with our neurodiagnostic ne¢dievices may be paid for by third-party payers|uding government health
programs, such as Medicare, and private insuramd¢ersmnaged care organizations. The 2012 PhysiEieaschedule published by the U.S.
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CM8udes CPT 95905 for nerve conduction studiefopmed with pre-configured
electrode arrays such as are used with the NM$§tACheck device and the ADVANCE System.

We believe that physicians are generally receiv@igbursement under CPT 95905 from Medicare fovenepnduction studies
performed using pre-configured electrode arraysriteet the medical necessity requirements in theal Medicare region. We also believe
that physicians are receiving reimbursement for @905 from a few commercial insurers. We are waykwith reimbursement experts to
expand coverage for CPT 95905 and with physicianghiir adoption of patient advance beneficiariaes where they believe that nerve
conduction testing may not be covered by commenegirers. Reimbursement by third-party payersiisrgortant element of success for
medical device companies. We do not foresee afgignt near-term improvement in reimbursement facpdures performed with our
neurodiagnostic devices.

NC-stat DPNCheck was launched in September 20thoagh we believe that NC-stat DPNCheck is appately described by CPT
95905, we expect only limited third-party reimbursmt for health care providers using the devicdiagnose and evaluate DPN. However,
given the anticipated low costs involved combinethwlinical upside of this test to people with loiies and to physicians caring for them
believe that an out-of-pocket payment model wille@lep. We intend to initiate the type of clinicalidies that will lead to broad third party
coverage. We do not expect this coverage to develtp near term and cannot be sure of our evestigaess in obtaining such coverage.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cevgrams, which monitor and often
require pre-approval of the services that a memililereceive. Some managed care programs are paggigproviders on a per capita basis,
which puts the providers at financial risk for #e¥vices provided to their patients by paying th@esiders a predetermined payment per
member per month, and consequently, may limit thiéngness of these providers to use our products.

We believe that the overall escalating cost of maldiroducts and services has led to, and willinaetto lead to, increased pressures on
the healthcare industry to reduce the costs ofymtsdand services.
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Our success in selling the NC-stat DPNCheck dexmmeADVANCE System, however, will depend upon, agrother things, our
customers receiving, and our potential customeeeation that they will receive sufficient reinmbement from thirgsarty payers or direct
from patients for performing procedures using th@eelucts. See Item 1A, “Risk Factordf'physicians or other health care providers are
unable to obtain sufficient reimbursement fromdhparty health care payers for procedures performsthg our products, the adoption of
our products and our future product sales will dooe to be materially adversely affected.”

FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulatior

Our products are medical devices subject to exterrsigulation by the FDA under the Federal FoodigDand Cosmetic Act, or FDCA,
and the regulations promulgated thereunder, asasdily other regulatory bodies in the United Statesabroad. The FDA classifies medical
devices into one of three classes on the baskeddinount of risk associated with the medical degitd the controls deemed necessary to
reasonably ensure their safety and effectiveness:

* Class|, requiring general controls, including laigg device listing, reporting and, for some prothy adherence to go
manufacturing practices through the F's quality system regulations and -market notification

» Class Il, requiring general controls and specialticis, which may include performance standardspa-market surveillance; al

» Class lll, requiring general controls and pre-madgproval, or PMA, which may include post-approvahditions and postarke
surveillance

Before being introduced into the market, our praslueust obtain market clearance or approval thrahgtb10(k) premarket notificatior
process, thee novareview process or the PMA process , unless thelifgdiar an exemption from these processes . Sem LA, “Risk
Factors,™We are subject to extensive regulation by the REl#ich could restrict the sales and marketing of ADME and NC-stat
DPNCheck, as well as other products for which wg seek FDA clearance or approval, and could caustuncur significant cost”

510(k) Pre-Market Natification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a prekeianotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially equivalent to
a legally marketed Class | or Il medical deviceaa Class Il device marketed prior to May 28, 893r which the FDA has not required the
submission of a PMA application. In some casesmag be required to perform clinical trials to sugoclaim of substantial equivalence. If
clinical trials are required, we must submit anligagion for an investigational device exemption]®E, which must be cleared by the FDA
prior to the start of a clinical investigation, es$ the device and clinical investigation are a®rsid non-significant risk by the FDA or are
exempt from the IDE requirements. It generally sateee months from the date of the pre-markefioation submission to obtain a final 510
(k) decision, but it can be significantly longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanog,raodification that could significantly affect issifety or effectiveness, or that would
constitute a major change in its intended use,iregthe submission of a new 510(k) clearance oldceequirede noveclassification or
PMA. The FDA allows each company to make this deieation, but the FDA can review the decisionhé £DA disagrees with a
company’s decision not to seek FDA authorizatibe,EDA may require the company to seek 510(k) aleze or PMA. The FDA also can
require the company to cease marketing and/orlrgwamedical device in question until its regutgtstatus is resolved.
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De Novo Review Proce

If a previously unclassified new medical device lnet qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notificatiprocess because there is no
predicate device to which it is substantially eglewnt, and if the device may be adequately reguidteugh general controls or special
controls, the device may be eligible fite novcclassification through what is called te novareview process. In order to use tieenovo
review process, a company must receive a letten free FDA stating that, because the device has feegnl not substantially equivalent to a
legally marketed Class | or Il medical device oatGlass Ill device marketed prior to May 28, 183t6which the FDA has not required the
submission of a PMA application, it has been plaaosal Class IIl. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the
FDA a request for a risk based down classificatibthe device from Class Ill to Class | or || bagedthe device’s moderate or low risk
profile which meets the definition of a Class IGlass Il medical device. The FDA then has 60 dayshich to decide whether to down
classify the device. If the FDA agrees that a loalassification is warranted, it will issue a nexgulation describing the device type and, 1
Class Il device, publish a Special Controls guigatiacument. The Special Controls guidance docuspatifies the scope of the device type
and the recommendations for submission of subse¢aiesices for the same intended use. If a produciaissified as Class Il through tthe
novoreview process, then that device may serve asdicate device for subsequent 510(k) pre-markefioations.

PMA Proces:

If a medical device does not qualify for the 510¢kg-market notification process and is not eligitdr clearance through tlde novo
review process, a company must submit a PMA apjdicaThe PMA requires more extensive pre-filingtieg than is required in the 510(k)
and is more costly, lengthy and uncertain. The RblAdecide within 45 days of receiving a PMA whetht is sufficiently complete to pern
a substantive review and if the PMA is complete, FIDA will notify the applicant that the PMA hasanefiled. The PMA process can take
one to three years or longer, from the time the Papalication is filed with the FDA. The PMA processgjuires the company to prove that
the medical device is safe and effective for iterted purpose. A PMA typically includes extengive-clinical and clinical trial data, and
information about the device, its design, manufegtlabeling and components. Before approving a PMA FDA generally also performs an
on-site inspection of manufacturing facilities fbe product to ensure compliance with the FDA’sligpiaystem regulation, or QSR.

If FDA approves the PMA, the approved indicatioresyrlbe more limited than those originally soughtadidition, FDA’s approval order
may include post-approval conditions that the FI@ldves necessary to ensure the safety and eféeetds of the device, including, among
other things, restrictions on labeling, promotisale and distribution and post-market study requings. Failure to comply with the post-
approval conditions can result in adverse enforecgraeadministrative actions, including the withded of the approval. Approval of a new
PMA application or a PMA supplement may be requirethe event of modifications to the device, irlthg to its labeling, intended use or
indication, or its manufacturing process that affafety and effectiveness.

Pos-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerogslegory requirements continue to apply. Theseuthel

» the FDA’'s QSR, which requires manufacturers, initlgahird-party manufacturers, to follow stringel@sign, testing, control,
documentation and other good manufacturing praeticequality assurance procedures during all aspdédhe manufacturing
process

» labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions agaim& promotion of products for uncleared or unappdayvges (known as off-label
uses), as well as requirements to provide adedpi@ienation on both risks and benefi

» medical device reporting regulations, which reqtiv@ manufacturers report to FDA any device thay imave caused or contributed
to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned imay that would likely cause or contribute to a teat serious injury if the
malfunction were to recu

» correction and removal reporting regulations, whietjuire that manufacturers report to the FDA feddrections and device recalls
or removals if undertaken to reduce a risk to headtsed by the device or to remedy a violatiorhefEDCA caused by the device
which may present a risk to heal

» post-market surveillance regulations, which applZtass Il or Ill devices if the FDA has issuedostpmarket surveillance order and
the failure of the device would be reasonably {ikel have serious adverse health consequencedetfiee is expected to have
significant use in the pediatric population, theide is intended to be implanted in the human bodynore than one year, or the
device is intended to be used to support or sulfaiand to be used outside a user facil

» regular and for cause inspections by FDA to revéemanufacturer's facilities and their compliancehaipplicable FDA
requirements; an

« the FDA's recall authority, whereby it can askorder, device manufacturers to recall fromrtieket a product that is in violation
of applicable laws and regulatior
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Regulatory Approvals and Clearanc

The ADVANCE System received 510(k) clearance asaa<Jl medical device in April 2008 for its intedluse by physicians to perfo
nerve conduction studies and needle electromyogrppitedures.

The NC-stat System is also a Class Il medical a@eaitd has been the subject of several 510(k) cleasathe most recent in July 2006
(KO60584). The NGstat System is cleared for use to stimulate andsoreaneuromuscular signals that are useful in disigg and evaluatir
systemic and entrapment neuropathies. We believ&lG-stat DPNCheck device is a technical modifarato the 510(k) cleared NC-stat
device and has the same intended use, and thediesenot raise safety or effectiveness questidimsler the FDA'’s published guidance on
510(k) requirements for modified devices, we dobmelteve that a 510(k) submission is required f@-dtat DPNCheck.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, at the requéshe FDA, we submitted a 510(K) relating to pansaof our onCall Information System,
or onCall, that are currently in use in the NC-8&gs$tem. In June 2010 we received a not substingigliivalent, or NSE, determination from
the FDA regarding this 510(k) submission. We appe:éthe decision to the FDA's next level supervigbo upheld the NSE determination.
In February 2011 we notified the FDA that we hawplemented a program to transition users of NCestaices to our 510(k) cleared
ADVANCE System that does not use the portions @alhreferenced in the NSE decision. This transifioogram will be completed by
February 2012, after which we will no longer praviNC-stat customers with access to onCall. Thes€DPNCheck device does not use
those portions of onCall referenced in the NSEsieni

We believe that as a transcutaneous electricabr&tmulator, the SENSUS pain therapy device isaa<Jl medical device which will
require a 510(k) premarket notification prior toramercial distribution. The FDA has issued a drpétcial controls guidance document for
transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulators fon palief. This document outlines the FDA's expecias with respect to the 510(k)
submission, including requirements for bench togp @mical data.

Manufacturing Facilities

Our facility, and the facility utilized by Sunbuystur contract device manufacturer, have each regrected by FDA in the past, and
observations were noted. There were no findingsitivalved a significant violation of regulatoryq@rements. The responses to these
observations have been accepted by the FDA ancelievb that we and our contract manufacturer aseibstantial compliance with the
QSR. We expect that our facility and the facilitilized by our contract manufacturer will be insfgetagain as required by the FDA. If the
FDA finds significant violations, we or our conttatevice manufacturer could be subject to finesalis, requirements to halt manufacturing,
or other administrative or judicial sanctions.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, the federal Anti-Kickbackt8ta, as well as numerous state anti-kickback lanahibit the offer, payment,
solicitation or receipt of kickbacks, bribes or@tlemuneration, whether direct or indirect, owgrtovert, in cash or in kind, intended, am:
other things, to induce the purchase or recomm@ndat healthcare products and services. Whilgékeral law applies only to products and
services for which payment may be made by a federalthcare program, the state laws may apply dégss of whether any public healthc
funds are involved. Violations of these laws caadl#o severe civil and criminal penalties, inclgd@xclusion from participation in federal
healthcare programs. These laws are potentialllicaiye to manufacturers of medical devices, sichsg and to hospitals, physicians and
other potential purchasers of our products.

Also, the federal False Claims Act, as well as mstaye false claims statutes, provides civil amohical penalties for presenting, or
causing to be presented, to thpdrty payers for reimbursement, claims that argefal fraudulent, or which are for items or sersitteat wert
not provided as claimed. Under the federal Falsén@ Act, in addition to actions initiated by fedelaw enforcement authorities, the statute
authorizes “qui tam” actions to be brought on bebgthe federal government by a private partyeéntain circumstances and, if successful,
that private party can share in any monetary regoveny challenge by federal or state enforceméifitials or others under these laws, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaial condition, and results of operations.
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Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business

We were founded in 1996 as a science-based healttcompany. Our focus had been the developménho¥ative products for the
detection, diagnosis, and monitoring of periphesalve and spinal cord disorders, such as thoseiasso with carpal tunnel syndrome,
lumbosacral disc disease and spinal stenosis, iabdtds. Our NC-stat System for the performanaeofe conduction studies at the point-of-
care was commercially launched in 1999. The segemeration NC-stat was released in 2002. In 200Braeght to market the more
sophisticated ADVANCE System for nerve conductiesting and performance of invasive needle electomraphy. These systems were
general purpose with broad application in evalgatind diagnosing nerve disorders. Numerous stagigsnstrating the clinical accuracy .
utility of these devices have been conducted atuighed in high quality peer-reviewed journals.tRermore, these devices have been used
in FDA sanctioned clinical trials for pharmacolagli@gents and large scale epidemiological stugiessored by the NIH, Center for Disease
Control, or CDC, and other governmental agenciés. droducts have been cleared by the FDA, fielgttefor over a decade and highly
regarded for their ease of use, accuracy and rapifoitity of results.

Following launch of NC-stat in 1999, we experiencagid revenue growth, which lead to our initiabpa offering in 2004. The health
market, particularly the physician office segmembbraced the opportunity to perform nerve condadiésts which previously had always
required referral to specialists. Pointazre nerve testing was seen to provide a combmafiamproved patient care and patient convenie
The success of point-of-care nerve testing, a niavkeeh we created, was met with resistance in seeators of the medical community,
particularly by neurologists and physical medicimel rehabilitation physicians, both of which haatitionally provided nerve testing
services. As a consequence of successful lobbyinbdse specialists, physicians using our techriyodogerienced increased denials of
coverage by third party payers resulting in th&rcdntinuing usage and our difficulty in accruingancustomer accounts. In late 2009 CMS
included in the Physician Fee Schedule a new CatddoPT Code, CPT 95905, for nerve conduction issigerformed using preconfigured
electrode such as those employed with our prodDeting 2010 most Medicare fiscal intermediariesuased coverage for CPT 95905 for at
least some clinical indications; however, the treadire environment has been such that we haveuresdaie to secure broad coverage among
private payers, which is essential to the succeesroproducts. This experience was reflected inreuenues for the legacy Neurodiagnostics
business, which peaked in 2006 at $55.3 million.réfmrted revenue of $10.3 million, $13.9 milliamd $26.1 million in 2011, 2010, and
2009, respectively, for the legacy Neurodiagnodiicsiness.

As we managed our general purpose neurodiagnastiodss to improve reimbursement and minimize costa@rosion, we increasingly
became aware of the unmet medical need for imprdiaghostic tools and therapies in the specifia afediabetic neuropathy, or nerve
damage caused by diabetes. Diabetes care is dhe fafsted growing sectors of health care as dsetliabove We believe that our tools and
therapies for addressing diabetic neuropathy reptes significant market opportunity. Consequerntiylanuary 2011 we announced a shi
diabetes care as our primary business focus. Véer@d$ructured our neurodiagnostics business teddiolate functions and to eliminate our
direct sales force. We emphasized our commitmestipporting our neurodiagnostic products and itestddase of physician accounts. Our
objective for our legacy neurodiagnostics busing$s maintain a high standard of product suppditevmanaging the business to optimize
cash flow.

Employees
As of December 31, 2011, we had a total of 58 egygas, 55 of which were futlme employees. Of these employees, 15 were irarek
and development, 31 in sales and marketing, 2simibution and 10 in general and administrativerisess. One employee holds both M.D.

Ph.D. degrees, three additional employees hold &.Rlegree, and two additional employees hold ab.Megree.

Our employees are not represented by a labor waridrare not subject to a collective bargaining egent. We have never experience
work stoppage. We believe that we have good relatwith our employees.
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Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&éports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form &8¢, amendments to these
reports filed with or furnished to the Securitiesl&xchange Commission, or SEC, may be obtainedi¢fir the Investor Relations section of
our website at www.neurometrix.com/investor as sa®neasonably practical after we electronicalgy dir furnish these reports. We do not
charge for access to and viewing of these reploifistmation on our Investor Relations page and wnveebsite is not part of this Annual
Report on Form 1& or any of our other securities filings unlessafieally incorporated herein by reference. In ditdi, the public may ree
and copy any materials that we file with the SE@atSEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Strelef,Washington, D.C. 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operationtod Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-8BC-0330. Also, our filings with
the SEC may be accessed through the SEC’s welbsiteva.sec.gov. All statements made in any of owuséies filings, including all
forward-looking statements or information, are mad®f the date of the document in which the statens included, and we do not assume
or undertake any obligation to update any of thstaeements or documents unless we are requireal $o 8y law.

Corporate Information

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996 by our Pregidad Chief Executive Officer, Shai N. Gozani, M.Ph.D. We originally were
incorporated in Massachusetts in 1996, and we ogocated in Delaware in 2001. Our principal off@e located at 62 Fourth Avenue,
Waltham, Massachusetts 02451.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following riskelall other information contained in this Annuagort on Form 10-K and our other
public filings before making any investment dedisiwith respect to our common stock. If any offdfiewing risks occurs, our busines
prospects, reputation, results of operations, paficial condition could be harmed. In that case, titading price of our common stock co
decline, and our stockholders could lose all ortpertheir investment. This Annual Report also aorg forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual resaisild differ materially from those anticipatedtire forward-looking statements as a result
of specific factors, including the risks descrilimdow and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fo@aK1

We have incurred significant operating losses sindaception and cannot assure you that we will agaiachieve profitability.

The extent of our future operating income or logsdsghly uncertain, and we may not be able teheend sustain profitability. We have
incurred significant cumulative net losses sinceinception. Our net losses for the years endeceBéer 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were
approximately $10.0 million, $16.9 million, and $2illion, respectively, reflecting a decline Evenues. At December 31, 2011, we ha
accumulated deficit of approximately $128.6 millidfe cannot assure you that we will be able toheacsustain profitability.

We have shifted our business focus to diabetes cal®&’e cannot assure you that we will be successful diabetes care or that our initial
commercial product, NC-stat DPNCheck, for diagnosisind evaluation of systemic neuropathies, such asD, will be successful.

Our strategic focus is now on diabetes care. Gtialinliabetes care product, NC-stat DPNCheck, rigpéd, cost-effective, quantitative
test for systemic neuropathies, such as DPN. NCER&Check is a modified version of our existing i§at device, designed specifically for
the assessment of sural nerve conduction, a biané&sk DPN, at the point of care. We initiated coemgial shipments of NC-stat DPNCheck
in the third quarter of 2011. Our future prospexts closely tied to our success with NC-stat DPNEHvehich, in turn, depends upon market
acceptance and growth in future revenues. We cassatre you that our diabetes care strategy, imgutie commercialization of NC-stat
DPNCheck and other products in our developmentiipipewill be successful. If our diabetes caretsiyg is not successful, it could
materially affect our revenues and results of ojpama.

Our future success could be adversely affectedoyngber of factors, including:

« inability of physicians to obtain patient paymenit fierve testing using N€at DPNChecl|

« inability to secure broad-based third party reinsieanent to physicians for nerve testing using $t@-DPNChecl
« decreased rates of patient visits to physic

« unfavorable experiences by physicians usingSt6Z-DPNChecl

« physicians'reluctance to alter their existing practices;

« the failure of other companie®xisting drug development programs to produce dectfe treatment for large fiber diabe
peripheral neuropathy, which may limit the percdimeed for and the actual use of Ntat DPNCheck and thereby limit or delay
growth in the diabetes marki
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If we are unable to expand the market for the NiE3PNCheck product, our ability to increase oweraies will be limited and our
business prospects will be adversely affected.

We currently rely on sales of the products that comprise the ADVANCE and NC-stat Systems to generateubstantially all of our
revenues. Any factors that negatively impact our das of these products, including our plans to disecdinue support of NC-stat in the
first quarter of 2012, could significantly reduce air ability to generate revenues.

We launched the NC-stat System in May 1999 andditced the ADVANCE System, our next generation @@anduction testing
system, in June 2008. We have derived, and contmderive, substantially all of our revenues freates of the products that comprise these
two systems, particularly from electrodes. The N&-System is being phased out and will not be stipd beyond the first quarter of 2012.
We expect that sales of the ADVANCE System will thawme to constitute the majority of our sales foe hext year and beyond. Accordingly,
our ability to generate revenues is dependent omloility to market and sell the products that cossmthe ADVANCE System, particularly
electrodes. Our sales of these products may bdinelyampacted by many factors, including:

« the failure of the market to accept our prodt

« changes in reimbursement rates or policies reldtirgur products by thirgarty payer:

« manufacturing problem

- claims that our products infringe on patent rightsther intellectual property rights owned by otparties
- adverse regulatory or legal actions relating toproducts; an

« clinical trial results relating to our productsaur competitorsproducts

If any of these events occurs, our ability to gaterevenues could be significantly reduced.

If physicians or other health care providers are uable to obtain sufficient reimbursement from third-party health care payers for
procedures performed using our products, the adoptin of our products and our future product sales wil continue to be materially
adversely affected.

Widespread adoption of our products by the mediocadmunity is unlikely to occur if physicians do meteive sufficient reimbursement
from third-party payers for performing procedurs@g our products. If physicians are unable to iokdaequate reimbursement for
procedures performed using our products, we maynbéle to sell our products at levels that ardaefit to allow us to achieve and maint
profitability, and our business would suffer sigeaintly. Additionally, even if these procedures arienbursed by third-party payers, adverse
changes in payers’ policies toward reimbursementtfe procedures would harm our ability to market aell our products. Third-party
payers include those governmental programs sutfedscare and Medicaid, workers’ compensation progg,gorivate health insurers and
other organizations. These organizations may deugrage if they determine that a procedure wasaastonable or necessary, for examp
its use was not considered medically appropriatejas experimental, or was performed for an unapgaandication.

In addition, some health care systems are moviwgitds managed care arrangements in which theyaairitr provide comprehensive
health care for a fixed cost per person, irrespeaif the amount of care actually provided. Thaswiders, in an effort to control health care
costs, are increasingly challenging the pricesgdwhfor medical products and services and, in sostances, have pressured medical
suppliers to lower their prices. Guidelines of th&. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service§ M, set the reimbursement rates for
procedures covered by Medicare.
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Future regulatory action by CMS or other governrakagencies or negative clinical results may disfineimbursement payments to
physicians for performing procedures using our potsl Medicaid reimbursement differs from statettde, and some state Medicaid
programs may not cover the procedures performeu aut products or pay physicians an adequate anfouperforming those procedures, if
at all. Additionally, some private payers do ndide the Medicare guidelines and may reimburseofdly a portion of these procedures or not
at all. We are unable to predict what changesheilmade in the reimbursement methods used by proragovernmental third-party payers.

The CMS Physician Fee Schedule includes the catddoPT code 95905, or CPT 95905, for nerve condudtudies performed with
preconfigured electrode arrays, such as thoseedilvith our ADVANCE System and with our NC-statNDBheck device. This code has
been adopted throughout the Medicare system. Adthddedicare now provides coverage for nerve testsigg our proprietary pre-
configured electrodes under CPT 95905 for at Isaste clinical indications, most commercial insusooempanies have not revised their
coverage policies. We generally do not foreseg@ifsiant near-term improvement in reimbursementpimcedures performed with our
neurodiagnostic devices. Additionally, we do ngbeot broad third-party reimbursement coverage ©rdtat DPNCheck to develop in the
near term and cannot be sure of our eventual ssidcebtaining such coverage. We cannot assuréhaitthird-party coverage will be
available, that the amounts paid for procedurefopaed with our medical devices will be adequatethat future legislation, regulation, or
reimbursement policies of third-party payers wdk mdversely affect the demand for our productsusrability to sell these products on a
profitable basis. Uncertain physician economicsitere an obstacle to new account acquisition. Theailability or inadequacy of third-party
payer coverage or reimbursement could have a mb#giverse effect on our business, operating esaid financial condition.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA kich could restrict the sales and marketing of ADVANCE and NC-stat
DPNCheck, as well as other products for which we nyaseek FDA clearance or approval, and could causes tio incur significant costs.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensigulation in the United States by the FDA wébard to manufacturing, labeling,
sale, promotion, distribution, shipping and ongaingnitoring and follow-up. Before a new medical idey or a new use of or claim for an
existing product, can be marketed in the UnitedeStat must first be cleared or approved by théFRedical devices may be marketed only
for the indications for which they are approvedi@ared. The regulatory review process can be etpeand lengthy. The FDA’process fo
granting 510(Kk) clearance typically takes approxetyathree to six months, but it can be signifidgtanger. The process for obtaining a pre-
market approval, or PMA, is much more costly androns. By law, the time period designated for tB&B review of a PMA is 180 days;
however, this time is often extended and it isuratommon for the PMA review process to take thesry or longer from the time the
application is filed with the FDA.

The FDA may remove our devices from the marketnjoia them from commercial distribution if safety effectiveness problems
develop. Further, we may not be able to obtaintamdil 510(K) clearances or pre-market approvalsiéw products or for modifications to,
or additional indications for, our existing prodsiat a timely fashion, or at all. Delays in obtamifuture clearances or approvals would
adversely affect our ability to introduce new ohanced products in a timely manner, which in tuould harm our revenue and future
profitability. We have made modifications to ounvies in the past and may make additional modificetin the future that we believe do
or will not require additional clearances or apisyvIf the FDA disagrees, and requires new cleasor approvals for the modifications, we
may be required to recall and to stop marketinglbeified devices. If any of these events occuri$ thre FDA takes other enforcement
actions, we may not be able to provide our custsm&th the products they require on a timely basis,reputation could be harmed, and we
could lose customers and suffer reduced revenuemareased costs.

In the second quarter of 2010, we were notifiedheyFDA that certain reporting functions of the a@hformation System, or onCall,
that operates with our cleared NC-stat device angvhich we submitted a 510(k) premarket notificatin 2006 were deemed by the FDA to
be not substantially equivalent, or NSE, to thewdd NC-stat System or other existing predicatécdsyIn its letter, the FDA indicated that
we could submit another 510(k) with specific adufiil information identified in the letter. onCalihbeen in use since 1999, and continu
use with FDA'’s agreement after we voluntarily sutted a 510(k) in 2006 for these reporting functidnsorder to resolve our differences of
opinion with FDA as to whether such reporting fumes had been covered by previous 510(k) premaudefications. We submitted an
administrative appeal of FDA's NSE determinatiodirty 2010. The appeal was made to the FD#€xt level supervisor under Title 21 of
Code of Federal Regulations Part 10.75, Internankg Review of Decisions. In December 2010, FDAgstrievel supervisor upheld the
NSE decision and stated that onCall should not &keted nor should users of -stat devices continue to have access to certamponents
of onCall. The FDA response suggested that we sudomew 510 (k) for certain components of onCallolir February 2011 reply to the
FDA, we reported that we have implemented a yeag-fmrogram to transition users of NC-stat devioesur 510(k) cleared ADVANCE
System which does not use those components of bwB&h are addressed in the NSE letter. This ttimmsprogram is underway and we
expect to complete it in the first quarter of 20A8ditionally, we have notified our customers theg will no longer support the NC-stat
System.
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Our NC-stat DPNCheck device for detection and eatédn of peripheral neuropathy at the point of dara technical modification to the
NC-stat device, has the same intended use, and dbesathose portions of the onCall System refa@iic the NSE decision. Under the
FDA's published guidance on 510(k) requirementanfiodified devices, we do not believe that a new(El€ubmission is required for NC-
stat DPNCheck.

We also are subject to numerous post-marketingatmy requirements, including the FDA'’s qualitysgym regulations, which relate to
the design, manufacture, packaging, labeling, g@rastallation and servicing of our productsglaig regulations, medical device reporting
regulations and correction and removal reportingiaions. Our failure or the failure by any maratfaer of our products to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements could resu#triforcement action by the FDA. FDA enforcementandirelating to post-marketing
regulatory requirements or other issues, including issues arising from the not substantially egjent letter described above, may include
any of the following:

« warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injuncty product seizures, consent decrees and civilliies
« requiring repair, replacement, refunds, customéfications or recall of our produc
« imposing operating restrictions, suspension orddwh of productior

« refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PNpraval of new products, new intended uses, or fioadions to existin
products;

« requesting voluntary rescission of 510(k) clearararewithdrawing PMA approvals that have alreadgrbgranted; ar

- criminal prosecutiot

If any of these events were to occur, they coultnhaur reputation, our ability to generate reveramd our profitability.

Also, from time to time, legislation is introducegdo Congress that could significantly change tia¢usory provisions governing the
approval, manufacturing and marketing of medicaiaks. FDA regulations and guidance are often ezl reinterpreted by the agency in
ways that may significantly affect our business andproducts. It is impossible to predict whetlegjislative changes will be enacted, or
FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations changed what the impact of such changes, if any, beayThe FDA has publicly stated the
is reevaluating its longstanding 510(k) review peryg. It is not clear when the program will be matifand what effect the modified review
process will have on our ability to bring our protiuandidates to market.

We depend on several single source manufacturers ppoduce our products. Any material adverse changeis our relationships with
these manufacturers could prevent us from deliverig products to our customers in a timely manner andnay adversely impact our
future revenues or costs.

We rely on third-party manufacturers to manufactlt®f the components of our NC-stat DPNCheck ABYANCE systems. In the
event that our manufacturers cease to manufaatdiiieisnt quantities of our products in a timely nmer and on terms acceptable to us, we
would be forced to locate alternate manufacturdslitionally, if our manufacturers experience duee in their production process, are
unable to obtain sufficient quantities of the comgats necessary to manufacture our products oneiteefail to meet our quality
requirements, we may be forced to delay the matwfaand sale of our products or locate an altemabanufacturer. We may be unable to
locate suitable alternative manufacturers for aodpcts, particularly our electrodes and biosendorsvhich the manufacturing process is
relatively specialized, on terms acceptable toust all. We have entered into exclusive manufaoguand supply agreements with Parlex
Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc. for the manufactofehe electrodes and biosensors for the domesiket. Sunburst EMS, Inc. manufactures
electronic boards and other components of our MCE®PNCheck components which we assemble in-haugsotluce completed devices.
Sunburst EMS, Inc. also manufactures our ADVANCHitars, docking stations, and communication hubs.

We have experienced transient inventory shortagesew products during the initial production rangpahase. If any materially adverse
changes in our relationships with these manufacturecur, our ability to supply our customers Wil severely limited until we are able to
engage an alternate manufacturer or, if applicabinlve any quality issues with our existing mawctidrer. This situation could prevent us
from delivering products to our customers in a tyrmmeanner, lead to decreased sales or increasés, codiarm our reputation with our
customers.
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If our manufacturers are unable to supply us with @ adequate supply of products as we expand our maeks, we could lose customers,
our potential future growth could be limited and ou business could be harmed.

In order for us to successfully expand our busimgtsin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers must be able to
provide us with substantial quantities of our pretdin compliance with regulatory requirementsaéeordance with agreed upon
specifications, at acceptable cost and on a tifbasys. Our potential future growth could strain abdity of our manufacturers to deliver
products and obtain materials and components ficgift quantities. Manufacturers often experiediféculties in scaling up production,
including problems with production yields and gtyationtrol and assurance. If we are unable to plstafficient quantities of high quality
products to meet customer demand on a timely basigould lose customers, our growth may be liméed our business could be harmed.

The success of our business depends upon our alyilib advance our pipeline products to commercializigon.

Currently, our revenues entirely depend upon saflesir ADVANCE and NC-stat systems, the sales oitivinave been declining in
recent years. We are presently focused on comntienegaNC-stat DPNCheck, advancing our pipelineotifer diabetes products, and
supporting the general purpose ADVANCE platform. #tpect that advancing our pipeline products wedjuire significant time and
resources. We may not be successful in our comaiaion efforts for any of the product candidatesrently in our pipeline and we may
not be successful developing, acquiring, or inAgiag additional product candidates, to the extentecide to do so. If we are not successful
advancing new products through our developmentipipethe regulatory process and commercial launah pusiness, financial condition,
and results of operations will be adversely affécte

The patent rights we rely upon to protect the intdectual property underlying our products may not beadequate, which could enable
third parties to use our technology and would harmour ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttsgind to protect these rights
adequately. The risks and uncertainties that we féth respect to our patents and other relatddsimclude the following:

« the pending patent applications we have filed avhach we have exclusive rights may not resulissuied patents or may take longer t
we expect to result in issued patel

- the claims of any patents that are issued may mvigie meaningful protection;

« we may not be able to develop additional proprietachnologies that are patentable;

« other parties may challenge patents, patent claimpsitent applications licensed or issued to ud; an
« other companies may design around technologiesawe patented, licensed or developed.

We also may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some foreign countries. For a ggriof reasons, we may decide not to
file for patent protection in the United Statesroparticular foreign countries. Our patent rightslerlying our products may not be adequate,
and our competitors or customers may design aroungroprietary technologies or independently deweimilar or alternative technologies
or products that are equal or superior to our teldgy and products without infringing on any of @atent rights. In addition, the patents
licensed or issued to us may not provide a conipetitdvantage. If any of these events were to g@eurability to compete in the market

would be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to protectur intellectual property may not be adequate, whib would harm our ability to
compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiottrafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality, nondisclosure and
assignment of invention agreements and other attnfrbprovisions and technical measures to pratectntellectual property rights. We rely
on trade secrets to protect the technology andittigos we use in our customer data processing aréhlwusing information system. While
we currently require employees, consultants andrdttird parties to enter into confidentiality, Rdisclosure or assignment of invention
agreements or a combination thereof where apprtepaay of the following could still occur:

- the agreements may be breached or not enforcegdantiaular jurisdiction;
« we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;

« trade secrets and other proprietary informatioriccbe disclosed to our competitors; or

« others may independently develop substantially\edent proprietary information and techniques trentvise gain access to our trade
secrets or disclose such technolog
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If, for any of the above reasons, our intellecfualperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it wouddm our ability to protect our rights &
our competitive position.

We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enfice our patents and other intellectual property richts, which could be expensive
and, if we lose, could cause us to lose some of dutellectual property rights, which would harm our ability to compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatdual property and our competitive position.dPataw relating to the scope of claims
in the technology fields in which we operate id strolving and, consequently, patent positionghien medical device industry are generally
uncertain. In order to protect or enforce our patights, we may initiate patent litigation agaittstd parties, such as infringement suits or
interference proceedings. Litigation may be neacgssa

« assert claims of infringement;

« enforce our patents;

« protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

- determine the enforceability, scope and validityhaf proprietary rights of others.

Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiaet significant time and divert management’s aib@nfrom other business concerns.
Litigation also puts our patents at risk of beingalidated or interpreted narrowly and our pat@miigations at risk of not issuing.
Additionally, we may provoke third parties to assaims against us. We may not prevail in any latgsthat we initiate and the damages or
other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commigraialuable. The occurrence of any of these eveatild harm our business, our ability
to compete in the market or our reputation.

Claims that our products infringe on the proprietary rights of others could adversely affect our abity to sell our products and
increase our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestghat our products could be
increasingly subject to third-party infringemendiohs as the number of competitors grows and thetifumality of products and technology in
different industry segments overlap. Third partiesy currently have, or may eventually be issuetgmia on which our products or
technologies may infringe. Any of these third pestmight make a claim of infringement against usy Atigation regardless of its impact
would likely result in the expenditure of signifitdinancial resources and the diversion of managgi® time and resources. In addition,
litigation in which we are accused of infringememdy cause negative publicity, adversely impactpeotve customers, cause product
shipment delays or require us to develop non-igfrig technology, make substantial payments to héndies, or enter into royalty or license
agreements, which may not be available on acceptabhs, or at all. If a successful claim of inflgment were made against us and we ¢
not develop non-infringing technology or license thfringed or similar technology on a timely arabteffective basis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposagdrtisant liability.

If we or the manufacturers of our products fail tocomply with the FDA'’s quality system regulation, the manufacturing and
distribution of our products could be interrupted, and our product sales and operating results couldufer.

We and our contract manufacturers are requiredtapty with the FDA’s quality system regulation, @SR, which is a complex
regulation that governs the procedures and doclatientof the design, testing, production, contgolality assurance, labeling, packaging,
sterilization, storage and shipping of our deviddse FDA enforces the QSR through periodic insp@sti We cannot assure you that our
facilities or the facilities of the manufactureifsonir products would pass any future inspectiouif or any of the facilities of the
manufacturers of our products fail an inspectibe,ranufacturing or distribution of our productsildobe interrupted and our operations
disrupted. Failure to take adequate and timelyemtire action in response to an adverse inspectaid result in a suspension or shutdow
our packaging and labeling operations and the ¢ipesaof the manufacturers of our products or aliexf our products, or other
administrative or judicial sanctions. If any of sieeevents occurs, we may not be able to providewstomers with the quantity of products
they require on a timely basis, our reputation ddad harmed, and we could lose customers and seffaced revenues and increased costs.
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Our products may be subject to recalls, even aftareceiving FDA clearance or approval, which would hem our reputation, business
and financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting leguns, which require us to report to the FDAuir @roducts may have caused or
contributed to a death or serious injury, or haadfamctioned in a way that would likely cause ontibute to a death or serious injury if the
malfunction were to occur. We are also subjech&odorrection and removal reporting regulationsictvinequire us to report to the FDA any
field corrections and device recalls or removaig the undertake to reduce a risk to health posetidogevice or to remedy a violation of the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, cdusethe device which may present a risk to heéttladdition, the FDA and similar
governmental agencies in other countries haveutteodty to require the recall of our productshéte is a reasonable probability that the
products would cause serious adverse health coesegs or death. A government-mandated or volumésil by us could occur as a result
of manufacturing defects, labeling deficiencieskaaing defects or other failures to comply witlplagable regulations. Any recall would
divert management attention and financial resouso@isharm our reputation with customers and coalegta material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to federal and state laws prohibitig “kickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, which, if violated, could subject us to
substantial penalties. Additionally, any challengéo or investigation into our practices under thesdaws could cause adverse publicity
and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm awbusiness.

A federal law commonly known as the federal antkkiack law, and several similar state laws, prahii®# payment of any remuneration
that is intended to induce physicians or othetseeito refer patients or to acquire or arrangefaecommend the acquisition of health care
products or services. These laws constrain a mlediiséce company’s sales, marketing and other ptmmal activities by limiting the kinds
of business relationships and financial arrangesyémtiuding sales programs we may have with hakpiphysicians or other potential
purchasers of medical devices. Other federal aaté saws generally prohibit individuals or entitfesm knowingly presenting, or causing to
be presented, claims for payment to Medicare, Medior other third-party payers that are falserandiulent, or for items or services that
were not provided as claimed. From time to time may provide coding and billing information as pwotlsupport to purchasers of our
products. Anti-kickback and false claims laws priggecivil and criminal penalties for noncomplianeéich can be quite substantial
including exclusion from participation in federadith care programs. A number of states have eshémites that require pharmaceutical and
medical device companies to monitor and report gays) gifts and other remuneration made to physicéand other health care professionals
and health care organizations. Some state statutels,as the one in Massachusetts, impose an luubag on gifts to physicians. These laws
are often referred to as “gift ban” or “aggreggiersd” laws and carry substantial fines if they\daodated. Similar legislation, known as the
Physician Payments Sunshine Act, has been intradac8ongress each year for the past several yesifsas not yet been enacted. In the
event that we are found to have violated these tavdetermine to settle a claim that we have dan@sr business may be materially
adversely affected as a result of any paymentsnejto be made, restrictions on our future operstior actions required to be taken, dan
to our business reputation or adverse publicityannection with such a finding or settlement oreotiadverse effects relating thereto.
Additionally, even an unsuccessful challenge oesiigation into our practices could cause adveubdiqity, and be costly to respond to, and
thus could harm our business and results of opasti

In February 2009, we announced that we had reazheslolution with the United States Departmeniustide, or DOJ, and the Office of
Inspector General, or OIG, of the United Statesddtepent of Health and Human Services regardingptbeiously-disclosed investigation
into certain of our past sales and marketing prastrelating to our NC-stat System. As part ofrésslution with the DOJ and OIG, we
entered into a three-year Deferred Prosecution égent with the DOJ and a fiwear Corporate Integrity Agreement with the OlGilla to
comply with the terms of the Deferred Prosecutigme®ment and the Corporate Integrity Agreementccesult in substantial civil or
criminal penalties and being excluded from goveminfealth care programs, which could materiallyumsdour sales and adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.

If we are found to have violated laws protecting th confidentiality of patient health information, wecould be subject to civil or
criminal penalties, which could increase our liabities, damage our reputation and harm our business.

There are a number of federal and state laws giatethe confidentiality of individually identifide patient health information, including
patient records, and restricting the use and discoof that protected information. In particuthe U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services promulgated patient privacy rules undettbalth Insurance Portability and Accountabilitgt Af 1996, or HIPAA. These privacy
rules protect medical records and other persoratthaformation by limiting their use and disclosugiving individuals the right to access,
amend and seek accounting of their own health mm&bion and limiting most use and disclosures ofth@aformation to the minimum
amount reasonably necessary to accomplish thedatepurpose. Although we do not believe that wesalgect to the HIPAA rules, the ex
scope of these rules has not been clearly establishwe are found to be in violation of the payaules under HIPAA, we could be subject
to civil or criminal penalties, which could increagur liabilities and harm our reputation or ousibess.
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The use of our products could result in product lidility claims that could be expensive, damage oureputation and harm our business

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohpatgroduct liability claims related to the maaafuring, marketing and sale of med
devices. The medical device industry historicatig lbeen litigious, and we face financial exposongroduct liability claims if the use of our
products were to cause or contribute to injuryeaitt. Our NC-stat and ADVANCE systems and NC-sRlNDheck may be susceptible to
claims of injury because their use involves thetele stimulation of a patient’s nerves. Althougke maintain product liability insurance for
our products and other commercial insurance, terege limits of these policies may not be adeqtmat®ver future claims. As sales and
of our products increase, we may be unable to miaisufficient product liability or other commerkiasurance on acceptable terms or at
reasonable costs, and this insurance may not raxsdvith adequate coverage against potentialitiabi A successful claim brought against
us in excess of, or outside of, our insurance @mercould have a material adverse effect on oantial condition and results of operations.
A product liability claim, regardless of its meoit eventual outcome, could result in substantiatsto us, a substantial diversion of
management attention and adverse publicity. A prbliability claim could also harm our reputatiomdaresult in a decline in revenues and an
increase in expenses.

Our products are complex in design, and defects mayot be discovered prior to shipment to customersyhich could result in warranty
obligations or product liability or other claims, reducing our revenues and increasing our costs aniabilities.

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts. Our products, particularly our eledes, require a significant degree
technical expertise to produce. If these manufacsufiail to produce our products to specificationif the manufacturers use defective
materials or workmanship in the manufacturing psscéhe reliability and performance of our prodwatsbe compromised.

If our products contain defects that cannot beiredajuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may aigrece:

« loss of customer orders and delay in order fuli@ir

« damage to our brand reputation;

« increased cost of our warranty program due to prbdepair or replacement;

« inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing asgkarch and development departments into our setfejgartment; and

- legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and increase our costs
and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employees, oumanagement and technical expertise could be weatked significantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegieand efforts of our officers, including Shai®bzani, M.D., Ph.D., our founder,
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officemfhias T. Higgins, our Senior Vice President and {firancial Officer; Krishnamurthy
Balachandran, our Senior Vice President and Chiefr&ting Officer, Neurodiagnostics; Guy Daniellar &enior Vice President of
Information Technology; and Michael Williams, Ph.Dur Senior Vice President of Engineering and €héhnology Officer. We do not
maintain key person life insurance policies covgrany of our employees. The loss of any of ourcefs could weaken our management and
technical expertise significantly and harm our bass.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skilled and experienced personnel, our ability to managend expand our business will be
harmed, which would impair our future revenues andprofitability.

We are a small company with only 58 employees d3egfember 31, 2011, and our ability to retain duiltesl labor force and our success
in attracting and hiring new skilled employees W#l a critical factor in determining our future feemance. We may not be able to meet our
future hiring needs or retain existing personnattipularly given the challenges our business baently faced. We will face challenges and
risks in hiring, training, managing and retaininggmeering and sales and marketing employees.reaiuattract and retain personnel,
particularly technical and sales and marketingqrerel would materially harm our ability to compeféectively and grow our business.
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Failure to develop or enter into relationships to sll products other than our existing products or ehance our existing products could
have an adverse effect on our business prospects.

Our future business and financial success will ddp@ part, on our ability to effectively marketw products, such as NC-stat
DPNCheck, and upgrade existing products, such ag¢ANICE. Developing new products and upgrades totigsand future products
imposes burdens on our research and developmeattdemt and our management. This process is c@sitlyve cannot assure you that we
will be able to successfully develop new producterthance the current systems or any of our otlreesst or future products. We also may
not be able to enter into relationships with ott@npanies to sell additional products. In additeswe develop the market for our products,
future competitors may develop desirable produatiiiees earlier than we do which could make our agitges’ products less expensive or
more effective than our products and could rendempooducts obsolete or unmarketable. If our prodevelopment efforts are unsuccessful,
we will have incurred significant costs without egnizing the expected benefits and our businessppats may suffer.

We currently compete, and may in the future need teompete, against other medical device companiestivpotentially greater
resources, more established distribution channelsha other competitive advantages, and the successtb&se competitors may harm
our ability to generate revenues.

We currently do, and in the future may need to, pei@ directly and indirectly with a number of otkempanies that may have
competitive advantages over us. We compete withpemres that sell traditional nerve conduction stadg electromyography equipment
including CareFusion Corporation, Cadwell Labor&®rinc., and Natus Medical Incorporated. Thesepanies enjoy significant
competitive advantages, including:

« greater resources for product development, sakdsreanketing;

- more established distribution networks;

« greater name recognition;

« more established relationships with health caréegsionals, customers and third-party payers; and

« additional lines of products and the ability toesffebates or bundle products to offer discountacentives.

As we develop the market for point-of-care nengig, particularly treatment of diabetic neuropative may be faced with competition
from these companies or others that decide andtdecto enter this market. Some or all of our fatcompetitors in the point-of-care market
may enjoy competitive advantages such as thoseided@above. If we are unable to compete effegtiaglainst existing and future
competitors, our sales will decline and our bussne#l be harmed.

We are dependent upon the computer and communicatis infrastructure employed and utilized by our cusbmer information system
and any failures or disruptions in this infrastructure could impact our revenues and profit margins oharm our reputation.

We are dependent upon the computer and commumisatifrastructure employed and utilized by our eostr information system. Our
computer and communications infrastructure consitéandard hardware, off-the-shelf system sofwamponents, database servers,
proprietary application servers, a modem bank @&stkip applications. Our future success will depéngart, upon the maintenance and
growth of this infrastructure. Any failures or ogés of this infrastructure as a result of a regmaaction by the FDA, computer virus,
intentional disruption of our systems by a thirdgpamanufacturing failure, telephone system fai|(ire, storm, flood, power loss or other
similar events, could prevent or delay the operatibour onCall Information System, which coulduisn increased costs to eliminate these
problems and address related security concerniama our reputation with our customers. In additibour infrastructure fails to
accommodate growth in customer transactions, custsatisfaction could be impaired, we could losst@mers, our ability to add customers
could be impaired or our costs could be increaaed,of which would harm our business.

If future clinical studies or other articles are published, or physician associations or other organ&ions announce positions that are
unfavorable to our products, our sales efforts andevenues may be negatively affected.

Future clinical studies or other articles regarding existing products or any competing producty & published that either support a
claim, or are perceived to support a claim, thedmpetitor's product is more accurate or effecthan our products or that our products are
not as accurate or effective as we claim or preywinical studies have concluded. Additionallyygigian associations or other organizations
that may be viewed as authoritative or have an@woaninterest in nerve conduction studies and liateel electrodiagnostic procedures or
other procedures that may be performed using adyats could endorse products or methods that cenwieh our products or otherwise
announce positions that are unfavorable to ourymmtsd We have experienced this with the professiemzieties representing the neurology
community. Any of these events may negatively dfées sales efforts and result in decreased rexvenue
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As we continue to expand into foreign markets, we i be affected by new business risks that may advsgely impact our financial
condition or results of operations.

Foreign markets represented approximately 6% of@enues in 2011. We are working to expand mar&eetration, particularly in
Europe. As we continue to expand into foreign miskee will be subject to new business risks, ideig:

« failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requirementis market our products;
- availability of, and changes in, reimbursement imifrevailing foreign health care payment systems;
« adapting to the differing business practices and lia foreign countries;

« difficulties in managing foreign relationships amgkrations, including any relationships that walelsth with foreign distributors or
sales or marketing agents;

« limited protection for intellectual property rights some countries;

« difficulty in collecting accounts receivable andahdeer collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations in fgrejurisdictions;

« recessions in economies outside of the United State

« political instability and unexpected changes ifalipatic and trade relationships;

« currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

« potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products fforeign markets, we will be affected by thesditidnal business risks, which may
adversely impact our financial condition or resoalt®perations. In addition, expansion into foreigarkets imposes additional burdens on
executive and administrative personnel, researdisales departments, and general managerial reso@ar efforts to introduce our prodt
into foreign markets may not be successful, in Witiase we may have expended significant resouritkewv realizing the expected benefit.
Ultimately, the investment required for expansiotoiforeign markets could exceed the revenues g&tfrom expansion.

Our loan and security agreement with Comerica Bankwhich we refer to as our Comerica credit facility,contains financial and
operating restrictions that may limit our access tacredit. If we fail to comply with covenants in theComerica credit facility, we may be

required to repay any indebtedness thereunder, whitmay have an adverse effect on our liquidity.

Although we have not borrowed any funds under tbmé&ica credit facility, provisions in the Comermadit facility impose restrictior
on our ability to, among other things:

« incur additional indebtedness;

« create liens;

« replace certain of our executive officers;

- enter into transactions with affiliates;

» transfer assets;

« pay dividends or make distributions on, or repuseh@ur capital stock; and

« merge or consolidate.
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In addition, we are required to meet certain finahoovenants customary with this type of creddlfty, including maintaining a
minimum specified tangible net worth. The Comenrpadit facility also contains other customary cawais. We may not be able to comply
with these covenants in the future. Our failureamply with these covenants may result in the datitan of an event of default and could
cause us to be unable to borrow under the Comerggiit facility. In addition to preventing additianborrowings under the Comerica credit
facility, an event of default, if not cured or wad; may result in the acceleration of the matwitindebtedness outstanding under the
Comerica credit facility at the time of the defawhich would require us to pay all amounts outdiag. If an event of default occurs, we n
not be able to cure it within any applicable cueeiqd, if at all. If the maturity of our indebtedsseis accelerated, we may not have sufficient
funds available for repayment or we may not haeedthility to borrow or obtain sufficient funds teplace the accelerated indebtedness on
terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new businessgsoducts or technologies, instead of developingp¢m ourselves, these acquisitions
or investments could disrupt our business and couldesult in the use of significant amounts of equitycash or a combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or inwesiusinesses, products or technologies, insteaeéwdloping them ourselves.
Acquisitions and investments involve numerous rigksluding:

» the inability to complete the acquisition or invasit;
« disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversiamanagement attention;
« difficulties in integrating the acquired entitiggpducts or technologies;
« difficulties in operating the acquired businessfiaibly;
« the inability to achieve anticipated synergies;savings or growth;
» potential loss of key employees, particularly thokthe acquired business;
« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;
« risks associated with entering markets in whichhaee no or limited prior experience; and
« unanticipated costs.
In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemisy result in one or more of the following:
- issuances of dilutive equity securities, which rbaysold at a discount to market price;
« the use of significant amounts of cash;
« the incurrence of debt;
« the assumption of significant liabilities;
« increased operating costs or reduced earnings;
- financing obtained on unfavorable terms;
« large one-time expenses; and
« the creation of certain intangible assets, inclgdipodwill, the write-down of which may result iigsificant charges to earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our ktpdce, our business, or our operating results.
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We may be required to raise additional funds to fimnce our operations and remain a going concern; waay not be able to do so when
necessary, and/or the terms of any financings mayohbe advantageous to us.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $10.3 mii®nf December 31, 2011. On February 13, 2012 esedla public securities offering
that generated $8.5 million in gross proceeds after transaction costs and fees, yielded appraeiyn&7.5 million in net proceeds. We
believe that these resources and the cash to leeajed from expected product sales will be sufficte meet our projected operating
requirements for at least the next twelve months.dbhtinue to face significant challenges and uag#gfes and, as a result, our available
capital resources may be consumed more rapidlydherently expected due to (a) decreases in slesr@roducts and the uncertainty of
future revenues from new products; (b) changes @y make to the business that affect ongoing opey&tkpenses; (c) changes we may
make in our business strategy; (d) regulatory dgraknts affecting our existing products and delayke FDA approval process for produ
under development; (e) changes in our researcld@vnelopment spending plans; and (f) other itemescéifig our forecasted level of
expenditures and use of cash resources. Accordinglynay need to raise additional funds to suppartperating and capital needs. We
attempt to obtain additional funding through puldigorivate financing, collaborative arrangemenith strategic partners, or through
additional credit lines or other debt financing im@s to increase the funds available to fund ojmer®t However, we may not be able to se:
such financing in a timely manner and on favorabtens, if at all. Furthermore, if we issue equitydebt securities to raise additional funds,
our existing stockholders may experience dilutenmd the new equity or debt securities may havegsjgireferences and privileges senior to
those of our existing stockholders. If we raiseitholoal funds through collaboration, licensing dher similar arrangements, it may be
necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our piéproducts or proprietary technologies, or gtaenses on terms that are not favorable to
us. Without additional funds, we may be forcedetag, scale back or eliminate some of our salesmaartteting efforts, research and
development activities, or other operations anemilly delay product development in an efforptovide sufficient funds to continue our
operations. If any of these events occurs, ouitalhd achieve our development and commercializatjoals would be adversely affected.

If we sell additional shares, our stock price may ecline as a result of the dilution which will occurto existing stockholders.

Until we are profitable, we will need significardditional funds to develop our business and sustairoperations. Any additional sales
of shares of our common stock and other secugtiescisable into our common stock are likely toéhawdilutive effect on some or all of our
then existing stockholders. Resales of newly issleates in the open market could also have thetaffdowering our stock price, thereby
increasing the number of shares we may need te issthe future to raise the same dollar amountcamdequently further diluting our
outstanding shares.

The perceived risk associated with the possible sbh large number of shares could cause someraitockholders to sell their stock,
thus causing the price of our stock to declineaddition, actual or anticipated downward pressurewr stock price due to actual or
anticipated issuances or sales of stock could cswse institutions or individuals to engage in slsates of our common stock, which may
itself cause the price of our stock to decline.

If our stock price declines, we may be unable iseradditional capital. A sustained inability téseacapital could force us to go out of
business. Significant declines in the price of cmammon stock could also impair our ability to attrand retain qualified employees, reduce
the liquidity of our common stock and result in thedisting of our common stock from The NASDAQ $tddarket LLC, or NASDAQ.

The trading price of our common stock has been votde and is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading price of our common stock has beenlpigblatile. Since our public offering in July 20@drough February 1, 2012 our stc
price has fluctuated from a low of $1.15 to a hi§l$247.14. The market price for our common stodklwve affected by a number of factors,
including:

» the denial or delay of regulatory clearanceapprovals for our products under development ceipt of regulatory approval of
competing products

e our ability to accomplish clinical, regulatcand other product development milestones and ®odn accordance with our timing
estimates

» changes in policies affecting th-party coverage and reimbursement in the UniteceStand other countrie
» changes in government regulations and standardstiff the medical device industry and our prodt

» ability of our products to achieve market succ
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» the performance of thi-party contract manufacturers and component sugp

» actual or anticipated variations in our result®pérations or those of our competitc

* announcements of new products, technological inti@vs.or product advancements by us or our congost
» developments with respect to patents and othelidntaal property rights

» sales of common stock or other securities by umiostockholders in the futur

* additions or departures of key scientific or mamaget personne

» disputes or other developments relating to petgry rights, including patents, litigation mattend our ability to obtain patent
protection for our technologie

» trading volume of our common stoc

» changes in earnings estimates or recommendabipisecurities analysts, failure to obtain or rteamanalyst coverage of our
common stock or our failure to achieve analyst isgsiestimates

* public statements by analysts or clinicians regaydheir perceptions of our clinical results or &ffectiveness of our produc
» decreases in market valuations of medical devioepemies; ani

» general market conditions and other factors atedlto our operating performance or the opergé@réprmance of our
competitors

The stock prices of many companies in the medieaicg industry have experienced wide fluctuatidra have often been unrelated to
the operating performance of these companies. d?eabvolatility in the market price of a compangescurities can result in securities class
action litigation against a company. If class attitigation is initiated against us, we may insubstantial costs and our management’s
attention may be diverted from our operations, Witould significantly harm our business.

Our stock has previously been subject to delistingroceedings on NASDAQ and could be subject to sughroceedings in the future
which could affect its market price and liquidity and reduce our ability to raise capital.

Currently, our common stock trades on the NASDAQitzhMarket. We have previously received natifioas from NASDAQ
informing us of certain listing deficiencies, inding failure to satisfy the minimum bid price ame tminimum stockholders’ equity. Although
we have since cured these deficiencies, it is plestat we could fall out of compliance againhe future. If we fail to maintain compliance
with any listing requirements, we could be delist@ad our stock would be considered a penny stodeuregulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, and would thereforgubgect to rules that impose additional salestfmacequirements on broker-dealers
who sell our securities. The additional burdensdsgal upon broker-dealers by these requirements disdourage broker-dealers from
effecting transactions in our common stock, whiobld severely limit the market liquidity of the camn stock and your ability to sell our
securities in the secondary market.

The low trading volume of our common stock may adwsely affect the price of our shares.
Although our common stock is listed on the NASDA@pZal Market, our common stock has experiencedttading volume. The 50

day average trading volume through February 1, 2&12ported by NASDAQ was approximately 19,000eshd imited trading volume mi
subject our common stock to greater price volgtdihd may make it difficult for investors to sdileses at a price that is attractive to them.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law, and the shareholder rightslan that we previously
adopted in 2007, may discourage or prevent a changé control, even if an acquisition would be benefial to our stockholders, which
could affect our stock price adversely and preverattempts by our stockholders to replace or removewr current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contaiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeootrol of our company or changes
in our Board of Directors that our stockholders miigonsider favorable. Some of these provisions:

« authorize the issuance of preferred stock whichbeaareated and issued by the Board of Directottsowt prior stockholder approval,
with rights senior to those of our common stc

« provide for a classified Board of Directors, withicd director serving a staggered three-year term;
« prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacés; calling special stockholder meetings, or tgldntion by written consent;

« provide for the removal of a director only with sauand by the affirmative vote of the holders d¥7& more of the shares then entitled
to vote at an election of our directors; ¢

e require advance written notice of stockholder pegh® and director nominations.

We have also adopted a shareholder rights plarcthdd make it more difficult for a third party &zquire, or could discourage a third
party from acquiring, us or a large block of ountoon stock. A third party that acquires 15% or nafreur common stock could suffer
substantial dilution of its ownership interest untihe terms of the shareholder rights plan thrathghissuance of common stock to all
stockholders other than the acquiring person.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions oft® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Lawich may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdreuwr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could makaadre difficult for stockholders or potential adaeus to obtain control of our Board of
Directors or initiate actions that are opposed biythen-current Board of Directors, including a gest tender offer, or proxy contest

involving our company. Any delay or prevention afteange of control transaction or changes in owar8of Directors could cause the ma
price of our common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends orapital stock. We currently intend to retainaihilable funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and expansia@mupbusiness and do not anticipate paying any dagtiends in the foreseeable future. In
addition, the terms of our Comerica credit facifitecludes us from paying any dividends. As a tesapital appreciation, if any, of our
common stock will be our stockholders’ sole sowtpotential gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in an approximatel@@Dsquare foot facility in Waltham, Massachusettsich we occupy under an office
lease expiring in March 2013. We believe that oustang facilities are adequate for our currentdsee

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings, but are subject to legal proceedimgjse ordinary course of business. We
do not expect any such items to have a signifisapact on our financial position.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock was traded on the NASDAQ Globalkdiafrom its initial listing in July 2004 until Mah 23, 2011. As a part of our
plan to cure our deficiencies with the continuetirig requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market, ieguested and were approved to
transfer our listing to the NASDAQ Capital Marketfective March 24, 2011, where our stock now tsaaleder the symbol “NURO". The
price range per share reflected in the table bédawe high and low sales prices of our commonksgscreported by NASDAQ (rounded to
the nearest penny) for the periods indicated.

Years ended December 3

2011 2010
High Low High Low
First quartel $ 414  $ 25¢ % 16.5C $ 10.5(
Second quarte 3.7¢ 2.4¢€ 11.4C 6.0€
Third quartel 3.3C 1.6C 7.9¢ 3.12
Fourth quarte 2.0t 1.1¢ 4.5C 2.82

Stockholders

On February 15, 2012, there were approximatelyst6dkholders of record of our common stock. Thisibar does not include
stockholders for whom shares were held in a “nosiime “street” name. On February 15, 2012, theleapbrted sale price per share of our
common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market was $0.88

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaitufe earnings, if any, to finance
the expansion and growth of our business and dexpsct to pay any cash dividends in the foresedalilire. Payment of future cash
dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of daoard of directors after taking into account vasidactors, including our financial condition,
operating results, current and anticipated castgjemnd plans for expansion. Additionally, the Caogecredit facility restricts our ability to
pay dividends.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We reacquired 883 shares of our common stock, avarage price of $2.86 per share, during the geded December 31, 2011, in
connection with the vesting of certain restrictedres issued pursuant to our Third Amended andaRes2004 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan. We reacquired these shares as part of tthensent of tax withholding obligations by particiga under our Third Amended and
Restated 2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan.foll@wving table sets forth these reacquisitiong tha made during the year ended
December 31, 2011 and reflects a 1-for-6 reverbeafpur common stock completed on Septembei01,12

T Maximum Number
otal Number of Approximate
Shares Purchased (Sr PP

. . ollar Value) of
Period Total Number of Shares| Average Price Paid as Part of Shares that May Yet

Purchased per Share Publicly y
Be Purchased
Announced Plans Under the Plans or
or Programs
Programs

January 1, 2011 January 3] — — N/A N/A
2011
February 1, 2011 — Februafy — — N/A N/A
28, 2011
March 1, 2011 — March 31, — — N/A N/A
2011
April 1, 2011 — 676 $3.00 N/A N/A
April 30, 2011
May 1, 2011 — — — N/A N/A
May 31, 2011
June 1, 2011 - — — N/A N/A
June 30, 201
July 1, 2011 - 160 $2.64 N/A N/A
July 31, 2011
August 1, 2011 — August 31, — — N/A N/A
2011
September 1, 2011 — — — N/A N/A
September 30, 201
October 1, 2011 — October 20 $1.75 N/A N/A
31, 2011
November 1, 201— — — N/A N/A
November 30, 201
December 1, 2011 - 27 $1.33 N/A N/A
December 31, 201
Total 883 $2.86 N/A N/A
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data are derivemhf our audited financial statements, which hawenbsudited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regismarblic accounting firm. The selected financitiadbelow should be read in

conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussiam gAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results g@ietations,” Item 7A,

“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About KetrRisk” and our financial statements and relaiets for the years ended 2011,
2010, and 2009 appearing elsewhere in this AnnepbR on Form 10-K:

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Cost of revenues

Gross margir

Operating expense
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Goodwill impairmen
Charge for legal settleme
Intangible asset impairme
Gain from deconsolidation of joint
venture

Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Loss on availab-for-sale investmer
Interest and other incon
Warrants fair value adjustment

Loss from continuing operatiol
(Loss) income from discontinued
operations

Net loss before taxe
Income tax benefit

Net loss

Loss per common share from continuin
operations, basic and dilut

(Loss) income per common share from
discontinued operations, basic and
diluted

Net loss per common share, basic
diluted

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-tel
investment:
Working capital
Total asset
Total liabilities
Total stockholder equity

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(In thousands, except share and per share dat
10,397 13,90 $ 26,137 $ 31,12  $ 43,667
4,722 7,05( 7,53¢€ 9,01z 11,33¢
5,67¢ 6,85( 18,60: 22,10¢ 32,32¢
3,871 5,85¢€ 5,611 5,58¢ 4,89z
6,68¢ 11,07 10,84 14,647 22,83)
5,112 7,23 9,11¢ 12,01¢ 14,83¢
— — — 5,83 —
— — — 3,70¢€ —
— — — 1,76¢ —
— — — (2,100 —
15,67¢ 24,16( 25,57 41,45¢ 42,56
(10,009 (17,310 (6,970 (19,350 (10,239
— — (2,500
22 29¢ 227 721 1,751
— — (5,179 — —
(9,98)) (17,015 (11,919 (21,129 (8,482)
— — — (6,600 104
(9,98)) (17,017 (11,919 (27,730 (8,37¢)
— 121 — — —
(9,98)) (16,89) $ (11919 $ (27,730 $ (8,379)
(2.59) 440 $ 4.2¢) $ 925 $ (4.09)
— —  $ —  $ (2.8¢) $ 0.0t
(2.59) (440 3 (4.2 $ (12.1) % (3.9¢)
As of December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)
10,29( 16,987 $ 30,43 $ 19,797 % 29,71¢
10,48: 19,02( 34,37 21,63: 33,30¢
14,22 23,06¢ 40,567 31,147 56,20¢
3,13: 2,861 4,857 8,31¢ 9,47¢
11,08¢ 20,19¢ 35,71( 22,83: 46,73(
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in cargtion with our selected financial
data, our financial statements, and the accompanyiotes to those financial statements includednadisee in this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. This discussion contains forward-looking stageis that involve risks and uncertainties. For aa#gtion of factors that may
cause our actual results to differ materially froinose anticipated in these forward-looking statersgplease refer to the section titled “Risk
Factore”, contained in Item 1A of this Annual Report onrifol0-K.

Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thendgg and treatment of the neurological complicetiof diabetes. People with
diabetes do not effectively regulate their bloadcgkse, or sugar, levels leading to chronically Heytels of glucose in the blood, called
hyperglycemia, and occasionally bouts of low glecwsthe blood, called hypoglycemia. The primags@n that glucose levels are not
effectively regulated in people with diabetes @tttihose with the disease do not produce insulip€T diabetes) or are resistant to the noi
physiological action of insulin (Type |l diabeteB)any Type Il diabetics eventually require insub@cause production of the hormone by 1
pancreas decreases with time. Type | diabeteslyafédcts children and teenagers whereas Typ@betes has typically been a disease of
adults over the age of 50. However, over the pasade, Type Il diabetes is occurring in youngettadwhich can probably be attributed to
higher levels of obesity in this age group.

As a medical device company with both unique armb&ntial experience in devices to measure andmtépheral nerve function, we
believe we are in the unique position to addresstrve-related complications of diabetes throghdevelopment of novel proprietary
medical devices. Therefore, we are focused on dpired and marketing medical devices for the diagnasd treatment of diabetic
neuropathies. We believe that we are the only naédievice company with a strategic focus on théelia neuropathy vertical market and
our goal is to be the dominant player in this field

Our initial product for diabetic neuropathy, NC{dBPNCheck, was launched in September 2011. NCR&iCheck is a fast, accurate,
and quantitative nerve conduction test that is teexvaluate systemic neuropathies such as DR#ldsigned to be used by primary care
physicians, endocrinologists, podiatrists and otfieicians at the point-of-care to objectively elett stage, and monitor DPN. The device
measures nerve conduction velocity and responsétadgof the sural nerve, a nerve in the lowerded ankle. These parameters are widely
recognized as sensitive and specific biomarkeBRil. Our target market is United States endocrigists and podiatrists. We believe that
this market represents approximately 15,000 phgsgivho are viewed as leaders in the detectiomamagement of DPN. We have initia
sales into this market through a direct, specisdiies force that we hired, trained and deployethduhe third quarter of 2011. As of
December 31, 2011, we have placed devices witlomestaccounts representing over 200 physicians.

We also market a medical device, which has bearadieby the FDA and which is used for the assessaiereuropathies such as carpal
tunnel syndrome, diabetes, and sciatica. Our ADVANCNCS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE System, whiclaigart of our legacy
neurodiagnostics business, is a comprehensiveoptatior the performance of traditional nerve cortducstudies and invasive
electromyography procedures. We focus our salestseffor the ADVANCE System on physician officeslaiinics. Our ADVANCE System
is comprised of: (1) various types of electroded m@edles, (2) our ADVANCE device and related meduand (3) a communication hub that
enables the physiciambffice to network their device to our serversdata archiving, report generation and other netwervices. We do ni
intend to support the original NC-stat System belythe first quarter of 2012 and are transitioning NC-stat customers to the ADVANCE
System.

Our neurodiagnostic equipment is used in approxgat, 000 physiciangffices, clinics, and hospitals. Nearly 1.7 millipatient studie

have been performed with our neurodiagnostic devsiece 1999. We manage our neurodiagnostic bisstnesptimize its future cash
contribution while maintaining a high standard oftomer support.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011 and @#sber 31, 2010
Revenue
The following table presents a historical view af active customers and studies performed:

Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change
Installed base (active testing accoul 2,997 3,87¢ (87¢) (22. %
Patient studie 104,44 131,27. (26,830) (20.9

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Revenues $ 10,396.¢ $ 13,899. $ (3,502.9 (25.2)%

Revenues include sales of medical equipment camgisf sales of the ADVANCE device and, in 201G tC-stat device, accessories,
extended service agreements, and sales of consesradisisting of various electrodes, which are wgdtdour ADVANCE and NC-stat
Systems, and EMG needles which are used with oW AICE System. In 2011, revenues also included $85ffom sales of our initial
diabetes product, NC-stat DPNCheck, which was laeddn September 2011. Revenues for the year ebdeeimber 31, 2011 declined $3.5
million to $10.4 million, compared with $13.9 mdh for the year ended December 31, 2010, refleetifg.7% contraction of our
neurodiagnostic installed base that has contribiatéower electrodes sales.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
The following table summarizes our cost of reverams gross margin:

Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cost of revenues $ 4722. $ 7,050.. $ (2,328.) (33.0%
Gross margin $ 56747 $ 6,849! $ (1,174.9 (17.2

Our cost of revenues decreased $2.3 million to 84lifon, or 45.4% of revenues for the year endest&nber 31, 2011, compared with
$7.1 million, or 50.7% of revenues, for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2010. This decrease is due phntatower neurodiagnostic shipment
volume, partially offset by the impact of highee&rode costs, which have increased due to lowastyation volumes, compared with the y
ended December 31, 2010. In addition, gross mdiogif010 included inventory charges of $1.8 milliefated to a strategic change in
direction of our business that was announced onaigr#, 2011. Our gross margin of 54.6% of reverioethe year ended December 31,

2011 increased from 49.3% of revenues for the gamied in 2010. The lower gross margin percentag®10 resulted primarily from the
inventory charges noted above.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents a breakdown of ourratieg expenses:

Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands)

Operating expense

Research and developm:e $ 3877 $ 58550 $ (1,977.9 (33.9%
Sales and marketir 6,688.¢ 11,072.. (4,383.9) (39.6)
General and administrative 5111.¢ 7,231.¢ (2,120.9) (29.9)

Total operating expenses $ 15677 $ 24,159.. $ (8,481.) (35.1
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Research and Developme

Research and development expenses for the yeaed Bretember 31, 2011 and 2010 were $3.9 million®&ng million, respectively.
The comparative results included decreases ofllibn in personnel related costs, $411,000 inickl studies and product development
costs, $315,000 in costs of consulting and outsateices, $125,000 for licenses and fees, $124@0ockbased compensation, $53,000
amortization of intangible assets, $50,000 forlfées costs, and $39,000 for supplies and equigroests. These decreases were partially
offset by an impairment charge of $192,500 in #hepad quarter of 2011 to write off the remaininguesof intangible assets following our
decision to terminate development efforts relatmgertain technological and intellectual propersgets acquired in 2009, and a $101,000
increase in recruiting costs .

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $6i@midl the year ended December 31, 2011 from $diillion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Personnel costs decreased $toh mnd travel and entertainment costs decre&3@&d,000 reflecting the January 2011
termination of our direct neurodiagnostics salesdan conjunction with a strategic initiative tane efficiently focus on our installed base of
active accounts, partially offset by the impleméotaof a lower cost sales force focused on theveridology and podiatry markets beginn
in the third quarter of 2011. In addition, recnugticosts decreased $276,000, internal meeting desteased $135,000, and stock-based
compensation decreased $93,000. These decreasepavtally offset by increases of $170,000 in atisiag and promotions costs and
consulting costs of $76,000 largely related todiabetes initiative.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreasedXa$lion for the year ended December 31, 201inf&¥.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. This decrease included $625t660personnel costs, reflecting reduced headc@&®t),000 from professional fees,
$242,000 from insurance costs, $143,000 from sap@nd equipment costs, $131,000 from stock-bammpensation, $121,000 from taxes,
licenses and fees, $105,000 from bad debt exp885¢)00 from facilities costs, $57,000 from corisgland temporary labor costs , and
$45,000 from recruiting costs.

Interest and other incon
The following table presents a breakdown of ouebthcome and expenses:

Years Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands)

Other income and expens:

Interest incom: $ 21¢ $ 53.¢ §$ (31.9 (59.9%
Federal grant income — 244 * (244.5 (100.0)
Total other income and expenses $ 21.¢ $ 298.. $ (276.4) (92.7)

Interest income was $22,000 for the year ended @kee 31, 2011 and $54,000 for the year ended Deeefih 2010. In addition, in
2010 we received a $244,000 U.S. Qualifying Theantipddiscovery Project grant under section 48Dhef Internal Revenue Code.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 and #sber 31, 2009
Revenue
The following table presents a historical view af active customers and studies performed:

Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009 Change % Change
Installed base (active testing accoul 3,87¢ 4,49: (61¢) (13.9%
Patient studie 131,27 161,29: (30,019 (18.€)

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Revenues $§ 13,899 $ 26,137.( $ (12,237.) (46.8%

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010hwiece related to our neurodiagnostic businessdingec$12.2 million to $13.9
million, compared with $26.1 million for the yearded December 31, 2009. This decline was largetytdu hree primary factors: our
installed base of customers contracted by 13.8%emsstudies contracted by 18.6%; and our eleetaderage sales price, or ASP, declined
by 20.1% from $34.61 for 2009 to $27.66 for 20168vénhues for 2010 reflected the introduction of Madt CPT code 95905, which was
published by the CMS in the fourth quarter of 2089 well as continued reimbursement uncertaintii wdtmmercial insurers relating to our
products. Medicare CPT code 95905 addresses neniction studies performed with pre-configureatetale arrays such as those used
with the NC-stat System. The code both definesentst procedures and assigns values on a diffeasig than pre-existing codes. The net
result was lower physician reimbursement per netudy which has had a negative impact on our res&nu

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
The following table summarizes our cost of reverams gross margin:

Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cost of revenues $ 7050: $ 7535t $ (485.9 (6.4%
Gross margin $ 6,849.f $ 18,601 $ (11,7519 (63.2)

Our cost of revenues was $7.1 million, or 50.7%ewEnues, for the year ended December 31, 201(Qa@u to $7.5 million, or 28.8%
of revenues for the year ended December 31, 20@®@d&crease of $485,400 in cost of revenues watdawer shipment volume, partially
offset by inventory charges of $1.8 million relateca strategic change in direction of our businkaswas announced on January 4, 2011.
Our gross margin percentage of 49.3% of revenuethéoyear ended December 31, 2010 decreased ftd#o/of revenues for the same
period in 2009. The lower gross margin percentag®10 resulted primarily from the inventory chesgas well as lower electrode ASP
compared with 2009.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents a breakdown of ourratieg expenses:
Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009 Change % Change
(in thousands)

Operating expense

Research and developm:e $ 58550 $ 56117 $ 2441 4.3%
Sales and marketir 11,072.. 10,840.. 231.¢ 2.1
General and administrative 7,231.¢ 9,119.( (1,887.) (20.7)

Total operating expenses $ 24,159.. $ 255704 $ (1,411.) (5.5)
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Research and Developme

Research and development expenses increased to#iod for the year ended December 31, 2010 f&Br6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009he comparative results for 2010 included increa$&504,000 in expensed materials relating todénelopment of ne'
products and $351,000 for license maintenance fetally offset by a $368,000 decrease in stoakeldl compensation, a $105,000 decrease
in professional fees, a $73,000 decrease in theofakesign work, and a $55,000 decrease in theafaonsulting and outside services.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased to $1lidmidr the year ended December 31, 2010 from&fillion for the year ended
December 31, 2009. This increase mainly resultemh fa $421,000 increase in compensation and retatstd reflecting the addition of
international sales staff, which increased cost$687,000, and the addition of a team of fieldichkheducators which increased costs by $1.4
million. These increases were largely offset byumsdl costs resulting from a reduction in the sfzeun direct sales force.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased2a§lilion for the year ended December 31, 201@nf&9.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. This decrease included redwsctibfi415,000 for personnel costs, $356,000 fosaltimg and outside services costs,
$292,000 for stock-based compensation, $273,00Bi$orance costs, $179,000 for professional feas$454,000 for credit card fees.
Interest and other incon

The following table presents a breakdown of ouebthcome and expenses:

Years Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 Change % Change
(in thousands)

Other income and expens:

Interest incom: $ 3.t $ 226.¢ % (173.) (76.9%

Federal grant incorr 244.F — 244.F N/A

Warrants fair value adjustment — (5,175.) 5,175.; (100.0
Total other income and expenses $ 2982 $ (4,948.) $ 5,246 (106.0)

Interest and other income was $298,000 and $227@08e years ended December 31, 2010 and 2088ecévely. The increase in
2010 resulted from the receipt of a $244,000 U.&alifying Therapeutic Discovery Project grant unslection 48D of the Internal Revenue
Code. Interest income of $54,000 in 2010 was eainoed investments in cash equivalents and stesrty investments. The decrease in inte
income for the year ended December 31, 2010, apad to the same period a year ago, reflects lawenrage invested balances and lower
rates of return.

Warrants fair value adjustment

Warrants fair value adjustment represents net esargcorded during 2009 to adjust the liabilitydatstanding warrants issued in an
equity financing in September 2009. During Octak@09, we executed addenda to these warrants sachgbn a change in control, as
defined, the warrant holders will receive the BkSitholes value of the warrants in the same currandysame proportions as will be recei
by our common stockholders. Following the addetiimwarrant liability in the amount of $19.7 milievas reclassified to additional paid-in
capital.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our cash ara$ls equivalents. As of December 31, 2011, casltastd equivalents totaled $10.3
million. On February 13, 2012, we completed a pubffering of equity securities. We issued 8,530,4hares of common stock and warrants
to purchase 4,265,205 shares of common stock @ed/ezl offering proceeds, net of discounts, comimissand expenses, of approximately
$7.5 million. In addition, the placement agenttfoe offering was issued warrants to purchase 426s62res of common stock. See Note 16,
Subsequent Events, of our Notes to Financial Setésrcontained elsewhere in this Annual ReportanmFLO-K for further information
regarding this transaction. Our ability to generateenue will largely depend on the success ofd@alretes business initiative and our ability
to manage our neurodiagnostic business to optin@zh flow. A low level of market interest in NC{sEEPNCheck, an accelerating decline in
our neurodiagnostics consumables sales, or unpaitid increases in our operating costs would hawaaerse effect on our liquidity and
cash generated from operations. The following tabts forth information relating to our liquidity:

December 31 December 31
2011 2010 Change % Change
($ in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,290.. $ 16,986.8 $ (6,696.9) (39.4%

Our Comerica credit facility permits us to borropte $7.5 million on a revolving basis. The Comarnixedit facility expires on May 2,
2012. Amounts borrowed under the Comerica creditifiawill bear interest equal to the prime rate$0.5%. Any borrowings under the
Comerica credit facility will be secured by our lsagaccounts receivable, inventory, and equipmemt. Comerica credit facility includes
traditional lending and reporting covenants, inaligahat certain financial covenants applicablégoidity are to be maintained by us. As of
December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with tltesenants and had not borrowed any funds undeCdmeerica credit facility. See Note
14, Credit Facility, of our Notes to Financial ®taents contained elsewhere in this Annual RepoRam 10-K.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, our cadltash equivalents decreased by $6.7 million, amigndue to net cash used in
operating activities.

In managing our working capital, two of the finaalaneasurements we monitor are days sales outsgrati DSO, and inventory
turnover rate, which are presented in the tablevioébr the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010
Days sales outstanding (da 40 68
Inventory turnover rate (times per ye 2.3 2.C

Our payment terms extended to our customers géneeglire payment within 30 days from invoice d&&0’s have improved over ti
past year due to improved collection efforts andldosales on extended payment terms.

Our inventory turnover rate for the year ended Dawer 31, 2011 was 2.3 times per year, compared2w@himes per year for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase in the iagenirnover rate reflects our efforts to improagentory management.

The following sets forth information relating tousoes and uses of our cash:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activit $ (6,778.9 $ (13,307.) $ (6,137.)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 67.5 7,188.! (692.7)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 14.F 168.( 17,464..

We expect to continue to incur net losses and negeaash flows for the foreseeable future. Our afieg activities used $6.8 million in
the year ended December 31, 2011. The primary riee the use of cash in our operating activitiasng 2011 were our net loss of $9.9
million , which included non-cash expenses of $880,for stock-based compensation, $376,900 foredégtion and amortization, $192,500
for an intangible asset impairment charge, andéf@Bfor inventory charges. Cash outflows were plytbffset by reduced working capital
balances, particularly a $682,800 decrease in atsoaceivable reflecting lower sales and impros@ltection efforts and a $550,500
decrease in inventories due to improved manageanféntentories. For the year ended December 31020dr operating activities used
$13.3 million in cash. This use of cash resulteddly from the net loss for the year of $16.9 roilli
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, our imgesictivities included a $178,500 increase in gashlting from a release of
restricted cash related to our lease, partiallgeifby $111,000 used for the acquisition of fixesets. For the year ended December 31, 2010,
our investing activities provided $7.2 million iagh. This source of cash resulted primarily frons$fillion provided by the maturities of
investments.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, our fingrectivities generated $33,600 from the issuarfammmon stock and used
$19,100 for capital lease payments. For the yede@December 31, 2010, our financing activitiesegated $195,700 from the issuance of
common stock and used $27,700 for capital leasmeats.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $10.3 mii®nf December 31, 2011. On February 13, 2012 esedla public securities offering
that generated $8.5 million in gross proceeds after transaction costs and fees, yielded appraeiyn&7.5 million in net proceeds. We
believe that these resources and the cash to lezajed from expected product sales will be sufficie meet our projected operating
requirements for at least the next twelve months.dbhtinue to face significant challenges and uag#gfes and, as a result, our available
capital resources may be consumed more rapidlydherently expected due to (a) decreases in slesr@roducts and the uncertainty of
future revenues from new products; (b) changes @y make to the business that affect ongoing opey&xpenses; (¢) changes we may
make in our business strategy; (d) regulatory dgraknts affecting our existing products and delayke FDA approval process for produ
under development; (e) changes we may make ines@arch and development spending plans; and @) @#ms affecting our forecasted
level of expenditures and use of cash resourcesorllingly, we will need to raise additional fundssupport our operating and capital needs.
We may attempt to obtain additional funding throgpgiblic or private financing, collaborative arrangents with strategic partners, or throt
additional credit lines or other debt financing m@s to increase the funds available to fund ojmer®t However, we may not be able to se:
such financing in a timely manner and on favorabtens, if at all. Furthermore, if we issue equitydebt securities to raise additional funds,
our existing stockholders may experience diluteomg the new equity or debt securities may havesjgireferences and privileges senior to
those of our existing stockholders. If we raiseitholoal funds through collaboration, licensing dher similar arrangements, it may be
necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our e products or proprietary technologies, or gtaenses on terms that are not favorable to
us. Without additional funds, we may be forcedetag, scale back or eliminate some of our salesmaartteting efforts, research and
development activities, or other operations anemilly delay product development in an efforptovide sufficient funds to continue our
operations. If any of these events occurs, ouitalhd achieve our development and commercializatjoals would be adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2011, we have federal and atteperating loss, or NOL, carryforwards availableffset future taxable income of
$80.5 million and $32.7 million, respectively, diedleral and state tax credits of $956,000 and 8805 respectively, which may be available
to reduce future taxable income and the relateelstélxereon. The net operating loss and researctiessiopment credit carryforwards will
expire at various dates beginning in 2019 for faberxes and begin to expire in 2012 for stategafefull valuation allowance has been
provided against our NOL carryforwards and researaghdevelopment credit carryforwards and, if gusicthent is required, this adjustment
would be offset by an adjustment to the valuatitowance. Thus, there would be no impact to thamhet sheet or statement of operations if
an adjustment were required.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Ohligest, and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any of&fize sheet financing arrangements.
The following table summarizes our principal cootual obligations as of December 31, 2011 and tfeets such obligations are

expected to have on our liquidity and cash flowRitnre periods.
Payments due in

Contractual Obligations Total 2012 1-3 years 3-5 years

Operating lease obligatiol $ 948,75(  $ 757,50C % 191,25 $ —
Capital lease obligatior 40,58: 22,13¢ 18,44¢ —
Purchase order obligations 711,22 711,22 — —
Total contractual obligations $ 170055 $ 149086 % 209,69t $ —

As of December 31, 2011, we have no contractuagjatibns that extend beyond three years.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accountimrijples, which require us to make
estimates and assumptions about future eventaffeat the amounts reported in our financial statets and the accompanying notes. Future
events and their effects cannot be determined edttainty. Therefore, the determination of estima#guires the exercise of judgment.
Actual results could differ significantly from th@gstimates, and any such differences may be rmlteur financial statements. We believe
that the policies set forth below may involve aht@igdegree of judgment and complexity in their aggpion than our other accounting polic
and represent the critical accounting policies lisgtle preparation of our financial statementsliffierent assumptions or conditions were to
prevail, the results could be materially differéaim our reported results. Our significant accoumpolicies are presented within Note 2 to
our Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Recei\

We recognize revenue when the following criterimehbeen met: persuasive evidence of an arrangesriest$, delivery has occurred and
risk of loss has passed, the seller’s price tdtheer is fixed or determinable, and collectionaasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEces to customers and distributors are recognigmoh shipment provided that t
selling price is fixed or determinable, persuagvlence of an arrangement exists, collection céikables is reasonably assured, product
returns are reasonably estimable, and no continulifigations exist. The revenues from the salenoABVANCE communication hub
together with access to NeuroMetrix informationteyss are considered one unit of accounting andmefend recognized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated period of time that weidmthe service associated with the informatiostesys of three years. The resulting
deferred revenue and deferred costs are presemtaparate line items on the accompanying baldremt.sRevenues related to extended
service agreements for the devices are recognaallly over the term of the extended service ageeém

Revenues associated with the sale of the NC-stAldbleck devices are recognized upon shipment prdwiuz the selling price is fixed
or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arraageexists, collection of receivables is reasonaSkured, product returns are reasonably
estimable, and no continuing obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgigingle use nerve specific electrodes, EMG needled other accessories. These
revenues are recognized upon shipment providedtibatelling price is fixed or determinable, pessu@ evidence of an arrangement exists,
collection of receivables is reasonably assured praduct returns are reasonably estimable .

When multiple elements are contained in a singieangement, we allocate revenue between the elerbasésl on their relative selling
prices . We determine selling price using vendecsjt objective evidence, or VSOE, if it is avéile, third-party evidence, or TPE, if VSOE
is not available, and best estimate of sellingeyrar BESP, if neither VSOE nor TPE are availatile.generally expect that it will not be able
to establish TPE due to the nature of the marketghich it competes, and, as such, it will typigaletermine selling price using VSOE or if
not available, BESP. The objective of BESP is tedrine the selling price of a deliverable on adtdone basis . Outetermination of BES
involves a weighting of several factors based ensipecific facts and circumstances of an arrangerBeecifically, we consider the cost to
produce the deliverable, the anticipated margithamh deliverable, the selling price and profit marigr similar parts, our ongoing pricing
strategy, the value of any enhancements that heee built into the deliverable, and the charadies®f the varying markets in which the
deliverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgegssments of expected returns, allowance for fid@sicounts, and expected
customer relationship periods. We analyze variagofs, including a review of specific transactioms historical returns, average customer
relationship periods, customer usage, customenbe and market and economic conditions. Chamgesigments or estimates on these
factors could materially impact the timing and amioaf revenues and costs recognized. Should marletonomic conditions deteriorate,
actual return or bad debt experience could excee@stimate.

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedasda@mount and do not bear interest. Certain ptaghles are made with a 30-day right
of return. Since we can reasonably estimate furtregns, we recognize revenues associated withuptadles that contain a right of return
upon shipment and at the same time we record a sztiern reserve, which reduces revenue and accoereivable by the amount of
estimated returns.
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The allowance for doubtful accounts is our bestreste of the amount of probable credit losses inexisting accounts receivable. We
review our allowance for doubtful accounts and etee the allowance based on an analysis of custpast payment history, product usage
activity, and recent communications between usthedustomer. Based on the current market envirohme could have increased risk with
the collections of our account receivables. Indigidcustomer balances which are past due and éveas outstanding are reviewed
individually for collectibility . Account balancesre written-off against the allowance when we femsl probable the receivable will not be
recovered. We do not have any off-balance shedit@rposure related to our customers.

Inventories

The realizable value of inventories is based upertypes and levels of inventories held, forecadedand, pricing, competition, and
changes in technology. Our consumables have ateeigimonth shelf life. Should current market anshemic conditions deteriorate, our
actual recoveries could be less than our estimates.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncemest

In September 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Ford&TF, issued new rules pertaining to the acdogrfor revenue arrangements w
multiple deliverables. The new rules provide apralative method for establishing fair value of &wgeable when vendor specific objective
evidence cannot be determined. The guidance pre¥atehe determination of the best estimate dirggprice to separate deliverables and
allows the allocation of arrangement consideratising this relative selling price model. The guickasupersedes the prior multiple element
revenue arrangement accounting rules. The new goédaas adopted prospectively by us beginning Jsriy2011. Adoption has not had a
material effect on our financial statements.

In September 2009, the EITF issued new rules ttudrda) non-software components of tangible presland (b) software components
of tangible products that are sold, licensed, aséel with tangible products when the software carapts and non-software components of
the tangible product function together to deliver tangible product’ essential functionality . The new guidance waptetl prospectively b
us beginning January 1, 2011. Adoption has notshahterial effect on our financial statements.

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Stand&aksrd issued Accounting Standards Update No. Z&L0%Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic «—Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurersaenor ASU 2010-06. ASU 2010-06
requires new disclosures regarding significantafens in and out of Levels 1 and 2, as well asrinfdion about activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements, including presenting information apatchases, sales, issuances, and settlementgrossaversus a net basis in the Level 3
activity roll forward. In addition, ASU 2010-06 alglarifies existing disclosures regarding inputl @aluation techniques, as well as the level
of disaggregation for each class of assets anilifie®h ASU No. 2010-06 is effective for interirmé annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures ipartato purchases, sales, issuances, and settienimethe rollforward of Level 3 activity,
which were effective for interim and annual peribdginning after December 15, 2010. The new guielavees adopted prospectively by us
beginning January 1, 2011. Adoption has not hadteral effect on our financial statements.

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsrpar FASB, issued Accounting Standards Updaté&3id, No. 2011-04 “Fair
Value Measurement (Topic 820)—Amendments to Ac@iewenon Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Rements in U.S. GAAP and
IFRS? , or ASU 2011-04. The amendments in ASU 2011-0dlt@s common fair value measurement and disclosegeirements in GAAP
and International Financial Reporting Standard$FBS. Consequently, the amendments change thangouded to describe many of the
requirements in GAAP for measuring fair value amddisclosing information about fair value measueats. The new guidance is to be
adopted prospectively, effective for interim andiaa periods beginning after December 15, 2011 d@/eot believe adoption of ASU 2011-
04 will have a material effect on our financialtstaents.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011*@®mprehensive Income (Topic 220) —PresentatioBahprehensive Income’or
ASU No. 2011-05. ASU No. 2011-05 requires thanathowner changes in stockholders’ equity be preskgither in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdmait consecutive statements, eliminating the optigresent other comprehensive
income in the statement of changes in equity. Uedber choice, items that are reclassified froneotomprehensive income to net income
are required to be presented on the face of tlaadial statements where the components of net ia@rd the components of other
comprehensive income are presented. In Decembdr, 884 FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12D&ferral of the Effective Date for Amendme
to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Iterus @ Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income iéaiing Standards Update No. 2011-
05" , which defers the requirement within ASU No. 2@BLto present on the face of the financial statestire effects of reclassifications
out of accumulated other comprehensive income ercdmponents of net income and other compreheirsieene for all periods presented.
During the deferral, entities should continue toom reclassifications out of accumulated other pghensive income consistent with the
presentation requirements in effect prior to tisgiggce of ASU No. 2011-05. These ASUs are to bptadaetrospectively, effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after DeceniBef011. We do not believe adoption of these Aglllshave a material effect on our
financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuresabout Market Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio and have no foreign excleaogntracts. Our financial
instruments consist of cash and cash equivalengéscalisider investments that, when purchased, heemaining maturity of 90 days or less
to be cash equivalents. The primary objectivesuofiavestment strategy are to preserve principaintain proper liquidity to meet operating
needs, and maximize yields. To minimize our expesoran adverse shift in interest rates, we inr@shly in cash equivalents and short-term
investments with a maturity of twelve months oslasad maintain an average maturity of twelve montHess. We do not believe that a
notional or hypothetical 10% change in interest @rcentages would have a material impact onaihedlue of our investment portfolio or
our interest income.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dad

The information required by this item may be fowmdpages F-1 through F-22 of this Annual Reporform 10-K with the exception of
the unaudited summarized quarterly financial dateckvis presented below. Net income per commonesisacalculated independently for
each of the periods presented. Therefore, the $uhe @uarterly net loss per common share amouitite @t necessarily equal the total for
full fiscal year. Per common share data and sha@uats have been adjusted for all periods preseaaotezflect a 1-for-6 reverse split of our
common stock completed on September 1, 2011.

Year Ended December 31, 201

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue! $ 2,904,841 $ 2,571,841 $ 2,560,221 $ 2,359,86: $ 10,396,77
Cost of revenues 1,255,57! 1,110,07. 1,156,11! 1,200, 30: 4,722,06!
Gross margir 1,649,27. 1,461,76 1,404,10 1,159,56 5,674,701
Net loss (2,697,25) (2,436,71) (2,430,84) (2,416,28) (9,981,10)
Per common share data, basic and dill  $ 0.700 $ (065 $ (065 $ (065 $ (2.59

Year Ended December 31, 2010

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter (1) Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenues $ 3566,390 $ 3,852471 $ 3,41433 $ 3,066,46 $ 13,899,67
Cost of revenues 1,296,01 1,405,34 1,347,81i 3,001,03(2) 7,050,209
Gross margin 2,270,37! 2,447,12! 2,066,51! 65,43t 6,849,46.
Net loss (4,764,02) (4,519,07) (3,400,18) (4,207,86) (16,891,14)
Per common share data, basic and dilu  $ 229 $ (1.1¢) $ 0.89 $ (1.09) $ (4.40

(1) As reported in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-@Qtfe quarterly period ended June 30, 2010, filéd the SEC on August 10,
2010, during the second quarter of 2010, we idiedtifraudulent sales transactions involving tw@sakpresentatives, resulting in a
$146,333 overstatement of revenues for the quantged March 31, 2010. We believe that these saesactions, individually and
in the aggregate, are not material to the finaneisiilts as reported in previously issued intefimaricial statements for the quarter
ended March 31, 2010. As of and for the quarteedridarch 31, 2010, these sales transactions aff¢icéefinancial statements as
follows: an overstatement of revenues of $146,3B83verstatement of the associated cost of revendisales commissions of
$38,078 and $30,937, respectively; an overstatenfeatcounts receivable of $158,239, which inclugle®verstatement of sales tax
payable of $11,905; an understatement of inverdb§81,673, net of inventory losses of $6,405; adarstatement of other current
assets of $32,343 related to an insurance receifabthe associated loss claim less a $5,000 dibikicand an understatement of
accumulated deficit of $82,318. There was no impatbtal net cash used in operating activitiehinithe statement of cash flows
for the quarter ended March 31, 2010. The summauwgzearterly financial data for the quarter endedde81, 2010 presented above
has been revised to reflect these adjustm

(2) We recorded inventory charges of $1.8 million redeto a strategic change in direction that was anoed on January 4, 201
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
There have been no changes in or disagreementgedthuntants on accounting and financial disclomaters in the last fiscal year.
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(&) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedure

Our principal executive officer and principal firaal officer, after evaluating the effectivenessaf disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Hd)) as of the end of the period covered byFoisn 10-K, have concluded that, based
on such evaluation, our disclosure controls andqutares were effective to ensure that informatémjuired to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\recorded, processed, summarized and repavitdn the time periods specified in the
SEC's rules and forms, and is accumulated and conmated to our management, including our princgadcutive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functioas,appropriate to allow timely decisions regardemuired disclosure.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting .

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchafge Because of its inherent limitations, internahtrol over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projectafreny evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate. Under
the supervision and with the participation of owamagement, including our Chief Executive Officed aur Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofiernal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2011 based on the criteria in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).
Based on our evaluation under the frameworkitarnal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the COSO, our management concluded
that our internal control over financial reportings effective as of December 31, 2011.

This Annual Report does not include an attestatort of our independent registered public acdagrtrm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management’s report wassubject to attestation by our independent reggst public accounting firm pursuant to
rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only agement's report in this Annual Report.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There have been no changes to our internal comal financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended Decembe2@1] that have materially affected, or are reasigrikely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporae Governance
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table and biographical descriptiors ferth information regarding our executive offisand directors, based on
information furnished to us by each executive eifiand director, as of February 15, 2012:

Name Age Position

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. 47 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,dtdent and Secreta
Thomas T. Higgin: 60 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer arrdasure|
Guy Daniello 67 Senior Vice President of Information Technolc
Krishnamurthy Balachandre 53 Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, Neliagnostic
Michael Williams, Ph.C 55 Senior Vice President Engineering, Chief Technol®dfjcer
David E. Goodman, M.D.(1)(z 55 Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.(2) 61 Director

Nancy E. Katz 52 Director

Charles R. LaMantia(1)(: 72 Director

Timothy R. Surgenor(1)(z 52 Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governanom@ittee

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.Dfounded our company in 1996 and currently serveShasrman of our Board of Directors and as our
President, Chief Executive Officer and Secretamc&founding our company in 1996, Dr. Gozani lexsed in a number of positions at our
company including Chairman since 1996, Presidemhft996 to 1998 and from 2002 to the present, netutive Officer since 1997 and
Secretary since July 2008. Dr. Gozani holds a Bx&Aomputer science, an M.S. in Biomedical Engimgpand a Ph.D. in Neurobiology, frc
the University of California, Berkeley. He also ea®d an M.D. from Harvard Medical School and trentdrd-M.1.T. Division of Health
Sciences at M.1.T. Prior to forming our company, Gozani completed a neurophysiology researchvistip in the laboratory of Dr. Gerald
Fischbach at Harvard Medical School. Dr. Gozanihdslished articles in the areas of basic andadimeurophysiology, biomedical
engineering and computational chemistry. The Bdasiconcluded that Dr. Gozani should serve asatdirbecause Dr. Gozani's extensive
knowledge of engineering and neurophysiology, comtiwith the unique understanding of our technolmgy business he has gained as our
founder and as a key executive, provides invaluisight to our Board and to the entire organizatio

Thomas T. Higginshas served as our Senior Vice President, ChieieinhOfficer and Treasurer since September 20@6r B joining
NeuroMetrix,from January 2005 to March 2008, M r. Higgins waed@utive Vice President and Chief Financial OffiaeCaliper Life
Sciences, Inc, a provider of technology and sesvioelife sciences research. Before Caliper, Mggdihs was Executive Vice President,
Operations and Chief Financial Officer at V.I. Teologies, Inc. (Vitex), a biotechnology company @s$ding blood safety. Before Vitex, N
Higgins served at Cabot Corporation in various@efimance and operations roles. His last posiib@abot was President of Distrigas of
Massachusetts Corporation, a subsidiary involvetiéniquefied natural gas business, and prioh&b he was responsible for Cabot's Asia
Pacific carbon black operations. Before joining @aMr. Higgins was with PricewaterhouseCoopersnetee started his career. Mr. Higgins
holds a BBA with honors from Boston University.
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Guy Daniello has served as our Senior Vice President of Infaonatechnology since July 2003 and, prior to tiragt as our Vice
President of Information Technology and Directotrdbrmation Technology since 1998. Prior to jomiNeuroMetrix, Mr. Daniello was an
independent software consultant, the Senior ViesiBlent of Engineering at Shiva Corporation frorA@lf 1997, and the Chief Technology
Officer and Vice President of Product Developmér@andalf Technologies from 1993 to 1996. In 198%¥dunded Network Architects, a
software company. Prior to starting Network Arcbige he served as President and Chief Executivie€d®f Datamedia Corp. and the
Director of Small Systems Development at Honeywdtrmation Systems. Mr. Daniello holds a B.S. irsiness administration from
Northeastern University

Krishnamurthy Balachandran has served as our Senior Vice President and Gearsdger, International since April 2010. In Jayuar
2011 he assumed additional responsibilities asf@perating Officer, Neurodiagnostics. Prior tonjoig NeuroMetrix, from November 2007
to April 2010, Mr. Balachandran was Vice Presidemi General Manager of Cardinal HealthNeuroCare Division, a provider of technol
and services to the neurophysiology industry. Befoining Cardinal Health, Mr. Balachandran worledvith Hewlett Packard as Senior
Director, Global Alliances from April 1999 to Decbar 2006. Prior to joining Hewlett Packard, Mr. &tiandran was Vice President,
International Sales and Marketing for Nicolet Biatizal, the leading business in EMG and nerve cotiglui¢testing which was subsequently
acquired by Cardinal Health and became its Neur@@aision. Mr. Balachandran started his careesailes with Blue Star, Ltd of India. Mr.
Balachandran, an electrical engineer from the Matitnstitute of Technology in India, holds an MBAMarketing from the Indian Institute
of Management in Ahmedabad, India.

Michael Williams, Ph.D. has served as our Senior Vice President of Engimgeand Chief Technology Officer since Septembeir120
and, prior to that time, as our Senior Vice Presidé Engineering since July 2003 and as Vice Eeagiof Engineering since May 2000.
From March 1996 to January 2000, Dr. Williams sdrae Division President at Radionics, where heneggonsible for all software-based
products, including treatment planning and imagielgnl surgery. Prior to Radionics, he served asngmeer at Hughes Aircraft Space &
Communications Group. Dr. Williams received a Brphysics and mathematics from University of Pugetind and an M.S. and Ph.D. in
Physics from Brown University.

David E. Goodman, M.D.has served as a member of our Board of Directacesiune 2004. Dr. Goodman currently serves as an
independent consultant and practicing physiciamigu2010, Dr. Goodman has served as PresidenChaief Executive Officer of SEDIine,
Inc., a research-focused company with the missi@xpand the scope and applications for neuromamgtoFrom 2008 to 2009, Dr.
Goodman served as Executive Vice President of Bssibevelopment for Masimo Corporation, a manufactof non-invasive patient
monitors. From 2006 to 2008, Dr. Goodman serveshasdependent consultant providing product desiggulatory and analytical consulti
services to medical device and biopharmaceuticalpemies and also served in this capacity from 20@904 and from 2001 to 2002. From
2005 to 2006, Dr. Goodman served as President hied Executive Officer of BaroSense, Inc., a meditmvice company focused on
developing minimally invasive devices for the lomegm treatment of obesity. From 2004 to 2005, Dyo@nan served as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Interventional Therapeutic &@ns, Inc., an implantable drug delivery syst@mspany. From 2002 to 2003, Dr.
Goodman served as Chairman, President and Chieuixe Officer of Pherin Pharmaceuticals, a phameméical discovery and development
company. From 1994 to 2001, Dr. Goodman held varpmsitions, including Chief Executive Officer, €hMedical Officer and director, for
LifeMasters Supported SelfCare, Inc., a diseaseagement services company that Dr. Goodman fouridledsoodman also serves as a
director of Sound Surgical Technologies LLC, a grevmanufacturer of aesthetic surgical tools. Rro@nan holds a B.A.S. in applied
science and bioengineering and a M.S.E. in bioamging from the University of Pennsylvania. He aksceived an M.D. from Harvard
Medical School and the HarvaM4.T. Division of Health Sciences and Technolo@e Board has concluded that Dr. Goodman shouig
as a director because Dr. Goodman’s medical anmhesgng background and his many years of execethperience in the medical device
industry provide important experience and expettsthe Board.

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D. has served as a member of our Board of Directaresianuary 2006. From December 2010 through gsept,
Dr. Hinkle has served as the Chief Medical OffistEMVP Health Care, a not-for-profit health insurBr. Hinkle was the Chief Medical
Officer and Senior Vice President for Tufts HedMan in Massachusetts, a health insurance prowidete he was responsible for medical
management programs and initiatives from 2004 @2@rior to becoming the Chief Medical OfficerTaffts Health Plan, Dr. Hinkle was
Senior Medical Director and Vice President of He&tare Quality, Policy and Innovations at Blue GrB&ue Shield of Massachusetts, a
health insurance provider, from 2001 through Sep@wm004. From 1995 to 2001, Dr. Hinkle was thee€Medical Officer and Senior Vice
President of Quality—Healthcare Management for &niiBlue Cross Blue Shield of New Hampshire and att Thornton Plan, health
insurance provider organizations. Dr. Hinkle hasr®0 years of experience in the healthcare f2fdHinkle received a B.S. from the
University of Massachusetts at Amherst and an Nr@n Albert Einstein College of Medicine in New YoiHe is board certified in pediatr
and anesthesiology and is an Associate Professanedgthesiology and Pediatrics at Dartmouth Medszdiool. He also owns several U.S.
patents on medical devices. The Board has concliidegdr. Hinkle should serve as a director bec&usélinkle’s years of experience as a
physician and in executive positions in the hemitlurance industry provide the Board with valuabeghts in the areas of product
development and reimbursement.
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Nancy E. Katzhas served as a member of our Board of DirectaredDecember 2010. Since May 2011, Ms. Katz hasdears Vice
President, Consumer Marketing and Market Developgratekledtronic, Inc., a medical technology compdafmpm July 2005 to July 2010,
Ms. Katz was Senior Vice President, Bayer Diab&ase—North America. Prior to this position , sheswaesident and Chief Executive
Officer of Calypte Biomedical Corporation, a maraitaer of HIV diagnostics, President of Zila Phacenatical, Inc, a manufacturer of oral
care products, and held senior marketing positiagitts the Lifescan division of Johnson & Johnsoro@a glucose diabetes products),
Schering-Plough Healthcare Products, and with AtaerHome Products. She has previously served oBahels of Directors of Neoprobe
Corporation (AMEX: NEOP) , Calypte Biomedical Corption, LXN Corporation and Pepgen Corporation. &oeived a B.S. in business
from the University of South Florid@he Board has concluded that Ms. Katz should sasva director because her experience in diabete
and marketing into the diabetes sector providesaldé insight to the Board and management in aabvales strategy.

Charles R. LaMantia has served as a member of our Board of DirectarsedNovember 2004. In July 1999, Mr. LaMantia eatifrom
the position of Chief Executive Officer, ChairmamdaPresident of Arthur D. Little, Inc, a worldwigeofessional service company with
activities in management consulting, technology aratiuct development, and environmental, healthsafety. Mr. LaMantia served as Ct
Executive Officer, and President of Arthur D. Laétfrom July 1988 to July 1999. From October 1986uily 1988, Mr. LaMantia held the
position of President and Chief Operating OfficeAgthur D. Little. From 1981 to 1986, Mr. LaMants&rved as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Koch Process Systems, Inc.ingggrated engineering and manufacturing compawyed by Koch Industries. From
1977 to 1981, Mr. LaMantia served as Vice Presictenharge of Arthur D. Little ' s Chemical and M#urgical Engineering business. Mr.
LaMantia currently serves on the Board of DirectirState Street Corporation (NYSE: STT) . Mr. Laitla received a B.A., B.S., M.S., and
Sc.D. in chemical engineering from Columbia Uniitgrand completed the Advanced Management Progrfadaosard Business School. He
was a Sloan Foundation Fellow, a National SciermenBation Fellow, and is a member of Phi Beta KagpphTau Beta Pi. He served as an
officer in the United States Navy. The Board hascteded that Mr. LaMantia should serve as a dirdotzause Mr. LaMantia ' s extensive
corporate leadership experience and public compaayd experience provides the Board with valuaiblenice, accounting and executive
management experience.

Timothy R. Surgenor has served as a member of our Board of Directareshpril 2009. Since April 2009, Mr. Surgenor esn a
partner at Red Sky Partners, LLC, a provider ofegalhmanagement consulting services to the biotdolgy and medical device industries.
From 2003 to 2009, Mr. Surgenor served as Presi@dnef Executive Officer and director of Cyberkies Neurotechnology Systems (OTC:
CYKN.PK) , a medical device company. From Janu®&$99lto January 2003, Mr. Surgenor was Executive Yiesident at Haemonetics
Corporation, which is a medical device companyn®94 to 1999, Mr. Surgenor was President of Geezyissue Repair, the cell therapy
division of Genzyme Corporation. Previously, Mrr&enor was Executive Vice President and Chief RireOfficer of BioSurface
Technology, Inc. and also held various positionsgerations at Integrated Genetics. Mr. Surgermeived a B.A. in Biochemistry from
Williams College and an M.B.A. from Harvard Busisechool. The Board has concluded that Mr. Surgsinould serve as a director
because Mr. Surgenor ' s long career in the medieagice and biotechnology business as both angretreur and in senior executive
positions in public companies provides the Boartthwnportant industry experience as well as valedinlance, accounting and executive
management expertise.

BOARD MATTERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatis amended, provides for a classified boadire€tors consisting of three stagge
classes of directors (Class |, Class Il and ClaisTihe members of each class of our Board of @o&s serve for staggered three-year terms,
with the terms of our Class I, Class Il and Cldkditectors expiring upon the election and quaéfion of directors at the annual meetings of
stockholders to be held in 2014, 2012, and 20k aetively. Currently:

» our Class | directors are Allen J. Hinkle, M.D. arichothy R. Surgena
» our Class Il directors are Shai N. Gozani, M.D.,lRtand Charles R. LaMantia,; ¢
e our Class lll directors are David E. Goodman, MaBd Nancy E. Kat

Our Board of Directors has determined that Dr. Goad, Dr. Hinkle, Mr. LaMantia, Mr. Surgenor, and .Nk&tz are independent
directors for purposes of the corporate governanies contained in the NASDAQ Marketplace RulegherNASDAQ rules. In making the
independence determination with respect to Mr. Suwg, our Board of Directors considered Mr. Surg&sngervice to us as a consultant
described below under Item 13, “Certain Relatiopslaind Related Transactions, and Director IndepeedeTransactions with Related
Persons”.
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Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, anpensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corpdalvernance Committee.

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Surge Chairman, and Dr. Goodman and Mr. LaMantiae Aladit Committee operates
pursuant to a charter that was approved by ourddoBDirectors, a copy of which is available on aebsite ahttp://www.neurometrix.com
under the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptCorporate Governance”. The purposes of the d@dmmittee are to, among other
functions, assist the Board of Directors in oveirsg¢he operation of a comprehensive system ofrialecontrols covering the integrity of our
financial statements and reports, compliance vaitts| regulations and corporate policies, and ttadifgpations, performance and
independence of our registered public accountimy fiDr. Goodman and Messrs. LaMantia and Surgareall “independent” as that term is
defined in the rules of the SEC and the applicAlASDAQ rules relating to audit committee memberar Board of Directors has determir
that Messrs. LaMantia and Surgenor each qualifigadit committee financial experts” as such tesndéfined in the rules of the SEC. The
Audit Committee held five meetings during 2011.

Procedures by which Stockholders may Nominate Dird¢ors

There have been no changes to the proceduresshsdiio our proxy statement for the 2011 annual imgeff stockholders by which
stockholders may nominate directors.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct ands&tiat applies to all of our directors, officersl@mployees, including our
principal executive officer, principal financialffer, principal accounting officer or controllenédpersons performing similar functions. A
current copy of the Code of Business Conduct ahét&is available on our websitehdtp://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading
“Investor Relations” and subheading “Corporate Goaace,” and we intend to disclose on this welmiteamendment to, or waiver of, any
provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Bthpplicable to our directors or executive officiat would otherwise be required to be
disclosed under the SEC rules, to the extent perdyiby the NASDAQ rules. A current copy of the €ad Business Conduct and Ethics r
also be obtained, without charge, upon written estjdirected to us at: NeuroMetrix, Inc., 62 Fouktlenue, Waltham, Massachusetts 02451,
Attention: Compliance Officer.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctiims and executive officers and holders of moas th0% of our common stock
(collectively, “Reporting Persons”) to file witheétSEC initial reports of ownership and reportsharges in ownership of our common stock.
Such Reporting Persons are required by regulatibtiee SEC to furnish us with copies of all sudim§js. Our records reflect that all reports
which were required to be filed pursuant to Secli6(a) of the Exchange Act were filed on a timehgis, except that 12 Forms 4 were not
filed on a timely basis as a result of administ&agrror for three transactions for each of Dr.iShasozani, Thomas T. Higgins, Guy
Daniello, and Dr. Michael Williams in connectionttvihe surrender of restricted shares upon vesfisgich restricted shares to pay taxes.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be coimtad in our definitive proxy statement for our 204@nual Meeting of Stockholders
under the captions “Compensation of Executive @fSt and “Director Compensation Table - 2011” amdhcorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficialOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Matts
PRINCIPAL AND MANAGEMENT STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning beneficial ownership as of February208,2, except as noted below, of our
common stock by:

» each of our director
» each of our named executive offic
» all of our directors and executive officers as augr, an

» each stockholder known by us to beneficially owrrenthan five percent of our common stc
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The number of common shares “beneficially ownedehgh stockholder is determined under rules isbydtle SEC regarding the
beneficial ownership of securities. This informatie not necessarily indicative of beneficial owstep for any other purpose. Under these
rules, beneficial ownership of common stock inckifle) any shares as to which the person or erditysble or shared voting power or
investment power and (2) any shares as to whicpehgon or entity has the right to acquire bengficiwnership within 60 days after
February 15, 2012, including any shares that cbalgurchased by the exercise of options or war@nts within 60 days after February 15,
2012. Each stockholder’s percentage ownershipsedan 12,430,905 shares of our common stock odiistas of February 15, 2012 plus
the number of shares of common stock that may geiexl by such stockholder upon exercise of optmnsarrants that are exercisable o
within 60 days after February 15, 2012.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowleddlepersons named in the table have sole votimgimrestment power with respect to
their shares of common stock, except to the extetitority is shared by spouses under communityeptppaws.

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership

Percent

Common of Class of
Name and Address(1) of Beneficial Owne Stock Options(2) Total Total
Directors and Executive Officers
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. 154,42 57,35 211,77¢ 1.7%
David E. Goodman, M.C — 9,12/ 9,12 *
Allen Hinkle, M.D. — 9,95¢ 9,95¢ *
Nancy E. Katz — 1,77( 1,77(C *
Charles R. LaManti — 9,12¢ 9,12¢ *
Timothy R. Surgenc — 3,95¢ 3,95¢ *
Krishnamurthy Balachandrz 3,94¢ 8,20¢ 12,15¢ *
Guy Daniello 4,65¢ 29,92( 34,57¢ *
Thomas T. Higgin: 4,80¢ 8,201 13,01: *
Michael Williams, Ph.D 4,42¢ 31,42¢ 35,85¢ s
All Current Directors and Executive Officers asraup
(10 persons) 172,27( 169,04! 341,31! 2 7%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding slude@mmon stock.
(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of etmtkholder is c/o NeuroMetrix, Inc., 62 Fourthelwe, Waltham, Massachusetts 02451.

(2) Includes all options that are exercisable owitin 60 days from February15, 2012 by the benafiowner, except as otherwise noted.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2011 regarding the number of secutiié® issued upon exercise, and the
weighted average exercise price of outstandingoptiwarrants, and rights under our equity comgenmsplans and the number of securities
available for future issuance under our equity cengation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2011

Weighted Number of securities
average remaining
Number of securities exercise price of available for future
to be issued upon outstanding issuance under equity
exercise of options, compensation plans
outstanding options, warrants (excluding securities
warrants and rights and rights reflected in column a)
(@) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsl
1) 326,090 $ 13.9¢ 261,5842)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders(3) 12,50( 1.6C 70,83
Totals 338,59° $ 13.4: 332,41

(1) Includes information related to our Amended &edtated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock FAarended and Restated 1998 Equity
Incentive Plan, Third Amended and Restated 2004kSfiption and Incentive Plan, and 2010 EmployeelSRurchase Plan.

(2) As of December 31, 2011, there were 255,33€eshavailable for future grant under the Third Adhethand Restated 2004 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan and 6,254 shares available uhde2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. No new gt@ants or awards will be made
under the Amended and Restated 1996 Stock OptistriRted Stock Plan or the Amended and Restate8l E§@ity Incentive Plan.

(3) Includes information related to our 2009 Nonafified Inducement Stock Plan, which is designedrtmvide equity grants to new
employees.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transations, and Director Independence
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Mr. Surgenor joined our Board of Directors in Afd09. During 2009 we paid Red Sky Partners, Li(Red Sky, a total of $49,000 {
various consulting services related to the techmolee had acquired from Cyberkinetics. Mr. Surgemas a partner of Red Sky when we
made such payments. Red Sky has provided no senaaes since 2009 and we have made no paymeResd&ky since 2009.

Pursuant to our audit committee charter curremtlgffect, the audit committee is responsible fera®ing and approving, prior to our
entry into any such transaction, all transactiong/lich we are a participant and in which any partelated to us has or will have a direct or
indirect material interest.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

See Item 10, “Directors, Executive Officers andfitwate Governance - Board Matters and CorporatefGance”.
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ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
ACCOUNTING FEES

Aggregate fees for professional services rendeydericewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the years endegmber 31, 2011 and 2010 an
follows:

Audit Fees

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofegsional services rendered for the 2011 audiuofannual financial statements
and the review of the financial statements incluhealur quarterly reports on Form 10-Q totaled $808, of which $265,000 was billed in
2011 and $143,000 was billed in 2012.

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPpfofessional services rendered for the 2010 adiditpannual financial statements
and the review of the financial statements incluisheolur quarterly reports on Form 10-Q totaled $8©0, of which $310,000 was billed in
2010 and $160,000 was billed in 2011.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit related fees for Pricewated@@ospers LLP in 2011 and 2010.
All Other Fees

Fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for servidesrdhan audit-related services were $21,800 fad 2and included fees of $20,000
in connection with our Corporate Integrity Agreemeith the Office of Inspector General of the Uditstates Department of Health and
Human Services regarding the previously-disclosedstigation into certain of our past sales andketarg practices relating to our NC-stat
System and $1,800 for a software subscription tseeview accounting literature.

Fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for servidesrdhan audit-related services were $21,800 fa02and included fees of $20,000
in connection with our Corporate Integrity Agreemeith the Office of Inspector General of the Uditstates Department of Health and
Human Services regarding the previously-disclosedstigation into certain of our past sales andketarg practices relating to our NC-stat
System and $1,800 for a software subscription tseeview accounting literature.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee approved all audit and non-aselivices provided to us by PricewaterhouseCodgdPsduring the 2011 and 2010
fiscal years.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(@) 1. Financial Statement

The consolidated financial statements are listatiéraccompanying index to financial statementpage F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedt

The Schedule on page S-1 is filed as part of #psnt. Othefinancial statement schedules required under tais bnd Item 8 are omitt
because they are not applicable or the requirextrimdtion is shown in the consolidated financialesteents or the footnotes thereto.

3. Exhibit Index

The following is a list of exhibits filed as parftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit Number

Description

2.1

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.2.1

3.2.2

4.1

42.1

4.2.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.2.1

10.2.2

Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 7, 20@8dbpetween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Advanced DiagosstLC

()

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporeof NeuroMetrix, Inc.(6

Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Guative Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per 4a
Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténzrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated Septembg2011(18
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of NeuroMetrix(6)

Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and RestatedvByd& NeuroMetrix, Inc.(3

Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stoc

Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of Mar@9G7, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American Stonsfer &
Trust Company, as Rights Agent

Amendment to Shareholder Rights Agreement, datpteBwer 8, 2009, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Acaer Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent(

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant |

Form of First Addendum to Common Stock Purchaser@vidissued to investors pursuant to Securitiestaise
Agreements dated September 8, 2009

Form of Unit Warrant to purchase Common Stock

Form of Placement Agent Warrant(z

Lease Agreement, dated October 18, 2000, betweemnh-Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(

Amendment Number One to Lease, dated FebruaryQ®B, between Fourth Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, (16)
Loan and Security Agreement between NeuroMetrig, &aimd Comerica Bank, dated March 5, 2010

First Modification to Loan and Security Agreemeptween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Comerica Bank, dateatdi 1, 2011
(16)
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Exhibit Number

Description

10.3+
10.4.1+
10.4.3+
10.5+
10.6.1+

10.6.2+

10.7+
10.8+
10.9+
10.10.1+

10.10.2+

10.10.3+

10.10.4+

10.11.1+

10.11.2+

10.12.1+
10.12.2+
10.13.1+
10.13.2+
10.14.1+

10.14.2+

10.15

10.16t

Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/RestridisckFlan(1)
Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Ple

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998yHquéntive Plan(1
Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionneedtive Plan(8
Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option acehnitive Plan(10

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant tofthied Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option acenitive Plan
(16)

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan|

2009 Nor-Qualified Inducement Stock Plan(z

Form of Indemnification Agreement between NeuroMelnc. and each of its directors(

Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by ahwlden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N. Gozani, MEh,D.(1)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated Déezi1, 2008, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. 8hdi N.
Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.(9

Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,ruy/teetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., and Neuroiddnc.(1)

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (pursuant toAheended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive
Plan), dated as of June 21, 2004, by and betwean\SIGozani M.D., Ph.D., and NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008 betweanmdWéetrix, Inc. and Michael Williams, Ph.D.(1

First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlieP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Michaelldfms,
Ph.D.(9)

Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008, betweamrdMetrix, Inc. and Guy Daniello(1.

First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlieP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Guy D4n({e)
Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2009, betweamr®detrix, Inc. and Thomas T. Higgins(1

Indemnification Agreement, dated September 10, 269@nd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Thomas TBgitis(12)
Letter Agreement, dated January 20, 2010, betwesmdWetrix, Inc. and Krishnamurthy Balachandran(

Indemnification Agreement, dated April 19, 2010,dnd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and KrishnamurthyaBaandran
(16)

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated Séete®) 2009 between the Company and each invesic

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as ofustg, 2006, by and between Parlex Polymer Flexiieuits, Inc
and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(2
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Exhibit Number Description

10.17 Deferred Prosecution Agreement dated February @ B§ and between NeuroMetrix, Inc and the Unitedes
Attorney's Office for the District of Massachusetts

10.18 Settlement Agreement and Release dated Febru@g09,by and among NeuroMetrix, Inc. and the Un@éates of
America acting through the United States Attornédfice for the District of Massachusetts and tH&d®@ of Inspector
General of the United States Department of Healthkduman Services(*

10.19.1 Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix,dnd. Dawson James Securities, Inc., dated Decenth@031(21,
First Amendment to Engagement Letter by and betvidmmroMetrix, Inc. and Dawson James Securities, bhated
10.19.2 January 30, 2012(2:

10.20 Form of Locl-Up Agreement(21

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an indepmelgistered public accounting fir

*31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

*31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

*32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 9@6he Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from NeuroMetrixicl’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2011,

formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reportingngaage); (i) Balance Sheets as of December 31, 20d 2010,
(i) Statements of Operations for the years endedember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, (iii) Statemain@hanges in
Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended Decemtie2811, 2010, and 2009, (iv) Statements of Castvé-for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009yahtbtes to Financial Statements.

* Filed herewitt

* Pursuant to Rule 406T of RegulationTSthe Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 herate deemed not filed or part of a registra
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendesidaemed not filed for purpos
of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Adi9¥4, as amended, and otherwise are not subjéabtlity under those section

+ Indicates management contract or any compensalany gontract or arrangeme

T Portions of this Exhibit were omitted and have b#led separately with the Secretary of the SEGspant to the Registrant’s
application requesting confidential treatment thér

Q) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;iRegistration Statement on Form S-1 filed oryNI3, 2004, as amended
(Registration No. 33-115440).

(2 Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,'fCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on AuguseR06 (File No. 000-50856).
Confidential treatment has been granted with repecertain portions of this Exhibit, which por®have been omitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conmonigs part of an application for confidential treant pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,' ;iCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Septembér2007 (File No. 001-
33351).

(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,'s Form +A12(b) filed on March 8, 2007 (File No. C-33351).

(5) Incorporated hereby by reference to NeuroMetrig,"nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februa@y 2009 (File No. 001-

33351).

(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, fRegistration Statement on Form S-8 filed omgéat 9, 2004 (File No. 333-
118059).

@) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, ;1Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Novembér 2008 (File No. 001-

33351).



(8) Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A BuMdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule fi%l on April 25, 2008
(File No. 00:-33351).

9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 20, 2009 (File No. 0-33351).
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(10)

(11)
(12)
(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)
(17)

(18)

(19)

(20)

(21)

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule il on April 24, 2009
(File No. 00-33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,’s Current Report on Forn-K filed September 14, 2009 (File No. (-33351).
Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, nCurrent Report on Forn-K filed September 15, 2009 (File No. (-33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, fiQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Novembgy 2009 (File No. 001-
33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 6, 2008 (File No. (-33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;iCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2008 (File No. 001-
33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on May 14, 2010 (File No. 0-33351).
Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A BuMdMetrix, Inc’'s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on Apr2@&10.

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, 51Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Septembe2011 (File No. 001-
33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 3, 2011 (File No. 0-33351).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, ;Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed oneJ8, 2009 (File No. 333-
159712).

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, fRegistration Statement on Forni $iled on November 23, 2011, as amen
(Registration No. 3z-178165).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.

By: /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi

Date: February 24, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant on February 24, 2012 in the citipadndicated below.

Name Title
/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.L (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer diréasurer
Thomas T. Higgin: (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourgi Officer)
/s/ DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D. Director

David E. Goodman, M.C

/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D. Director
Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.

/s NANCY E. KATZ Director
Nancy E. Katz

/sl CHARLES R. LAMANTIA Director
Charles R. LaManti

/s/ TIMOTHY R. SURGENOF Director
Timothy R. Surgena
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of N&etix, Inc. :

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetstandelated statements of operations, of changstckholders’ equity, and of cash
flows present fairly, in all material respects, filancial position of NeuroMetrix, Inc. at Decemt®d, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows farheaf the three years in the period ended Dece®ibe2011 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. In addition, in our opinion, the finaalcstatement schedule listed in the
accompanying index presents fairly, in all materéspects, the information set forth therein wheadrin conjunction with the related
financial statements. These financial statemerdgfiaancial statement schedule are the responsyibifithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements and financial statement schdshged on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance withttmelards of the Public Company Accounting Oversiydrd (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &igntfestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

February 24, 2012
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Balance Sheets

December 31

2011 2010
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 10,290,44 $ 16,986,80
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $299 &id $405,965 at December 31, 2011 and 20
respectively 909,71¢ 1,592,56.
Inventories 1,763,70! 2,412,80!
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 493,42: 603,82:
Current portion of deferred costs 38,02 81,19/
Total current asse 13,495,30 21,677,19
Restricted cas 229,50( 408,00(
Fixed assets, ni 483,53( 731,97!
Intangible assets, n — 210,00(
Deferred costs and other long-term assets 12,44: 39,26!
Total assets $ 14,220,788 $ 23,066,42
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 629,21 $ 259,15!
Accrued compensatic 929,11° 683,04¢
Accrued expense 1,222,15! 1,227,79
Current portion of deferred reven 212,10¢ 468,32
Current portion of capital lease obligation 20,32: 19,09:
Total current liabilities 3,012,911 2,657,41.
Deferred revenue, net of current port 101,41 171,79°
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion 17,92¢ 38,24¢
Total liabilities 3,132,26: 2,867,45
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 starg®rized, none outstandi — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 awbdri3,904,320 and 3,866,256 shares issut
and outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010ectgply 39C 387
Additional paic-in capital 139,673,52 138,802,87
Accumulated deficit (128,585,39) (118,604,28)
Total stockholders’ equity 11,088,52 20,198,97
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 14,220,78 $ 23,066,42

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Years Ended December

2011 2010 2009
Revenue! $ 10,396,77 $ 13,899,677 $ 26,137,02
Cost of revenues 4,722,06! 7,050,20! 7,535,61
Gross margir 5,674,701 6,849,46. 18,601,41
Operating expense
Research and developm 3,877,52 5,855,35! 5,611,29
Sales and marketir 6,688,59. 11,072,17 10,840,34
General and administrative 5,111,61 7,231,87! 9,119,00
Total operating expenses 15,677,73 24,159,40 25,570,63
Loss from operation (10,003,02) (17,309,93) (6,969,22)
Interest and other incon 21,92: 298,30: 226,86:
Warrants fair value adjustment — — (5,175,13)
Net loss before taxe (9,981,109 (17,011,63) (11,917,50)
Income tax benefit — 120,49( —
Net loss $ (9,981,10) $ (16,891,14) $ (11,917,50)
Net loss per common share data, basic and di $ 259 $ (440 $ (4.26)
Weighted average shares used to compute net los®penon share 3,855,08! 3,837,58. 2,797,301

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2C

Stock issued in private placem

Issuance of stock from stock option pl:

Stocl-based compensation expel

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Other issuances of stock from option p

Issuance of stock to consultal

Warrants fair value adjustme

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of stock from stock option pl:

Stocl-based compensation expel

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Other issuances of stock from option p

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2010

Other issuances of stock from option p

Stocl-based compensation expel

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2011

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

Additional
Number Paid-In Accumulated
of Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

2,309,790 $ 231 $ 112,62795 $ (89,795,63) $ 22,832,55
1,469,42i 147 17,217,87. — 17,218,02
2,07: — 23,67 — 23,67
— — 2,035,33! — 2,035,33!
20,33t 2 80,52 — 80,52¢
18,31¢ 2 164,63( — 164,63:
8,33: 1 97,49¢ — 97,50(
— — 5,175,13! — 5,175,13

— — — (11,917,50) (11,917,50)
3,828,27i 388 137,422,62 (101,713,13) 35,709,87
97¢ — 10,27: — 10,27:

— — 1,184,57 — 1,184,571
19,46 2 162,56: — 162,56:
17,53¢ 2 22,84: — 22,84:
— — — (16,891,14) (16,891,14)
3,866,25! 387 138,802,87 (118,604,28) 20,198,97
14,05( 1 (@) — _
— — 837,04( — 837,04(
24,01« 2 33,61: — 33,61«
— — — (9,981,10) (9,981,10)
3,904,320 $ 39C $ 139,673,652 $(128,585,39) $ 11,088,52

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfinancial statements.




NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cash flows for operating activities:
Net loss $ (9,981,10) $ (16,891,14) $ (11,917,50)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 376,93: 523,75t 578,66t
Intangible asset impairme 192,50( — —
Stoclk-based compensatic 837,04( 1,184,57! 2,132,83!
Inventory charge 98,55¢ 2,075,49. 363,90:
Warrants fair value adjustme — — 5,175,13
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl 682,84¢ 1,733,76 103,12:
Inventories 550,54¢ 71,30¢ 683,29¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 110,40( (199,109 (90,92))
Accounts payabl 370,06( (827,79) 885,67
Legal settlemer — — (3,705,861
Accrued expenses and compensa 240,43: (753,99) (120,039
Deferred revenue, deferred costs, and other (256,609 (223,97() (225,396
Net cash used in operating activit (6,778,39) (13,307,11) (6,137,08)
Cash flows for investing activities:
Purchases of investmer — — (7,495,00i)
Maturities of investment — 7,495,00! 7,495,00!
Purchases of fixed asst (110,98) (306,45) (342,11H
Purchase of technological and intellectual prop — — (350,000
Release of restricted cash 178,50( — —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 67,51 7,188,54! (692,119
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock andawesrincluding private
placement and equity pla 33,61 195,67¢ 17,486,84
Payments on capital lease (19,097 (27,71%) (22,527
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,52; 167,96« 17,464,32
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (6,696,36) (5,950,60) 10,635,12
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 16,986,80 22,937,41 12,302,228
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 10,290,44 $ 16,986,80 $ 22,937,441
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Equipment acquired under capital lease, net $ — 3 60,41( $ —
Common stock issued to consultants $ —  $ —  $ 97,50(
Warrants issued in Securities Purchase Agreement $ —  $ — $ 14,496,62

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentatic

NeuroMetrix, Inc., or the Company, a Delaware coaion, was founded in June 1996. The Companynigdical device company
focused on the diagnosis and treatment of the fegioal complications of diabetes. It believes timsubstantial experience in developing
medical devices to measure and alter peripherakrfenction uniquely position it to address unmetimal needs related to diabetic
neuropathy. Neuropathy is a common and seriousngfainful, complication of diabetes that may leatbot ulcers and limb amputation. 1
Company has over a decade of experience in netmppatection starting with approval in 1999 by thated States Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, of the NC-stat System, antef-care device for the performance of genetappse nerve conduction studies. The
Company currently markets products for the detectifiagnosis, and monitoring of diabetic neuropettsiuch as diabetic peripheral
neuropathy and median neuropathy (carpal tunnersyne).

In September 2011, the Company launched its irdtabetes product, NC-stat DPNCheck, a rapid, logt,anodified version of its NC-
stat device designed to assess systemic neuropathich as diabetic peripheral neuropathy, or ®lhe point-of-care. Sales efforts are
focused on the endocrinology and podiatry launctketaThe Company’s product development pipelireduides a therapeutic device to treat
the painful effects of diabetic neuropathy.

The Company’s ADVANCE™ NCS/EMG System, or the ADVBH System, also cleared by the FDA, is a compréhempsatform for
the performance of traditional nerve conductiorlis and invasive electromyography procedures.Gdrapany focuses its sales efforts for
the ADVANCE System on physician offices and clinithe ADVANCE System is comprised of: (1) varioypds of electrodes and needles,
(2) the ADVANCE device and related modules, anda(8pmmunication hub that enables the physiciaffisecto network their device to the
Company'’s servers for data archiving, report geierand other network services. The Company dog#tend to support its original nerve
conduction study product, the NC-stat System, bdyhbe first quarter of 2012 and therefore it isiigioning its NC-stat customers to the
ADVANCE System.

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $iilliBn as of December 31, 2011. On February 13,2the Company closed a
public securities offering that generated $8.5iillin gross proceeds and, after transaction ayisees, yielded approximately $7.5 million
in net proceeds. The Company believes that theseirees and the cash to be generated from expetddct sales will be sufficient to meet
its projected operating requirements for at ldastriext twelve months. The Company continues te $gnificant challenges and
uncertainties and, as a result, the Company’s availcapital resources may be consumed more raghidiycurrently expected due to (a)
decreases in sales of the Company’s products andritertainty of future revenues from new produ@schanges the Company may make
to the business that affect ongoing operating esg&nc) changes the Company may make in its lassteategy; (d) regulatory
developments affecting the Company’s existing potsland delays in the FDA approval process for pctsdunder development; (e) changes
in the Company’s research and development spemdiamg; and (f) other items affecting the Compaifigtecasted level of expenditures and
use of cash resources. Accordingly, the Companyne#éd to raise additional funds to support itsrafieg and capital needs. The Company
may attempt to obtain additional funding throughblpuor private financing, collaborative arrangensanith strategic partners, or through
additional credit lines or other debt financing Is@s to increase the funds available to fund ojmersit However, the Company may not be
able to secure such financing in a timely manndr@nfavorable terms, if at all. Furthermore, & tBiompany issues equity or debt securities
to raise additional funds, its existing stockhotderay experience dilution, and the new equity dxt decurities may have rights, preferences
and privileges senior to those of its existing khadders. If the Company raises additional funasulgh collaboration, licensing or other
similar arrangements, it may be necessary to neléigvaluable rights to its potential products mppietary technologies, or grant licenses on
terms that are not favorable to the Company. Witlaiditional funds, the Company may be forced faydescale back or eliminate some of
its sales and marketing efforts, research and dpwent activities, or other operations and potéwtifelay product development in an effort
to provide sufficient funds to continue its opewas. If any of these events occurs, the Comparjlgyato achieve its development and
commercialization goals would be adversely affected

Certain prior period amounts have been adjustedftect the Company's 1-for-6 reverse stock spe(Note 15, Reverse Stock Split, for
further details).
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith United States generally accepted accounmiggciples requires management to
make significant estimates and assumptions thatttfffie reported amounts of assets and liabitnesdisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeantsl the reported amounts of revenue and expensieg) deporting periods. Actual results
could differ from those estimates .

The Company bases its estimates on historical &pes and various other assumptions that it bedi¢vde reasonable under the
circumstances and regularly assesses these estjratectual results could differ materially fréinese estimates. Effects of changes in
estimates are recorded in the period in which teur.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmensith an original maturity of ninety days or lesshbie cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are recorded at cost which approxinfatesalue. The Company invests cash primarilg imoney market account and other
investments which management believes are sulgjentrtimal credit and market risk.

Restricted Cash

Long-term restricted cash of $229,500 and $4088d@ecember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, scéeed with a facility lease (See
Note 10— Commitments and Contingencies).

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tlhenfany to concentrations of credit risk consistariily of cash and cash equivalent
bank deposit accounts and trade receivables. Thgp&ay invests its funds in highly rated institusand limits its investment in any
individual account so that they do not exceed FIn{ts. The Company has not experienced signifitasses related to cash and cash
equivalents and does not believe it is exposethyosagnificant credit risks relating to its castdarash equivalents.

The Company distributes its products through iteatisales force and independent sales represerstafit December 31, 2011 and 2010
and for the years ended December 31, 2011, 208®@09, no single customer accounted for more 184 of accounts receivable or
revenue.

The Company relies on two third-party manufactutenmanufacture the major portion of its currertddurcts. The disruption or
termination of the supply of these products orgai§icant increase in the cost of these produdmfthese sources could have an adverse
effect on the Company’s business, financial posjtand results of operations.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or ma€@st is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. The Company writes down inventirjts net realizable value for excess or obsaletentory.

Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financialrimsents, which include cash equivalents, accorgusivable, accounts payable, and
accrued expenses approximate their fair value ae®éer 31, 2011 and 2010.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: persuasive evidence of @mgement exists, delivery has
occurred and risk of loss has passed, the sefleics to the buyer is fixed or determinable, anliection is reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEHEc#s to customers and distributors are recognigesh shipment provided that t
selling price is fixed or determinable, persuagvalence of an arrangement exists, collection cdikables is reasonably assured, product
returns are reasonably estimable, and no contimlifigations exist. The revenues from the salenoABVANCE communication hub
together with access to NeuroMetrix informationtsyss are considered one unit of accounting andmef@nd recognized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated period of time that then@my provides the service associated with thenimftion systems of three years. The
resulting deferred revenue and deferred costsrasepted as separate line items on the accompabglagce sheet. Revenues related to
extended service agreements for the devices angmeed ratably over the term of the extended seragreement.
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Revenues associated with the sale of the NC-stitdbieck devices are recognized upon shipment prdtiug the selling price is fixed
or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arraageexists, collection of receivables is reasonaSkured, product returns are reasonably
estimable, and no continuing obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgwingle use nerve specific electrodes, EMG needied other accessories. These
revenues are recognized upon shipment providedtbatelling price is fixed or determinable, peswa evidence of an arrangement exists,
collection of receivables is reasonably assured pmaduct returns are reasonably estimable .

When multiple elements are contained in a singiangement, the Company allocates revenue betweezi¢dments based on their
relative selling prices . The Company determindlingegprice using vendor specific objective evidenor VSOE, if it is available, third-party
evidence, or TPE, if VSOE is not available, and lesimate of selling price, or BESP, if neither®S nor TPE are available. The Company
generally expects that it will not be able to ebshibTPE due to the nature of the markets in witidompetes, and, as such, it will typically
determine selling price using VSOE or if not avialitla BESP. The objective of BESP is to determimesthlling price of a deliverable on a
standalone basis . The Company’s determinationE8mBinvolves a weighting of several factors basethe specific facts and circumstances
of an arrangement. Specifically, the Company carsithe cost to produce the deliverable, the gquatied margin on that deliverable, the
selling price and profit margin for similar parits, ongoing pricing strategy, the value of any erdgments that have been built into the
deliverable, and the characteristics of the varyiragkets in which the deliverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includiagessments of expected returns, allowance for fid@sicounts, and expected
customer relationship periods. The Company analyagsus factors, including a review of specifiartsactions, its historical returns, average
customer relationship periods, customer usageggestbalances, and market and economic conditi@manges in judgments or estimates on
these factors could materially impact the timing amount of revenues and costs recognized. Shoalkletor economic conditions
deteriorate, the Company’s actual return or bad eeperience could exceed its estimate.

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. Certain ptaghies are made with a 30-day right
of return. Since the Company can reasonably estifodéire returns, it recognizes revenues associgitdproduct sales that contain a righ
return upon shipment and at the same time it recarshles return reserve, which reduces revenuacmadints receivable by the amount of
estimated returns.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. Accountsvabks on the balance sheet are
recorded net of the allowance for doubtful accouatgivable and the reserve for estimated retdims.allowance for doubtful accounts is
Company’s best estimate of the amount of probataditclosses in its existing accounts receivable Tompany reviews its allowance for
doubtful accounts and determines the allowancetbasean analysis of customer past payment hisppoduct usage activity, and recent
communications between the Company and the custdast due balances are reviewed individually édlectibility. Account balances are
written-off against the allowance when the Comptesys it is probable the receivable will not beaesred. The Company does not have any
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to issocners.

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asddtadnility method. Deferred income tax assets katdllities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differemetaeen the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and liabilities and their
respective income tax bases, and operating lossaanttedit carryforwards. The Company’s finanesi@tements contain certain deferred tax
assets, which have arisen primarily as a resuipefating losses, as well as other temporary diffees between financial and tax accounting.
In accordance with the provisions of the IncomeeRatopic of the Codification, the Company is reedito establish a valuation allowance if
the likelihood of realization of the deferred tessats is reduced based on an evaluation of obgeetisifiable evidence. Significant
management judgment is required in determiningXbmpany’s provision for income taxes, the Compandgferred tax assets and liabilities
and any valuation allowance recorded against thesdeferred tax assets. The Company evaluateseight of all available evidence to
determine whether it is more likely than not thaing portion or all of the net deferred income taseds will not be realized.
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Utilization of the NOL and research and developnwatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation due to
ownership change limitations that have occurrediptssly or that could occur in the future, as pd®ed by Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as well as similar stateigions. Ownership changes may limit the amount©LNind tax credit carryforwards that
can be utilized to offset future taxable income tnd respectively. In general, an ownership chaagealefined by Section 382, results from
transactions increasing the ownership of certazmediolders or public groups in the stock of a crapion by more than 50 percentage points
over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conitibation of its NOL or tax credits carryforwaravould be subject to an annual
limitation under Section 382. Any limitation maystgt in expiration of a portion of the NOL or resgfaand development credit carryforwa
before utilization. Subsequent ownership changesldorther impact the limitation in future yeaFurther, until a study is completed and
limitation known, no amounts are being presenteanagncertain tax position.

A full valuation allowance has been provided agatine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdeelopment credit
carryforwards and, if an adjustment is required #ujustment would be offset by an adjustmenhéovaluation allowance. Thus, there wa
be no impact to the balance sheet or statemermgarhtions if an adjustment were required.

Management performed a two-step evaluation ofalpositions, ensuring that these tax return pogtimeet the “more likely than not”
recognition threshold and can be measured withcéerfit precision to determine the benefit recogairethe financial statements. These
evaluations provide management with a comprehemsadel for how a company should recognize, meaguesent, and disclose in its
financial statements certain tax positions thatGbenpany has taken or expects to take on incomeetaxns.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and developmetiteo€Ebmpany’s products are expensed as incurrelddied in research and
development costs are wages, benefits, produdariesinsulting, and other operating costs suchaltites, supplies, and overhead directly
related to the Company’s research and developnfiemtse

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg ebshe time of sale which are included in costadés in the statements of
operations. The amount of the accrued warrantylitialis based on historical information such astpexperience, product failure rates,
number of units repaired, and estimated cost oérietand labor. The liabilities for product wartacosts of $32,308 and $45,006 at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, arededun accrued expenses in the accompanying bakdneess.

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecisitegl the straight-line method over the estimatexfuldife of each asset. Expenditures
for repairs and maintenance are charged to exgengeurred. On disposal, the related assets anomadated depreciation are eliminated
from the accounts and any resulting gain or logsdleided in the Company’s statement of operatibeasehold improvements are amortized
over the shorter of the estimated useful life &f ithhprovement or the remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetghifi its fixed assets and other long-lived assdtenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an event of impairmes¢ have occurred. This periodic review may resuéin adjustment of estimated
depreciable lives or asset impairment. When indisabf impairment are present, the carrying vahfdle asset are evaluated in relation to
the assets operating performance and future undgised cash flows of the underlying assets. If titare undiscounted cash flows are less
than their book value, an impairment may exist. ifiygairment is measured as the difference betweehaook value and the fair value of the
underlying asset. Fair values are based on essnoéthie market prices and assumptions concerhimginount and timing of estimated fut
cash flows and assumed discount rates, reflectinging degrees of perceived risk.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is generally recednitably over the requisite service period. Thenfany uses the Black-Scholes
option pricing model for determining the fair valokits stock options and amortizes its stock-basadpensation expense using the straight-
line method. The Black-Scholes model requires aegasumptions that involve judgment. Such assumgptare the expected share price
volatility, expected life of options, expected aahdividend yield, and risk-free interest rate (Skxte 3 — Stock-Based Compensation and

Equity).
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Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyinet loss by the weighted average number ofntomshares outstanding during
the period. Unvested restricted shares, althouggilieissued and outstanding, are not consideréstanding for purposes of calculating basic
net loss per share. Diluted net loss per commoreseaomputed by dividing net loss by the weigtdedrage number of common shares
outstanding during the period plus the dilutiveeeffof outstanding instruments such as optionsramés, and restricted stock. Because the
Company has reported a net loss attributable tavoamstockholders for all periods presented, dillbsd per common share is the same as
basic loss per common share, as the effect ofintjithe fully diluted share count would have restlithe net loss per common share.
Therefore, in calculating net loss per share anguhe following shares underlying potentially tile common stock equivalents were
excluded from the calculation of diluted net incopge common share because their effect was antivdi for each of the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Options 548,46 534,47 510,95(
Warrants 1,430,48 1,430,48! 446,78(
Total 1,978,94. 1,964,95; 957,73(

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed@siied. Advertising and promotion expense was BH $256,000, and $274,00(
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and g8 ctively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive | tems

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 aryj #8©Company had no components of other compséheimcome or loss other
than net loss.

Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the sateedical equipment and consumables. Substantitibf the Company’s assets,
revenues, and expenses for the years ended Dec8miz11, 2010, and 2009 were located at or déifreen operations in the United
States. Revenues from sales outside the UnitedsSaatounted for approximately 6% of total revernn&911 and 2% of total revenues in
each of 2010 and 2009.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to compani#dse medical device industry, including, but fiotited to, development by the
Company or its competitors of new technologicabwations, dependence on key personnel, customensbursement from third-party
payers, protection of proprietary technology, aadhpliance with regulations of the FDA and other gowmental agencies.

In September 2011, the Company commercially lauthth@-stat DPNCheck, which is a rapid, low cost, ified version of its NC-stat
device designed to assess systemic neuropath@saslDPN, at the point-of-care. The Company isdot its initial sales efforts for N&tat
DPNCheck on endocrinologists and podiatrists bexafisheir high concentration of diabetes patiamd focus on DPNTlhe future prospec
of the Company are closely tied to its success Withstat DPNCheck, which depends upon market aaneptand growth in future revenues.

Recently | ssued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Fordel,TF, issued new rules pertaining to the acdogrfor revenue arrangements w
multiple deliverables. The new rules provide apralative method for establishing fair value of Avédeable when vendor specific objective
evidence cannot be determined. The guidance pre¥atehe determination of the best estimate dirggprice to separate deliverables and
allows the allocation of arrangement consideratising this relative selling price model. The guickasupersedes the prior multiple element
revenue arrangement accounting rules. The new goédaas adopted prospectively by the Company bagintanuary 1, 2011. Adoption t
not had a material effect on the Company’s findrat@ements.
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In September 2009, the EITF issued new rules ttudrqa) non-software components of tangible présland (b) software components
of tangible products that are sold, licensed, aséel with tangible products when the software carapts and non-software components of
the tangible product function together to deliver tangible product’ essential functionality . The new guidance waptetl prospectively b
the Company beginning January 1, 2011. Adoptionnoasrad a material effect on the Company’s finalhgatements.

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Stand&aksrd issued Accounting Standards Update No. Z®L0%Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic «—Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measureraenbr ASU 2010-06. ASU 2010-06
requires new disclosures regarding significantdfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2, as well asrinfiion about activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements, including presenting information apatchases, sales, issuances, and settlementgrossaversus a net basis in the Level 3
activity roll forward. In addition, ASU 2010-06 alglarifies existing disclosures regarding inputl @aluation techniques, as well as the level
of disaggregation for each class of assets aniifie®h ASU No. 2010-06 is effective for interirmé annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures ip@rtato purchases, sales, issuances, and settienmetine rollforward of Level 3 activity,
which were effective for interim and annual peribdginning after December 15, 2010. The new guielavees adopted prospectively by the
Company beginning January 1, 2011. Adoption hasadta material effect on the Company’s finandiatesnents.

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsrpar FASB, issued Accounting Standards Updaté&3id, No. 2011-04 “Fair
Value Measurement (Topic 820)—Amendments to AcBierenon Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Rements in U.S. GAAP and
IFRS? , or ASU 2011-04. The amendments in ASU 2011-0dlt@s common fair value measurement and disclosegeirements in GAAP
and International Financial Reporting Standard$FBS. Consequently, the amendments change themgouded to describe many of the
requirements in GAAP for measuring fair value amddisclosing information about fair value measueats. The new guidance is to be
adopted prospectively, effective for interim andiaa periods beginning after December 15, 2011.0tmpany does not believe adoptior
ASU 2011-04 will have a material effect on its ficél statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011*@®mprehensive Income (Topic 220) —PresentatioBahprehensive Income’or
ASU No. 2011-05. ASU No. 2011-05 requires thanathowner changes in stockholders’ equity be preskgither in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdmatt consecutive statements, eliminating the opgtigpresent other comprehensive
income in the statement of changes in equity. Uedtber choice, items that are reclassified froneotomprehensive income to net income
are required to be presented on the face of tlaadial statements where the components of net ia@rd the components of other
comprehensive income are presented. In Decembdr, B8 FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12D¢ferral of the Effective Date for Amendme
to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Iterus @ Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income iéaiing Standards Update No. 2011-
05 ", which defers the requirement within ASU No. 2@BlLto present on the face of the financial statesmtire effects of reclassifications
out of accumulated other comprehensive income ercdmponents of net income and other compreheirsieene for all periods presented.
During the deferral, entities should continue tpamt reclassifications out of accumulated other pghensive income consistent with the
presentation requirements in effect prior to tiseidgce of ASU No. 2011-05. These ASUs are to bptadaetrospectively, effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after DecenmiBef011. The Company does not believe adoptidhesfe ASUs will have a material
effect on its financial statements.

3. Stock-Based Compensation and Equit
Stock-Based Compensation

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocio®jpind Incentive Plan, as amended and restat2@0é, 2008, and 2009 (the
“2004 Stock Plan”). The 2004 Stock Plan, amongrothiags, provides for granting of incentive andhqoalified stock option and stock
bonus awards to officers, employees and outsidsuttamts. Outstanding options under the 2004 Sidak generally vest over three or four
years and terminate 10 years after the grant detsrlier if the option holder is no longer an @xéve officer, employee, consultant, advi
or director, as applicable, of the Company. As eE@mber 31, 2011, 657,672 shares of common stock avthorized for issuance under the
2004 Stock Plan, of which 55,629 shares had bemeds 316,089 shares were subject to outstandimonsmt a weighted average exercise
price of $13.36 per share and 255,330 shares wertakle for future grant. In March 2006, the Comya Board of Directors voted to
discontinue the provision of the 2004 Stock Plaictvtautomatically increased the number of optioralable for grant under the 2004 Stock
Plan based on the net increase in the total nuofaststanding shares of common stock during ttae.ye

During May 2009, the Company adopted the 2009 Naalfjed Inducement Stock Plan (the "2009 Inducenfan”). The 2009
Inducement Plan is intended to encourage and epafjioyees, including prospective employees, oftbmpany upon whose judgment,
initiative, and efforts the Company largely depefudghe successful conduct of its business to mequproprietary interest in the Company.
The 2009 Inducement Plan, among other things, gesvior the granting of awards, including non-dieadi stock options, restricted stock,
and unrestricted stock. As of December 31, 201,833shares of common stock were authorized foaisse under the 2009 Inducement
Plan, of which no shares had been issued, 12,5@Skere subject to outstanding options at a weibfverage exercise price of $1.60 per
share, and 70,833 shares were available for figitaet.
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The exercise price of each stock option issued hee1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified éytard of Directors at the time of
grant. The exercise price of stock options awardetker the 2004 Stock Plan and the 2009 Induceniantrifay not be less than the fair
market value of the common stock on the date obgiteon grant. For holders of more than 10% ofGlmenpany’s total combined voting
power of all classes of stock, incentive stockapmpdimay not be granted at less than 110% of thenfaiket value of the Company’s common
stock at the date of grant and for a term not teeq five years.

In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Emplistaak Purchase Plan (the “2004 ESPP”). All of@menpany’s employees who
had been employed by the Company for at least 8 alad whose customary employment is for more #tahours per week and for more
than five months in any calendar year were eligiblparticipate and any employee who owned 5% aembthe voting power or value of 1
Company’s stock was not eligible to participatee P04 ESPP authorized the issuance of up to leofo®2,500 shares of the Company’s
common stock to participating employees.

Under the 2004 ESPP, participating employees cautlorize the Company to withhold up to 10% ofitle@irnings during consecutive
six-month payment periods for the purchase of tzges. At the conclusion of each period, partigigaémployees could purchase shares at
85% of the lower of their fair market value at tiegginning or end of the period. The 2004 ESPP wgarded as a compensatory plan in
accordance with the provisions of the Compensati®tock Compensation topic of the Codification.ohecember 31, 2009, there were no
remaining shares to be issued under the 2004 ESPP.

In May 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Empl&teek Purchase Plan (the “2010 ESPP”). The 201(PE&fhorizes the issuance
of up to a total of 41,667 shares of the Companghemon stock to participating employees plus aruahimcrease on the first day of each of
the Company's fiscal years beginning in 2011, etjutiie lesser of (i) 41,667 shares, (ii) 1 peradrthe shares of common stock outstanding
on the last day of the immediately preceding figesdr, or (iii) such lesser number of shares atermined by the Board . All of the
Company’s full-time employees and certain part-tengployees are eligible to participate in the 2B8PP. For part-time employees to be
eligible, they must have customary employment ofertban five months in any calendar year and nimae 20 hours per week. Employees
who, after exercising their rights to purchase ebamnder the 2010 ESPP, would own shares repregéi®th or more of the voting power of
the Company’s common stock, are ineligible to piptte.

Under the 2010 ESPP, participating employees ctrodme the Company to withhold up to 10% of theirnings during consecutive six-
month payment periods for the purchase of the shatethe conclusion of each period, participagmgployees can purchase shares at 85
the lower of their fair market value at the begirgnor end of the period. The 2010 ESPP is regaadexicompensatory plan in accordance
with the provisions of the Compensation — Stock @ensation topic of the CodificatioRor the years ended December 31, 2011 and 20:
Company issued 24,539 and 10,874 shares of its constock, respectively, under the 2010 ESPP. A3emember 31, 2011, there were
6,254 remaining shares to be issued under the EGEP.

The Company uses the Bla8licholes option pricing model for determining thie ¥alue of shares of common stock issued or ts&aeec
under the 2004 ESPP and 2010 ESPP. The followisgnastions are used in determining fair value: Tible-free interest rate assumption is
based on the United States Treasury’s constantrityatate for a six month term (corresponding te #xpected option term) on the date the
option was granted. The expected dividend yieltki® because the Company does not currently pagedigs nor expects to do so during the
expected option term. An expected term of six meighused based on the duration of each plan néfgrériod. The volatility assumption is
based on a consideration of stock price volatditgr the most recent period of time correspondinipé expected term and is also based on
expected future stock price volatility.

The weighted average grant-date fair value usdideirtalculation of stock-based compensation expientbe accompanying statement of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2@ID, 2nd 2009 is calculated using the followinguagstions:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 0.9%2.3% 1.0%2.8% 1.6%2.6%
Expected dividend yield — — —
Expected option term 5-6 year: 5 year 5 year.
Volatility 70.(% 70.(% 70.0%420.(%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basetthetJnited States Treasury’s constant maturity iata five year term (corresponding to
the expected option term) on the date the optiongvanted. The expected dividend yield is zer®v@sClompany does not currently pay
dividends nor expects to do so during the expegptihn term. The expected option term of five ydansstimated based on an analysis of
actual option exercises and a review of comparnaiadical device companies. The volatility assumpisobased on weekly historical
volatility during the time period that corresporidghe expected option term, a review of comparai@dical device companies and expected
future stock price volatility. The pre-vesting feitlire rate is based on the historical and projeateerage turnover rate of employees.
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A summary of option activity for the year ended Baber 31, 2011 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Life (in years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 532,87. $ 28.9¢
Granted 157,27: 3.11
Exercisec — —
Forfeited (111,23¢) 8.3¢
Expired (240,31)) 43.3i
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 33859 13.47 77z % —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, :
32478 13.81 7.6€ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 208,49: 18.41 7.1€ —

Expected to vest options are determined by appliegre-vesting forfeiture rate to the total cantsling options. Aggregate intrinsic
value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic vdthe aggregate difference between the closing stack of the Company’s common stock as
of December 31, 2011, as applicable, and the eseeprice for the in-theaoney options) that would have been received bytion holder:
if all the in-the-money options had been exercize®ecember 31, 2011.

The weighted average per share grant-date faiesadfioptions granted during the years ended DeeeB1 2011, 2010, and 2009 was
$1.89, $4.74, and $8.70, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options issueexarcised during the years ended December 31, 2010, and 2009 was $0 , $3,000,
and $11,000, respectively.

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation celstfed to non-vested stock options was $435,60&hwielated to 130,147 shares
with a per share weighted fair value of $3.35 aBefember 31, 2011. This unrecognized cost is ¢gdeo be recognized over a weighted
average period of approximately 0.8 years.

Stock options granted to non-employees are recatfdr value and adjusted to market over theinggieriod in accordance with the
provisions of Equity topic of the Codification. TR®mpany determines fair value using the Black-&shoption pricing model, an expected
term equal to the option term, a risk-free interagt corresponding to the expected term, a stack polatility over the most recent period of
time corresponding to the expected term and alsedan expected future stock price volatility, andividend yield of zero. There were no
options granted to non-employees during the yede@ecember 31, 2011.

Beginning in 2010, certain employees have beentgdamestricted stock. During 2011 and 2010, the gamy granted 21,777 shares of
restricted stock and 15,698 shares of restriceekstespectively. There was no issuance of résttistock in 2009. The fair value of
restricted stock is calculated based on the closéhg price of the Company’s common stock on the diissuance. Neestricted stock shar
vested during the year ended December 31, 2010.

A summary of restricted stock activity for the yeaded December 31, 2011 is presented below:

Weighted

Average
Grant

Restricted Date Fair
Shares Value

Restricted shares at December 31, 2 15,70: $ 8.12
Granted 21,777 3.3C
Vested (3,695 (9.4¢)
Canceled (6,859 (5.49)
Restricted shares at December 31, 2011 26,92¢ $ 4.7z

During the year ended December 31, 2011, certapi@mes, in lieu of paying withholding taxes on ttesting of restricted stock,
authorized the withholding of an aggregate of 88 as of common stock to satisfy the minimum tathiaglding requirements related to s
vesting. Shares withheld were calculated usingrtheket price of the common stock on the vestingslat
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During 2010, certain employees received bonus paysrie the form of common stock. A total of 1,83&Is shares were issued with a
total intrinsic value of $23,000.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasdsr the 2004 ESPP and the 2010 ESPP for the grdesl December 31, 2011,
2010, and 2009 was $34,000, $163,000, and $104re8Pectively. The Company issues new shares uypioneexercises, purchases under
the Company’s ESPPs, and vesting of restrictedkstoc

The Company recorded stock-based compensation sx@éi$837,000, $1.2 million, and $2.1 million fbe years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

Equity

On September 8, 2009, the Company entered intaisespurchase agreements in connection withvafeiplacement of its securities
certain institutional and other accredited invesfmuirsuant to which the Company agreed to selisme (i) an aggregate of 1,469,420 newly
issued shares of its common stock, par value $Q.p80share and (ii) warrants to purchase an agtged 1,430,480 shares of common
stock. The sale of securities resulted in aggregiiss proceeds of approximately $18.7 million. fikeproceeds, after deducting offering
expenses (including fees to the placement agentasagdjent), were approximately $17.2 million.

The common stock and warrants were sold as aamit price of $12.72. The warrants are exercisab#ay time from six months after
the closing date through the fifth anniversaryhaf tlosing date. The warrants have an exercise pfi§13.20 per share, reflecting a 10%
premium over the consolidated closing bid pricetfier Company’s common stock as reported on the NG lobal Market, the market the
Company traded on prior to transferring its listtoghe NASDAQ Capital Market, on September 4, 200% warrants contain certain
limitations that prevent the holder of any warrdntsn acquiring shares upon exercise of a wartzattwould result in the number of shares
beneficially owned by it and its affiliates to erce19.99% of the total number of shares of the Goyjs common stock then issued and
outstanding (with a separate threshold of 9.99%@total number of shares outstanding for anyedif@der who has not exceeded that
threshold as of the date of closing). The numbeshafes for which the warrants are exercisablefdssociated exercise prices are subject
to certain adjustments as set forth in the warrdrtte holder has the right to net exercise anytanting warrants for shares of the Company’
common stock. In addition, upon certain changesmtrol of the Company, to the extent the warranésnot assumed by the acquiring entity,
the holder could elect to receive, subject to dettmitations and assumptions, cash equal to thelBScholes value of the outstanding
warrants.

The warrants issued in connection with the privdfering were within the scope of the Distinguighinabilities from Equity Topic of
the Codification. This Codification topic requirissuers to classify as liabilities (or assets um@etain circumstances) free-standing financial
instruments which, at inception, require or mayuregjan issuer to settle an obligation by trangigrassets. Accordingly, the Company
reflected these warrants as a liability in the BataSheet. The fair value of the warrants at thgaisce date was estimated using the Black-
Scholes model. The estimated fair value of the avas:;, including the warrants issued to the placémgents, was $14.5 million on the dat
issuance and was recorded as a reduction of adalifgaid-in capital. In addition, the warrants werealued at September 30, 2009 using the
Black-Scholes model and the change in the fairevalithe warrants was recognized in the warraimtséue adjustment line item in the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

At September 30, 2009, the estimated fair valub®fvarrants increased to $21.9 million and wasemted as a long term liability in the
balance sheet as of that date. The increase fiaithealue of the warrants from the date of iss@atecSeptember 30, 2009 required the
Company to record an increase in the value ofittiélity of $7.4 million.

In October 2009, the Company executed addendatavainrants issued in connection with the securiigshase agreements of
September 8, 2009. The addenda revised the rigaroant holders such that upon a change in chraisodefined, the warrant holders will
receive the Black-Scholes value of the warranthénsame currency and same proportions as wikbeived by the common stockholders of
the Company, thereby removing the criteria in theeaments that required liability classificationtloé warrants. Following the addenda, the
warrant liability was revalued at fair value regudtin a $2.2 million credit to warrants fair valadjustment that was recorded in the State
of Operations in October 2009. The remaining ligpfor common stock warrants of $19.7 million waen reclassified to additional paid-in
capital.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had 50,000:886:s of common stock authorized and 3,904,32@slissued and outstanding.

Each share of common stock entitles the holdentswwmte on all matters submitted to a vote of then@any’s stockholders. Common
stockholders are not entitled to receive dividemagss declared by the Board of Directors.
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At December 31, 2011, the Company has reservedazgid shares of common stock for future issuasdeliows:

Warrants 1,430,48I
Outstanding stock optior 338,59°
Possible future issuance under stock option f 326,16
Possible future issuance under employee stock paecplan 6,254
Total 2,101,49:

On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directmspted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declareddedd distribution of one
preferred stock purchase right for each outstanslivage of the Company’s common stock to shareh®loferecord as of the close of business
on March 8, 2007. As of December 31, 2011 and 20e was no preferred stock outstanding.

4. Intangible Assets

In January 2009, the Company acquired certain tdofgical and intellectual property assets from Gleetics Neurotechnology
Systems, Inc., or Cyberkinetics, and Andara LifeeSoe, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyberkiog for $350,000 in cash. The
Company had been amortizing these intangible assetg the straight-line method over their econolimies, which was estimated to be
five years. Research and development expensesiettimortization of this technological and intellet property of $17,500 for the quarter
March 31, 2011. Following its decision to termindéelopment work related to this technology, tleenpany recorded within research and
development expense in the second quarter of 20lhpairment charge of $192,500 for the remainingroortized balance of these assets.
Amortization expense for each of the years endezkBer 31, 2010 and 2009 was $70,000.

Intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net
Intangibles  Amortization  Impairment Intangibles Intangibles ~ Amortization Intangibles
Technological and
intellectual propertt $ 350,000 $ (157,500 $ (192,500 $ — $ 350,000 $ (140,000 $  210,00(

5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31

2011 2010
Purchased componer $ 423,000 $ 457,85
Finished goods 1,340,69: 1,954,95.

$1,763,701  $2,412,80!

During 2010, inventories were reduced by chargei2df million , of which $1.8 million related todtbusiness restructuring in Decerr
2010. See Note 8 — Restructuring Related Activatyrhore information regarding this restructuring.
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6. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Estimated
Useful Life December 31,
(Years) 2011 2010

Computer and laboratory equipment 3 $ 2,597,96! $ 2,531,341
Furniture and equipment 3 774,53. 730,17
Production equipment 7 1,061,18! 1,061,18I
Leasehold improvements * 179,99 179,99°
4,613,68. 4,502,69
Less—accumulated depreciation (4,130,159 (3,770,72)
$ 483,53( $ 731,97!

* Lesser of life of lease or estimated useful life.

Depreciation expense was $359,432, $453,756, a08,&56 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20D2009, respectively.

A capital lease is included as a component of fureiand equipment at December 31, 2011 and 20h@rization of assets under this
capital lease is included in depreciation expeSge. Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies foenmbormation regarding this capital
lease.

7. Accrued Expense:

Accrued expenses consist of the following for tearg ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

December 31,

2011 2010
Patent fee: $ 450,41¢ $ 250,00(
Professional service 298,28 284,29(
Supplier obligation: 236,59: 195,00(
Customer overpaymen 48,62 212,30:
Sales taxe 65,217 76,80
Other 123,02 209,39:

$ 1,222,150  $ 1,227,79

8. Restructuring Related Activity

In January 2011, the Company announced it haduasated its neurodiagnostic activities to moreaifintly focus its efforts on its
installed base of active accounts, to shift distitn to independent sales representatives, aretitcce cash consumption. Twenty-five
positions were eliminated, primarily in sales. Gjeartotaled $2.2 million related to severance castkinventory. Approximately $2.0
million, consisting of $0.2 million in severanceda$l.8 million in inventory charges, was recordesBDecember 31, 2010 and the balance
of approximately $0.2 million in severance was reed in 2011.

During the third quarter of 2010, the Company impdated a reduction in workforce that resulted adlimination of 25 positions and
recorded a charge of $172,000 primarily relateseteerance expenses. The full amount of the chaagepaid as of September 30, 2010.
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The following table provides a rollforward of thability balance for these restructuring actionfystantially all of which were recorded
as sales and marketing expense in the Companytenstat of Operations.

Years Ended December 3:

2011 2010
Balance at beginning of peric $ 20833 $ —
Accrual for severanc 184,65t 380,22:
Severance payments made (392,989 (171,890
Balance at end of period $ — $ 208,33

9. Income Taxes

Current income tax expense (benefit) attributableantinuing operations consists of the following the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009.

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Federal — (120,49 —
State — — —
Total — (120,490 —

The Company'’s effective income tax rate differqrrthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009.

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Federal tax provision (benefit) re (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State tax provision, net of federal provis (3.9 (3.5 (1.6)
Permanent item 1.6 14 20.¢
Federal research and development cre (0.5 (0.6) (0.6)
Valuation allowance 36.C 36.C 15.4
Effective income tax rate —% (0.7% —%

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of thenfimg:

December 31,

2011 2010

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $26,907,39 $23,802,67

Research and development credit carryforw 1,494,80. 1,408,833

Accrued expense 297,50: 539,15(

Stocl-based compensatic 571,65: 1,772,18

Other 1,215,73! 1,147,20.
Total gross deferred tax ass 30,487,08 28,670,03
Valuation allowance (30,487,08) (28,670,03)
Net deferred tax asse $ — 3 —

At December 31, 2011, the Company has federal tatel set operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) ofo$8 million and $32.7 million,
respectively, as well as federal and state taxitsrefl $956,000 and $816,000, respectively, whicyine available to reduce future taxable
income and the related taxes thereon. This amoghides tax benefits of $3.7 million and $71,0G0aitable to NOL and tax credit
carryforwards, respectively, that result from tixereise of employee stock options. The tax bewéfihese items will be recorded as a credit
to additional paid-in capital upon realization loétdeferred tax asset or reduction in income tpagable. The federal NOL'’s begin to expire
in 2019 and the state NOL'’s begin to expire in 2012
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In accordance with the provisions of the IncomeeRatopic of the Codification , the Company has @ad the positive and negative
evidence bearing upon the realizability of its defd tax assets, which are comprised principallyeifoperating losses. Management has
determined that it is more likely than not that @@mpany will not recognize the benefits of fedenad state deferred tax assets and, as a
result, a valuation allowance of approximately 30.5 million and $28.7 million has been establisheDecember 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Utilization of the NOL and research and developnwatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation due to
ownership change limitations that have occurrediptesly or that could occur in the future, as pd®d by Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as well as similar stateigions. Ownership changes may limit the amourN©OL and tax credit carryforwards that
can be utilized to offset future taxable income tmd respectively. In general, an ownership chaagealefined by Section 382, results from
transactions increasing the ownership of certazmediolders or public groups in the stock of a capion by more than 50 percentage points
over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conitibation of its NOL or tax credits carryforwaravould be subject to an annual
limitation under Section 382. Any limitation maystgt in expiration of a portion of the NOL or resgfaand development credit carryforwa
before utilization. Subsequent ownership changesldorther impact the limitation in future yeaFurther, until a study is completed and
limitation known, no amounts are being presenteanagncertain tax position.

A full valuation allowance has been provided agaiine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdmetlopment credit
carryforwards and, if an adjustment is required #ujustment would be offset by an adjustmenhéovaluation allowance. Thus, there
would be no impact to the balance sheet or stateaf@perations if an adjustment were required.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

Lease Agreement with Fourth Avenue LLC

In February 2008, the Company amended the Leaseefwgnt dated October 18, 2000 between Fourth AvienGeand the Company f
office and engineering laboratory space. The amemdextended the term of the lease through Marcl2@13. Base rent for the
period January 2011 through March 2013 will incesliem $705,000 annually to $765,000 annually.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelgarmtng leases as of December 31, 2011 are asvill

2012 $757,50(
2013 191,25(
Total minimum lease payments $948,75(

Total recorded rent expense was $764,754 for ebitteyears ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and AB@ICompany records rent
expense on its facility lease on a straight-linsidbaver the lease term.

Capital Lease

In October 2010, the Company entered into a nocalable capital lease for copiers located at itp@@mte headquarters valued at
$60,410, expiring in September 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under the capitaklea of December 31, 2011 are as follows:

2012 $ 22,13¢
2013 18,44¢
Total minimum lease paymer 40,58:
Less: Amount representing imputed interest 2,332
Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 38,25(

Other Commitments

At December 31, 2011, other commitments, compriggalirchase orders, totaled approximately $711,000.
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Restricted Time Deposit

In connection with the Company’s facility leases thompany is required to maintain, for the berddfthe lessor, an irrevocable standby
letter of credit stating the lessor as the berafjcover the term of the lease, which is secured bgrtificate of deposit in an amount equal to
102% of the letter of credit as security. The lemggres in March 2013. The certificate of dep@sienewable in 30-day increments. At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company has redl&&29,500 and $408,000, respectively, as resfricash associated with this lease on
the accompanying balance sheet.

Legal Matters

As previously disclosed in the Company ’ s filingigh the Securities and Exchange Commission, or,SEQarch 17, 2008, a putative
securities class action complaint was filed intthmted States District Court for the District of B&achusetts against the Company and certait
of its current and former officers. On March 27080a related putative securities class action ¢aimpvas filed in the same court, against
the same defendants. These two actions were subrsgoonsolidated, and the court appointed a paidtiff. On November 10, 2008, a
consolidated amended class action complaint wed, fithich alleged, among other things, that betw@etober 27, 2005 and February 12,
2008, the defendants violated the federal secsiigies by allegedly making false and misleadintestents and failing to disclose material
information to the investing public. The plainti§sught unspecified damages. On January 30, 280 .ampany filed a motion to dismiss
the consolidated amended complaint on the growardseng others, that it failed to state a claim ofictvinelief can be granted. On
December 8, 2009, the Court entered an order ggadiéfendants ' motion to dismiss and dismissimgctbnsolidated amended complaint in
its entirety with prejudice. The plaintiffs filedreotice of appeal with the United States Court pp@als for the First Circuit on January 6,
2010. Oral arguments on the plaintiffs' appeal vesreducted on September 15, 2010. On March 18,,28&XCourt of Appeals for the First
Circuit affirmed the District Court’s dismissal thife amended complaint. On April 1, 2011, the piisfiled a petition for rehearing en banc
with the First Circuit, seeking a rehearing of tregipeal by the full members of the First Circaitid. The defendants’ response to that
petition was filed on April 25, 2011. On May 26,120 the Court denied the plaintiffs’ request foehearing. The plaintiffs had until August
24, 2011 to file an appeal with the United Stategr&me Court, but no appeal was filed. As a reallltegal action related to this lawsuit has
concluded.

As previously disclosed in the Company’s filinggtwihe SEC, on April 22, 2008, a shareholder dérieaaction was filed in the United
States District Court for the District of Massaabiis against a number of the Company’s currenfarmder directors and officers. On
December 10, 2008, a verified amended sharehobtéarative complaint was filed, alleging, among attiéngs, that, between August 2004
and the date the action was filed, the defendamesdhed various fiduciary duties to the Companetas conduct similar to that alleged in
the putative securities class actions, includirag the defendants caused the Company to makedatsenisleading statements, to fail to
disclose material information to the public aneétmage in improper business practices. The plasaifght various forms of monetary and
non-monetary relief. The parties reached an agretetneesolve the shareholder derivative actiobjestt to Court approval, and executed a
formal stipulation of settlement on December 2102@n February 23, 2010, the Court entered arr @pleroving the parties’ settlement and
entered a judgment dismissing the case in itsedptiwith prejudice. In conjunction with the settient, the Company’s insurance carrier paid
directly to third parties $350,000 for the plaifiifcounsel’s attorneys fees and reimbursemenkpéeses. No payment was required by the
Company.

As previously disclosed in the Company’s filinggtwihe SEC, on February 9, 2009, the Company argsalthat it had reached a
resolution with the United States Department ofidasor DOJ, and the Office of Inspector GenesalDIG, of the United States Department
of Health and Human Services regarding the preljedisclosed investigation into certain of the Canp’s past sales and marketing
practices relating to its NC-stat System.

As part of the resolution, the Company entered @n2eferred Prosecution Agreement, or the DefdPredecution Agreement, dated
February 5, 2009, with the DOJ related to its ofi@neof marketing referral programs. Pursuant Breferred Prosecution Agreement, the
Company agreed to a $1.2 million payment, and t©d Bas agreed not to prosecute the Company imriiucompliance with the terms of
the three-year Deferred Prosecution Agreement.

In addition, the Company entered into a civil Ssttbnt Agreement with the DOJ and OIG, or the Setld Agreement, dated
February 9, 2009. The Settlement Agreement invaiveseferral programs and allegations that, wpéssicians performed a nerve
conduction study using the NC-stat System and didhtain an F-wave measurement, in limited cirdamses, the Company caused
physicians to seek reimbursement using the slidtiger valued 95903 CPT code payable for nervelection studies where an F-wave
measurement is obtained, rather than the 95900d088&. While the Company did not admit to the allegs with respect to the F-wave
coding issue, the Company agreed to pay $2.5 mitbosettle this dispute and enter into a five-y@arporate Integrity Agreement with OIG.
The Company remains fully eligible to participateail federal health care programs.

The settlement payments discussed above in theatotaunt of $3.7 million were paid in the first gtex of 2009.
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11. Fair Value Measurements

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures TdptiseoCodification defines fair value, establislhefsamework for measuring fair
value in applying generally accepted accountinggiples, and expands disclosures about fair valke@surements. This Codification topic
identifies two kinds of inputs that are used tcedetine the fair value of assets and liabilitiesservable and unobservable. Observable inputs
are based on market data or independent sourcéss witibservable inputs are based on the Compamyisntarket assumptions. Once inputs
have been characterized, this Codification topigin@s companies to prioritize the inputs used ¢éasare fair value into one of three broad
levels. Fair values determined by Level 1 inpuitizetquoted prices (unadjusted) in active marlketsdentical assets or liabilities. Fair vali
identified by Level 2 inputs utilize observable it other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted pfmesimilar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active or other ispliat are observable or can be corroborated bgrabble market data for substantially the
full term of the related assets or liabilities. iRzlues identified by Level 3 inputs are unobsblealata points and are used to measure fair
value to the extent that observable inputs areawailable. Unobservable inputs reflect the Compsuoyin assumptions about the assumpt
that market participants would use at pricing tbgea or liability.

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities that are measairéair value on a recurring basis for
the periods presented and indicates the fair Vailiarchy of the valuation techniques it utilizeddetermine such fair value. In general, fair
values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quqteides (unadjusted) in active markets for identassets or liabilities. Fair values
determined by Level 2 inputs utilize data pointstthre observable such as quoted prices, intextest, rand yield curves. Fair values
determined by Level 3 inputs are unobservable plaitats for the asset or liability, and include ations where there is little, if any, market
activity for the asset or liability.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable Significant Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalents  $ 559,42° $ 559,427  $ — % —
Total $ 559,42° $ 559,42° $ = $ —
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2010 Using
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable Significant Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalents  $ 13,010,21 $ 13,010,217 $ —  $ —
Total $ 13,010,21 $ 13,010,21  $ —  $ —

12. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) defined contdbusiavings plan for its employees who meet cedaimice period and age
requirements. Contributions are permitted up tontla&imum allowed under the Internal Revenue Codeaoh covered employee’s salary.
The savings plan permits the Company to contribtifes discretion. For the years ended Decembe?@11, 2010, and 2009 the Company
made no contributions to the plan.

13. Related Party
During 2009, the Company paid Red Sky Partners,,ldrGRed Sky, a total of $49,000 for various cotisglservices. One of the
Company’s current board members was a partner @f3Rkg when the Company made such payments. Thelsaand member was also the

former President and CEO of Cyberkinetics. Thereew® services provided by Red Sky to the Compaming 2011 or 2010 and no
payments were made to Red Sky by the Company dafiag or 2010.
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14. Credit Facility

In order to supplement the Company’s access tdaatapin March 5, 2010, it entered into a Loan aadusity Agreement, or the Credit
Facility, with a bank, which permits the Companyptarow up to $7.5 million on a revolving basis.€T@redit Facility was extended for one
year on March 1, 2011 and was further extendededmuary 15, 2012, and will expire on May 2, 201ghdunts borrowed under the Cre
Facility will bear interest equal to the prime ratas 0.5%. Any borrowings under the Credit Fagiitll be secured by the Company’s cash,
accounts receivable, inventory, and equipment.Jitealit Facility includes traditional lending anghogeting covenants including that certain
financial covenants applicable to liquidity arés®maintained by the Company. As of December 311 2the Company was in compliance
with these covenants and had not borrowed any fundsr the Credit Facility.

15. Reverse Stock Spli

The Company’s common stock is quoted on the NASOZdital Market under the symbol “NURO.” One of tieguirements for
continued listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market isimtenance of a minimum closing bid price of $1p@0 share. Because the Company’s
common stock had been trading below a price ofGbpely share, and was subject to delisting from NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, or
NASDAQ as a result, on September 1, 2011, the Camnfied a Certificate of Amendment to its Resta@ettificate of Incorporation, ¢
amended, with the Secretary of State of the Staeetaware, to effect a 1-for-6 reverse stock spflits common stock, or the Reverse Stock
Split. This action had previously been approvedhgyCompany’s stockholders at the Company’s anme&iting held on May 16, 2011. As a
result of the Reverse Stock Split, every six shaféake Company’s pre-reverse split common stockeveembined and reclassified into one
share of its common stock. No fractional sharesvigsued in connection with the Reverse Stock .Sptiickholders who otherwise would
have been entitled to receive a fractional shammmmection with the Reverse Stock Split receivedsh payment in lieu thereof. The par
value and other terms of the common stock wereafietted by the Reverse Stock Split.

The Company'’s shares outstanding immediately poidhe Reverse Stock Split totaled 23,331,646, Wwhiere adjusted to 3,888,607
shares outstanding as a result of the Reverse Siaik The Company’s common stock began tradinitsgiost-Reverse Stock Split price at
the beginning of trading on September 2, 2011. Shzer share, and stock option amounts for albgsrpresented within this annual repor
Form 10-K and the December 31, 2011 Balance Smeetiats for common stock and a dditional paid-initepave been retroactively
adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

On September 19, 2011, the Company received a fedta NASDAQ indicating that it had regained coimpke with the minimum bid
price requirement under NASDAQ Listing Rule 555(a¥or continued listing on The NASDAQ Capital Mat. The Company’s common
stock continues to be listed on NASDAQ.

16. Subsequent Events

On February 13, 2012, the Company completed tleeafd,530,410 Units at a price of $1.00 per Uthie (‘Offering”). Each Unit
consists of one share of the Company’s common stodkone warrant to purchase one half of a shatteed€ompany’s common stock. The
Company issued 8,530,410 shares of common stockvandnts to purchase 4,265,205 shares of comnock and received offering
proceeds, net of discounts, commissions and expeasapproximately $7.5 million. Each warrant "des the holder to purchase at any time
during the period commencing 180 days after the dathe Offering until the date five years follogithe closing date of the Offering, one
half of a share of the Company’s common stock abatcise price of $1.15 (115% of the aggregaterivi) price for a unit). In addition, the
placement agent for the offering was issued wasrampurchase 426,520 shares of common stock (ém&ad% of the number of shares of
common stock included in the Units sold in thisediffig) at an exercise price of $1.25 per shareyd@bthe aggregate offering price for a
Unit). The placement agent’s warrants will be eisaiole at any time beginning one year after the datssuance and will expire on the fifth
anniversary of the effectiveness of the registraitatement related to the offering.

On February 15, 2012, the Company extended itsiCFedility through May 2, 2012. See Note 14 — Qré&dcility for more
information regarding the Credit Facility.
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Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Balance at
Beginning of Charged to costs antc Charged to other Recoveries/ Balance at End of
Description Period expenses accounts (Deductions) Period
December 31, 2011
Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts $ 379,10( $ 30,82t $ — $ (123,31) 2 % 286,61.
Sales Returns Reserve 26,86¢ — 272,60 (286,17() (2) 13,30:
Deferred Tax Asset
Valuation Allowance 28,670,03 3,803,22: — (1,986,17) (3) 30,487,08
December 31, 2010
Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts 370,00( 657 — 8,44: (1) 379,10(
Sales Returns Reserve 144,36 — 655,89( (773,38) (2) 26,86¢
Deferred Tax Asset
Valuation Allowance 22,513,21 6,147,63! — 9,18C (3) 28,670,03
December 31, 2009
Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts 650,00( 114,68: — (394,68) (2) 370,00(
Sales Returns Reserve 231,39: — 960,39 (1,047,42) (2) 144,36.
Deferred Tax Asset
Valuation Allowance 21,191,71 1,420,23: — (98,729 (3) 22,513,21

(1) Net recoveries.

(2) Write-offs.

(3) Utilization and expiration of Federal and Sttt Operating Loss Carryforwards and other redusti
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-BL8059, 333-135242, 333-
151195, 333-159712, 333-159713, 333-167180 andl33369) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-150087, 333-1828@ 333-165784) of
NeuroMetrix, Inc. of our report dated February 2@]2 relating to the financial statements and fingrstatement schedule, which appeatl
this Form 10-K. We also consent to the referenaestander the heading "Selected Financial Dat#tii;iForm 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2012




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ni#adisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstend procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawased such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahg@orting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardeng the reliability of financial reporting artle preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prom=s] as of the end of the period covered by #j®nt based on such evaluat
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi$'s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registranthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabmg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theveden
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 24, 2012 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas T. Higgins, certify that:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ni#adisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstend procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawased such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahg@orting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardeng the reliability of financial reporting artle preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prom=s] as of the end of the period covered by #j®nt based on such evaluat
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi$'s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registranthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabmg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theveden
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 24, 2012 /s/ THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgin:
Senior Vice President, ChiFinancial Officer and Treasure




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of NeuroiMelnc., a Delaware corporation (the “Companyi®es hereby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @11 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesth the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended, and the information coathin the Form 10-K fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition aesults of operations of the Company.

Date: February 24, 2012 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi

Date: February 24, 2012 /s/ THOMAS T. HIGGINS
Thomas T. Higgin:
Senior Vice President, ChiFinancial Officer and Treasure

This certification is being furnished arat filed, and shall not be incorporated into angwhoent for any purpose, under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933.




